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PONSSE IN BrIEF

PONSSE 
        ErGO

As an industrial company, Ponsse Plc is a 

sales, maintenance and technology ven-

ture committed to creating success for its 

customers, and determined to secure its 

position as a global leader in the fi eld of 

environmentally friendly cut-to-length forest 

machines.

The company was established by forest 

machine entrepreneur Einari Vidgrén in 

1970, and it has been a pioneer of timber 

harvesting solutions based on the cut-to-

length method ever since. Ponsse is head-

quartered in Vieremä, Finland. The Com-

pany’s shares are quoted on the NASDAQ 

OMX Nordic List. The Group operates in 

approximately 40 countries.

MISSION

• We will succeed together with our customers and  
partners through innovative harvesting solutions 
based on sustainable development

VaLuES

CUSTOMER ORIENTATION
 A real interest of the customer, knowing the custo-• 
mers in person, and recognising their needs
 Knowing the business of the customer• 
 Lean organisation and low level of hierarchy with  • 
decision makers close to the customers
 Easy reachability• 
 Customer-driven production system• 

RELIABILITY
The customer is never left alone• 
We keep sincerely what we have promised and we • 
do not give any false promises
We work honestly and ethically considering our • 
stakeholders

PONSSE SPIRIT
Recognition and appreciation of our human resources• 
Willingness to succeed and entrepreneurship• 
Modesty and humble minds before work• 
Refusing to compromise in achieving goals• 
Common responsibility for the success of our • 
business
We maintain good humour and fair play• 

WILLINGNESS TO SERVE 
Serve the customer as you would like to be served• 
Customer requirements and requests are dealt • 
with immediately and not turned over to others
The success of our customer is secured by helping  • 
our own colleagues

INNOVATION
We pursue for continuous improvement of • 
products and services as well as processes
We are initiative and open-minded• 
Change is always an opportunity• 
Competitiveness is secured by our innovative • 
attitude

VISION

• We are the preferred partner in our industry

PONSSE’S MISSION, 
VaLuES aND VISIONPONSSE IN BrIEF
PONSSE’S MISSION, 
VaLuES aND VISION
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The period of strong growth at Ponsse ended in 
2008. The high demand experienced in the past 
few years, combined with the scarce availability 
of raw materials and components, and skyrock-
eting costs, led to major difficulties worldwide.  
The slowdown of the economy began to reflect 
on our operations in the second quarter. At this 
time, the factory capacity reservation system 
was revised in order to accurately identify the 
real market situation and to enhance our ability 
to react to changes.  

The order book remained at a sufficient opera-
tional level until the autumn but then the order 
influx started to weaken rapidly. In our compa-
ny operations, the global economic crisis trans-
lated into a marked decrease in the demand for 
machinery. With the economic slowdown, the 
consumption of sawn timber, paper and board 
has plummeted. Furthermore, our customers’ 
opportunities of securing financing for their ma-
chinery purchases have weakened, especially 
in the export markets. Higher business costs 
were another significant problem in 2008 both 
for our clientele and for us at Ponsse.

Operational adjustment measures were launched 
immediately to adapt to the weakening order vol-
umes. The first stage involves cost trimming and 
capacity reduction by slowing the production 
cycle.  In addition, upcoming holidays were tak-
en in advance in order to strengthen the order 
book. In the second stage, we initiated the first 
employer-employee negotiations which resulted 
in temporary lay-offs. We decided to concentrate 
our operations, and as a part of this plan the Bra-
zilian harvester head assembly and R&D opera-
tions were transferred to the Vieremä facility. In 
December, we launched the second employer-
employee negotiations, which were concluded in 
early 2009. According to the proposal submitted, 
the negotiations involved dismissals and tempo-
rary and indefinite layoffs.  

The employee-employer negotiations are part 
of the Group’s operational adjustment and ef-
ficiency enhancement programme that aims to 
restore Ponsse’s operational efficiency during 
2009. The planned measures will begin to take 
full effect starting at the beginning of 2010. The 

adjustment measures will also help ensure that 
when the economic situation revives and for-
est machine contractors regain their investment 
strength, we will be able to cater to increased 
demand quickly.

Net sales in 2008 amounted to EUR 293.0 mil-
lion and operating profit to EUR 13.6 million. 
63.3% of sales were generated in international 
operations.

The outlook for 2009 is extremely challenging. The 
order book and order influx at the beginning of the 
year are weak, and the revival of export markets 
is of vital importance for us. Problems in the real 
economy affect our operations, particularly in the 
first half. In 2009, we will invest in cost efficiency 
and quality in all operations and products, and in 
developing new products for market launch.

The development of export markets and our cus-
tomers’ machinery capacity utilisation rate deter-
mine the forest machinery production volume for 
the coming year. Active co-operation with our cus-
tomers and the ability to find new solutions quickly 
are increasingly important. Inputs in servicing and 
sales will continue as usual, and we will be closely 
involved in our customers’ operations. We will con-
tinue to make our services even more easily and 
quickly available to our customers.  

Despite the current economic situation, the cut-
to-length method will gain popularity in harvest-
ing in the long term. About half of the world’s in-
dustrial harvesting is carried out manually, and 
half mechanically.  The cut-to-length method 
is becoming more common as mechanical har-
vesting gains ground. Other contributing factors 
include fast mechanisation of harvesting in fast-
growing cultivated forests in the southern hemi-
sphere, and the fact that the tree-length method 
is losing ground to the cut-to-length method. 
Bioenergy is becoming an increasingly impor-
tant energy source in Scandinavia and North 
America. Ponsse is also involved in developing 
integrated roundwood and energy wood harvest-
ing methods and equipment. There is a univer-
sal consensus in support of the growing use of 
bioenergy, which provides new business oppor-
tunities for the harvesting sector. Our products 

Review by the Chairman of the Board and the President and CEO Review by the Chairman of the Board and the President and CEO

rEVIEW BY tHE CHaIrMaN 
OF tHE BOarD aND tHE 
PrESIDENt aND CEO

are highly competitive and, in terms of power 
and performance, the best in the market.

We would like to thank our customers and busi-
ness partners for their cooperation, and our 
shareholders for their trust in us. Our warmest 
thanks also go to everyone at Ponsse. 

Einari Vidgrén             
Chairman of the Board    

Juho Nummela
President and CEO
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Investor relations

Ponsse maintains a two-week silent period 
prior to the publication of financial results, 
during which time company representatives 
will not comment on the result. At other times, 
questions and enquiries from analysts and in-
vestors will be answered via phone or e-mail, 
and at organised investor meetings. 

Should you have any questions regarding 
Ponsse’s business operations, please consult 
the following people:

Juho Nummela
President and CEO
Tel. +358 20 768 8914
Fax +358 20 768 8690 
E-mail: juho.nummela@ponsse.com

Mikko Paananen
CFO
Tel. +358 20 768 8648
Fax +358 20 768 8690 
E-mail: mikko.paananen@ponsse.com

Investment analyses

These companies, among others, are following 
Ponsse as an investment:

eQ Bank Ltd
Evli Bank Plc
Nordea Bank Finland Plc
Pohjola Bank Plc

Ponsse Plc’s Annual General Meeting will be 
held on Tuesday, 28 April 2009 starting at 
10:00 a.m. at the Company’s registered office 
at Ponssentie 22, 74200 Vieremä, Finland.

Eligibility to attend

To be eligible to attend the Annual General 
Meeting, shareholders must be registered by 
17 April 2009 in the share register kept by the 
Euroclear Finland Ltd. (former Finnish Cen-
tral Securities Depository Ltd). Shareholders 
who hold shares under their own names are 
automatically registered in the Company’s 
share register. A shareholder with nominee 
registration can be temporarily added to the 
Company’s share register. This must be done 
on 17 April 2009 at the latest for the purpose 
of attending the General Meeting. For a tem-
porary registration, shareholders should con-
tact their account operator organisation.

Registration

Shareholders wishing to attend the Annual 
General Meeting should notify the Company 
of their intention to do so by 4:00 p.m. Finnish 
time on Wednesday, 22 April  2009 either by 
writing to Ponsse Plc, Share Register, FI-74200 
Vieremä, Finland, by telephone on +358 (0)20 
768 800, by fax on +358 (0)20 768 8690, or 
online at www.ponsse.com/agm. If the share-
holder notifies through writing, the letter must 
reach the recipient before the end of the no-
tification period. Please submit any proxies 
accompanying the advance registration.

Dividend

The Board of Directors will propose that the 
Annual General Meeting authorises the Board 
of Directors to decide on the distribution of div-
idends amounting to a maximum of EUR 0.10 
per share (max EUR 2,800,000) during 2009.

 Information for shareholders

Share register

Ponsse Plc’s shares and shareholders are 
listed in the shareholder register held by the 
Euroclear Finland Ltd. Shareholders are re-
quested to report any change of address and 
other matters related to their shareholding to 
the book-entry securities register in which 
they have a book-entry securities account.

Financial reports in 2009

In addition to financial statements and the an-
nual report for 2008, Ponsse Plc will issue three 
interim reports. Interim reports for the financial 
period 2009 will be published as follows:

January–March – 21 April 2009• 
January–June – 11 August 2009 • 
January–September – 27 October 2009 • 

The interim reports will be published in 
Finnish and English on Ponsse’s website at 
www.ponsse.com. 

Ordering fi nancial publications

This Annual Report is available in Finnish 
and English. A printed Annual Report will be 
sent to everyone who orders it. You may order 
Annual Reports from the following address:

Ponsse Plc
Ponssentie 22
FI-74200 VIEREMÄ 
FINLAND
Tel. +358 20 768 800
Fax +358 20 768 8690
E-mail: 
corporate.communications@ponsse.com

The Annual Report will also be available on 
the Internet at www.ponsse.com.

INFOrMatION 
FOr SHarEHOLDErS 

The year 2008 in brief

tHE YEar 2008 
IN BrIEF

Ponsse’s business showed favourable develop-
ment during the first half of 2008 but the eco-
nomic downswing during the latter half of the 
year could clearly be seen in the demand for 
forest machines. The machine sales volumes 
were clearly lower in the latter half of the year 
when compared to the previous year. Machine 
sales were still satisfactory in the main Scan-
dinavian markets and machine deliveries fo-
cused on the Finnish and Swedish markets. 
In 2008, Ponsse received 63.3 per cent of its 
turnover from international business. 

Ponsse maintenance business turnover im-
proved on 2007 despite the challenging mar-
ket situation. Ponsse introduced its new main-
tenance service concept, Logger’s Inn, at the 
FinnMetko 2008 trade fair in Finland. The 
concept includes all the services needed to 
secure high availability of forest machines. 

Training cooperation continued with the Work 
Efficiency Institute in Finland, among others, 
and with several partners in the other market 
areas. For example, a training centre under 
the Ponsse brand was opened in Yekaterin-
burg, Russia.

Investments in product development were 
made during the year. Ponsse introduced the 
improved products at the FinnMetko 2008 
trade fair in Finland. Product improvements 
took place in several product groups. 

The investment programme for the Vieremä 
factory continued during the period. The fac-
tory’s level of automation was increased by 
introducing welding robots. Installation work 
on the largest machining unit in the history of 
the factory used for machining chasses was 
commenced. Investments in the production 
machinery and equipment of Ponsse’s tech-
nology company Epec Oy also took place dur-
ing the year. 

Cooperation was started with Canadian Wood-
land Equipment, Spanish Hnos, Toimil Gar-
cia S.L, and Japanese Shingu Shoko Ltd. Co-
operation covers the distribution of PONSSE 
forest machines, equipment and maintenance 
services. 

At the end of the year, Ponsse started Group-
wide measures to adapt the production vol-
ume and resources to the suddenly changed 

KEY FIGurES     IFrS     IFrS
      2008            2007

market situation. Employer-employee nego-
tiations were started in Finland, and the busi-
ness was centralised by transferring the de-
barking harvester head assembly and prod-
uct development of the Brazilian factory to 
Vieremä, Finland, as well as by adapting the 
business in North and South America. 

Order intake M€

Order stock M€

Turnover M€

Operating profi t M€

Operating profi t %

Cash fl ow from business operations M€

Profi t for the accounting period M€

Interest-bearing net liabilities M€

Equity ratio % 

  

224.4

41.5

293.0

13.6

4.7

-20.8

4.4

64.6

38.4

361.2

110.1

310.1

37.1

12.0

19.0

26.5

19.5

50.3
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Operating policy Events in 2008

We develop, manufacture and market reli-
able and high-quality cut-to-length forest 
machines and information technology related 
to harvesting, and we produce services re-
quired in their effective utilisation. We con-
stantly fulfil the expectations of our customers 
with our high-quality products, services and 
operations. We offer our customers solutions 
that are suitable for natural environments, and 
we are committed to developing our products 
and services so that environmental aspects 
are taken into consideration. According to 
our customer-oriented operating method, we 
listen to and understand our customers and 
respect their opinions.

OPEratING POLICY, 
ISO 9001: 2000

June

4-6 June
Ponsse participated in the KWF forest fair 
held in Nordhein Westfalen, Schmallenberg, 
Germany, together with its retailer Wahlers 
Forsttechnik. 

19 June
Jaakko Laurila, M.Sc (For), 37, was appointed 
CEO of OOO Ponsse and Vice President, Russia. 
The appointment took effect on 1 July 2008.

August

12 August
Ponsse published its interim report for the pe-
riod 1 January to 30 June 2008, showing net 
sales of EUR 161.4 million. Net sales grew 
and profitability in euro remained at the pre-
vious year’s level. The forest machinery mar-
kets showed signs of slowdown.

28–30 August
Ponsse launched its newest products and several 
product improvements at the FinnMETKO 2008 
exhibition in Finland. The work demonstrations 
attracted a large crowd. A new servicing concept, 
Logger’s Inn, was also launched at the exhibition. 
The concept covers all the services needed to de-
liver the high usability of forest machines. The 
traditional Ponsse Used Machine Days exhibited 
a large selection of trade-in machinery.

February

15 February
Ponsse published its financial state-
ments for 1 January–31 December 2007.
Order intake rose by 49 per cent to 
EUR 361.2 (242.9) million. Net sales rose 
by 30 per cent to EUR 310.1 (238.6) mil-
lion. Operating profit grew by 25 per cent to 
EUR 37.1 (29.6) million. Operating profit ac-
counted for 12.0 (12.4) per cent of net sales. 
Profit before taxes was EUR 36.4 (28.5) mil-
lion. Earnings per share were EUR 0.95 
(0.75). The Board of Directors proposes a divi-
dend of EUR 0.50 per share (0.40).

March

Ponsse’s factory in Vieremä, Finland, intro-
duced a new tall warehouse and a hygienic 
hydraulic component manufacturing facility.

19 March 
Juho Nummela, Dr. Tech. (31), was appointed 
Ponsse’s President and CEO and Jarmo Vidgrén, 
Commercial College Graduate in Marketing (32),  
was appointed Group Sales and Marketing Di-
rector and Deputy to the President and CEO. The 
appointments took effect on 1 June 2008. 

April

6-10 April
Ponsse participated in the Silva Regina forest 
exhibition in the Czech Republic together with 
its dealers, Krenek Forest Service and Wahlers 
Forsttechnik.

21 April
Ponsse published its interim report for the period 
1 January to 31 March 2008, showing net sales of 
EUR 75.8 million. Machinery delivery volume in 
the first quarter was the same as a year earlier. 

21 April
Ponsse appointed a new Group Management 
Team and Sales Management Group. Mikko 
Laurila was appointed member of the Sales 
Management Group and Vice President re-
sponsible for the North European Business 
area and Sales Director for Finland, and Nor-
bert Schalkx was appointed Vice President 
for Asia-Pacific and Africa business areas. 
Juhani Mäkynen, Service Director, and Tapio 
Mertanen, Distribution Development Direc-
tor, were also appointed members of the Sales 
Management Group. Juha Haverinen was ap-
pointed member of the Group’s Management 
Team and Factory Director, and Hannu Kivelä, 
Director for Strategy and Customer Co-oper-
ation, was also appointed a member of the 
Group’s Management Team. 

29 April
A decision was made at Ponsse Plc’s Annual 
General Meeting to distribute a dividend of 
EUR 0.50 per share. Members of the Board of 
Directors Maarit Aarni-Sirviö, Nils Hagman, 
Ilkka Kylävainio, Seppo Remes, Einari Vid-
grén and Juha Vidgrén were re-elected.

30 April
Ponsse Plc’s Board of Directors decided to in-
troduce a new share-based incentive plan for 
the Ponsse Group’s key personnel. The plan 
will cover approximately 20 persons.

EVENtS IN 2008

The quality of our products and functions as 
well as environmentally friendly operations 
are our common goals. All Ponsse employees 
participate in the realisation and development 
of quality with their own work, and pay at-
tention to the environmental effects of their 
actions. We follow the environmental legisla-
tion related to our operations. We only deliver 
products and services that meet our quality 
criteria. The basis of development in our qual-
ity and environmental matters are a skilful 
and motivated personnel and profitable busi-
ness operations.

We set the following goals to our operations. 
We measure and audit our operations and 
react effectively to deviations. This way we 
can ensure our competitiveness also in the 
future.

Ponsse Plc’s management is committed to re-
alising our operating policy and ensuring that 
our policy is communicated to the person-
nel. With sufficient training we will ensure 
that our operating policy is understood by the 
whole group.

Photo: Verena Sohns
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Operating policy Events in 2008
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28 October 
Ponsse published its interim report for the 
period 1 January to 30 September 2008. Net 
sales in the period totalled EUR 216.2 mil-
lion. The demand for forest machines de-
clined in the third quarter in most main mar-
ket areas except for Finland and Sweden. Net 
sales remained on par with the comparison 
period.

31 October
Ponsse’s 1978-founded subsidiary Epec Oy 
celebrated its 30th anniversary. Festivities in-
cluded an anniversary seminar and a banquet 
in Seinäjoki, Finland.

November

7 November
Ponsse’s Service Centre in Rovaniemi, Finland, 
celebrated its 10th year of operations. Cel-
ebrations coincided with the inauguration of 
expanded service facilities.

Events in 2008

September

5–6 September
At the Great Lakes Logging Congress held in 
Green Bay, Wisconsin, Ponsse introduced the 
renewed PONSSE Ergo and the new Brush 
Transport System load space, which is compat-
ible with the PONSSE Buffalo and designed for 
energy wood harvesting purposes. The congress 
also saw the launch of Ponsse’s new servicing 
concept, Logger’s Inn, in North America. 

10 September
Ponsse issued a profit warning. Ponsse Plc 
estimates that the company’s net sales and profit 
before taxes for 2008 will be lower than in the 
previous year.

18 September
Ponsse strengthened its support to international 
forest research. A new Ponsse Fund agreement 
for the period 2009–2013 was signed.

18–20 September
Ponsse attended the APF International Forest 
Machinery Exhibition 2008 in Cannock Chase, 
Staffordshire, UK.

18–20 September
Ponsse attended the Demo International 2008 
exhibition in Halifax, Canada. 

October

2 October
A training centre under the Ponsse brand was 
opened at the Ural forestry academy facilities 
in Yekaterinburg, Russia.

16 October
Due to the declining demand for forestry 
equipment and the weakening economic out-
look, Ponsse Plc started negotiations with per-
sonnel regarding potential lay-offs.

December

8 December
Ponsse Plc adjusted its production and other 
operations to meet demand. To secure its com-
petitiveness and profitability, the company ini-
tiated employer-employee negotiations on dis-
missals and temporary lay-offs.

10 December
Ponsse Plc continued as the main sponsor of 
Tero Pitkämäki, Mikko Hirvonen and the ice 
hockey team Kalpa, Kuopio Finland. Ponsse Plc 
signed two-year main sponsorship contracts 
with javelin thrower Tero Pitkämäki and rally 
driver Mikko Hirvonen. In addition, earlier in 
the autumn Ponsse signed a contract with the 
ice hockey team KalPa playing in the Finnish 
Championship League for the coming 2009–
2010 season. 

15 December
As part of its adjustment measures, Ponsse is 
to centralise its Brazilian production and R&D 
operations in Vieremä, Finland. The transferred 
operations involve assembly and product devel-
opment of debarking harvester heads, which 
will be carried out at the Vieremä plant in co-
operation with Ponsse Latin America Ltda. Ponsse 
will focus its investments in Latin America on 
the development of its sales and maintenance 
service network.

18 December
Juha Inberg, Dr. Tech. (35), was appointed 
Ponsse’s Technology and R&D Director as of 1 
January 2009. In his new position, Inberg is re-
sponsible for Ponsse’s product development in 
forest machines and the associated information 
systems and new technologies. Seppo Taatila, 
Ponsse’s Technology and R&D Director since 
2006, has resigned from Ponsse’s service.

Events in 2008
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Market area review

During the period, the construction indus-
try in Central Europe started to weaken, also 
causing a downswing in the timber industry, 
while the United States market – an impor-
tant market for the Central European timber 
industry – remained quiet. The weak timber 
demand, particularly in the German market, 
could also be clearly seen in the demand for 
forest machines. French non-harvested wood 
raw material stock remained to be harvested 
due to the high price of wood raw materials. 
The Great Britain market also experienced a 
downswing. 

At the same time, the financing crisis in the 
United States caused a dramatic decrease in 
exports. The downswing in demand that started 
in Europe picked up speed due to the financ-
ing crisis and quickly spread to all our export 
countries. There were shutdowns in the South 
American pulp mills, and this directly influ-
enced the demand for forest machines. The de-
mand for forest machines in Russia was at a 
record level in early autumn but the financing 
crisis almost completely shut down the market. 
The implementation of the increase in Russian 
wood export taxes was delayed but the aware-
ness of the future increase slowed down har-
vesting in, for example, the Republic of Karelia. 
The North American forest machine market 
had already slowed down earlier, and the year 
in this market area was as expected.

Finland and Sweden persevered

Finland and Sweden were among the positive 
market areas: a record number of forest ma-
chines were delivered to these markets, de-
spite the challenging end to the year. Logging 
volume in Finland hardly decreased from the 
level of 2007 despite the downswing in tim-
ber demand. The reduced timber import vol-
umes will increase the need to harvest wood 
in Finland by means of thinning and on peat-
land with poor carrying capacity. The past 
year proved that we remain competitive in 
the traditionally highly demanding Scandi-
navian market. 

Challenging future

2009 will no doubt be a highly challenging 
year, but Ponsse will be able to manage the 
situation. PONSSE forest machines and ser-
vices are top-grade and we firmly believe in 
our customers. Together, we will be able to 
manage these difficult times. Further devel-
opment of Ponsse products and services for 
our main market areas is progressing nicely. 
The speed at which the existing timber stocks 
are delivered to the industry and the non-har-
vested timber is harvested will define the for-
est machine demand level in the near future.  

The cut-to-length method will gain popularity 
over the tree-length method in our main mar-
ket areas, and we will also strive to increase 
our market share. More and more timber will 
be harvested under demanding conditions 
and on challenging soil, and this will require 
more versatility from the machines. When 
taking the future energy needs into account, 
one can see that the significance of combined 
bioenergy and roundwood harvesting will in-
crease. Ponsse already has solutions available 
for such work.

Ponsse’s market area changed completely in 2008. 
Forest machine demand was at a good level and the 
order volume was increasing at the beginning of the 
year. The fi rst signs of abatement in the market could 
be seen in the summer, at the end of the second 
quartile. Technology industry order books remained 
at a high level despite the bleaker economic outlook. 
The fi nancing crisis and the fast abatement of the 
forest machine market were surprising in their 
speed and intensity.

MarKEt arEa 
rEVIEW

Mechanised harvesting has progressed nicely in 
Russia and China, among other areas. Ponsse 
has several cooperation partners among forestry 
institutions around the world and we have devel-
oped good training programmes in cooperation 
with these partners to guarantee that there will 
be enough professionals to operate the forest ma-
chines. In China, Ponsse trains forest machine 
operators and harvesting managers in coopera-
tion with Stora Enso. Forest machine operator 
training programmes implemented by Finns and 
Russians are offered under the Ponsse brand in 
many locations in Russia. In the years to come, 
the training offered to our own personnel will be 
more important and this will be seen as improved 
expertise in the field.

We will continue to care for our customers, 
create new customer contacts, and gather 
feedback on our products and services in 
the future. As proof of this, Ponsse has been 
involved in several trade fairs and forestry 
events all around the world. We have been 
active at the customer interface and have re-
ceived valuable feedback. We will not com-
promise on these activities in the future.

Jarmo Vidgrén
Sales and Marketing Director 
Ponsse Plc
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North America 
Vice President Marko Mattila

North Europe
Vice President Mikko Laurila

Russia
Vice President Jaakko Laurila

North Europe

In Finland, Ponsse’s sales saw favourable 
overall development in 2008. When the first 
signs of global economic recession appeared, 
delivery times for domestic orders began to 
accelerate quickly. By the summer the situa-
tion had turned upside down, and machinery 
had become available for quick delivery in the 
domestic markets from several other market 
areas. The market conditions remained posi-
tive in Finland until the turn of September and 
October, offering good sales opportunities. In 
2008, Ponsse delivered a record number of new 
forest machines in Finland.  

The volume of timber imported by the indus-
try in January–October totalled 16.2 million 
cubic metres in 2008, showing an increase 
of 18% from the same period a year earlier. 
The Finnish Forest Industries estimated that 
the raises in the Russian timber export duties, 
which Russia announced would take place in 
early 2009 (and subsequently postponed on 12 
November 2008), would increase the harvest-
ing need in Finnish forests by as much as 10 
million cubic metres. As a result, the forestry 
departments of forest companies announced 
their intentions to raise harvesting volumes in 
Finland. 

However, in October the situation started 
changing and companies began to announce 
production curtailment plans due to the weak-
ening demand outlook for forest industry prod-
ucts. In November, some forest companies’ 
contractors were notified of potential produc-
tion stoppages that would also affect harvest-
ing. This quickly affected machine entrepre-

North America 

The year 2008 was challenging for Ponsse in 
North America. The crash of the United States 
economy and the following economic down-
swing and the financing crisis at the end of 
the year had a negative impact on the situa-
tion. The total market for rubber-wheeled cut-
to-length forest machines in North America 
decreased over 20 per cent. The greatest col-
lapse took place in Canada, where the market 
“shrank” by 70 per cent. 

Despite the negative figures, Ponsse supplied 
its North American customers with the same 
number of new machines as in 2007. This in-
creased our market share compared to the pre-
vious year.  The 2008 model of the PONSSE 
Ergo harvester with the H7 harvester head 
was a particularly major success. Ponsse held 
a market share of more than 40 per cent of the 
North American harvester sales market. This 
tells us that our products and product support 
are excellent. In 2008, Ponsse expanded its 
business to British Columbia. 

Ponsse was present at several forestry events 
over the past year, such as the DEMO 2008 
event in Halifax, Canada. Ponsse also par-
ticipated in several bioenergy-related con-
ferences and events over the year. Ponsse 
has been highly active in the development 
of the future biomass market and biomass 
research, and has focused on studying the 
entire delivery chain from stump to plant 
together with forest machine entrepreneurs 
and companies who have done business in 
the market for a long time. We want to be the 
leaders of this development. 

Russia

Plenty of changes occurred in the economy in 
general and in the forest industry in particular 
in 2008. In Russia, a new forestry regulation was 
introduced, timber customs duties were revised, 
the demand for timber and timber-based products 
experienced a major change, and the devaluing of 
the rouble started. These changes and the general 
economic situation also slowed down the forest 
machine market, especially during the latter part 
of the year. Ponsse was able to retain its good mar-
ket share and continues to strive to satisfy custo-
mer needs in all the most important forestry ar-
eas of the Republic of Russia and Belarus. In the 
longer term, the fact that old uneconomical forest 
machines and harvesting methods are replaced 
with more cost-efficient, profitable and reliable 
cut-to-length machines and methods will create 
more demand in the market.

In 2008, we signed cooperation agreements 
with four new servicing companies in order to 
be closer to our customers and offer a faster and 
better service. The servicing companies operate 
in the Krasnoyarsk area in Siberia, the Irkutsk 
area, the Ural area and Belarus. All Ponsse re-

Central and 
Southern Europe 

Ponsse has retained its strong position in the 
Central and South European market. We will 
continue to improve our distribution and main-
tenance network by developing our current co-
operation relationships and acquiring new co-
operation partners. Our sales development was 
favourable early on in 2008 but at the end of 
the year the markets started to slow down due 
to the decreased demand for wood processing 
products in Europe and decreased exports to 
North America, the more difficult machine fi-

arEa rEVIEWS nancing situation, and the exceptionally chal-
lenging general financial situation. Service 
operations sales development was favourable 
in 2008.

The most important market area in Central Eu-
rope is Germany. Our retailer Wahlers Forst-
technik GmbH’s expert organisation and a new 
service centre opened in 2007 enabled even 
more efficient business. 2008 was still a diffi-
cult year as the felling volumes and felling pro-
ceeds decreased. Timber stock levels remained 
high and there were more machines in the coun-
try than before. The tightened price competition 
decreased the profitability of our customers and 
slowed down our machine sales.

France and Great Britain are our most im-
portant Central European markets after Ger-
many, and there are Ponsse subsidiaries in 
both countries, Ponsse S.A.S. and Ponsse UK 
Ltd. Ponsse’s product portfolio is highly ap-
plicable to the Central European needs, and 
the French market and our market share ex-
perienced strong development at the beginning 
of the year. The markets experienced a clear 
downswing towards the end of the year, and the 
order volume started to decrease. In 2009, our 
subsidiaries will focus on sales, securing the 
cash flow and cost efficiency.

Ponsse sells products in several Eastern Euro-
pean countries. Mechanisation of harvesting is 
still in its early stages and there is plenty of 
growth potential in these markets. The slowing 
down of the world economy clearly influenced 
Eastern Europe towards the end of the year how-
ever. In the future, the demand for cut-to-length 
harvesting machines will increase but many in-
vestment decisions were postponed in 2008 and 
our total sales volumes remained modest.

There is tight price competition in the markets 
of southern Europe and second-hand machine 
sales is a major part of the forest machine mar-
ket. The new machines sold are mainly forward-
ers and harvester heads to be mounted on exca-
vators. Ponsse improved its position in Spain by 
adding a new reseller, Hermanos Toimil Garcia 
SL, a company with extensive experience in the 
forest machine sector and a service organisation 
covering the whole of Spain.

Area rewievs Area rewievs

tailers have systematically developed their facil-
ities and business in their areas. We are commit-
ted to developing our customer service because 
the long distances and poor connections in the 
remote logging sites of Russia pose great chal-
lenges for maintenance services.

One of our main focus points in Russia and 
lately also in Belarus is supporting the train-
ing of forest machine operators and mechanics. 
By the end of 2008, Ponsse had established 
ten training centres in different parts of Rus-
sia and Belarus. The most recent training cen-
tres were opened in Yekaterinburg and Minsk. 
Cooperation with educational establishments 
– such as our first partner, the Moscow Uni-
versity – continues.  

Regardless of the world-wide economic down-
swing and the decreased timber product de-
mand, the market continues to need new forest 
machines. Russian and Belarusian forest com-
panies are paying more and more attention to 
productivity, reliability, quality and harvesting 
costs – which is why Ponsse’s products, exper-
tise and maintenance services will surely be in 
demand in the future.   
  

 

neurs’ investment plans, and Ponsse’s order vol-
ume took a downward turn in the final quarter.

In Sweden, Ponsse’s market share continued to 
grow in 2008.  Ponsse continued to strengthen 
its service network, which boosted market share 
growth. Another factor contributing to success 
in Sweden is the new energy and roundwood 
harvesting solutions. In Sweden, local load 
space solutions were developed for energy wood 
transport, such as convertible and compress-
ing load spaces. Ponsse has made significant 
investments in the Swedish markets, and will 
continue to do so in 2009.  

Demand is expected to decline in Finland from 
the previous year. The additional production 
curtailments announced by forest companies 
in early 2009 further strengthen these expecta-
tions. The global demand for sawn timber and 
board products is not expected to pick up until 
the construction industry revives. Varying sce-
narios predict this would happen in late 2009 
at the earliest.

The objective of the national energy strategy is 
to considerably increase the use of energy wood 
in Finland from the current 10 million cubic 
metres. Although the growing demand for en-
ergy wood has offset the declining demand for 
pulpwood, this is probably not enough to occupy 
the entire harvesting machinery stock if paper 
industry production volumes in Finland de-
crease dramatically.  At the same time, however, 
the proportion of imported timber of industrial 
raw material is predicted to decrease, which 
will increase the harvesting needs in Finnish 
forests. Integrated roundwood and energy wood 
harvesting is ideally suited for the current situa-
tion and will offer customers improved business 
success opportunities. 

Considering the current global economic con-
ditions and the rapidly changing forecasts re-
garding general economic development, ma-
chine entrepreneurs’ acquisitions are expected 
to be smaller than in 2008. The machinery in 
use is getting older, which will increase the de-
mand for Ponsse’s maintenance and servicing 
operations.

It will probably take some time before the 
economic situation in North America re-
turns to normal. In light of this, 2009 would 
seem to be highly challenging. The efficien-
cy of all our operations and cost manage-
ment will play a major role. Ponsse will fo-
cus on taking good care of its customers 
in the current operational areas. Good cus-
tomer support is even more important when 
the times are rough. Our main focus will 
continue to be on our service business, and 
we will show our customers by our daily ac-
tivities that Ponsse will support them dur-
ing these challenging times.

Central and Southern Europe 
Vice President Tapio Ingervo
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North America 
Vice President Marko Mattila

North Europe
Vice President Mikko Laurila

Russia
Vice President Jaakko Laurila

North Europe

In Finland, Ponsse’s sales saw favourable 
overall development in 2008. When the first 
signs of global economic recession appeared, 
delivery times for domestic orders began to 
accelerate quickly. By the summer the situa-
tion had turned upside down, and machinery 
had become available for quick delivery in the 
domestic markets from several other market 
areas. The market conditions remained posi-
tive in Finland until the turn of September and 
October, offering good sales opportunities. In 
2008, Ponsse delivered a record number of new 
forest machines in Finland.  

The volume of timber imported by the indus-
try in January–October totalled 16.2 million 
cubic metres in 2008, showing an increase 
of 18% from the same period a year earlier. 
The Finnish Forest Industries estimated that 
the raises in the Russian timber export duties, 
which Russia announced would take place in 
early 2009 (and subsequently postponed on 12 
November 2008), would increase the harvest-
ing need in Finnish forests by as much as 10 
million cubic metres. As a result, the forestry 
departments of forest companies announced 
their intentions to raise harvesting volumes in 
Finland. 

However, in October the situation started 
changing and companies began to announce 
production curtailment plans due to the weak-
ening demand outlook for forest industry prod-
ucts. In November, some forest companies’ 
contractors were notified of potential produc-
tion stoppages that would also affect harvest-
ing. This quickly affected machine entrepre-

North America 

The year 2008 was challenging for Ponsse in 
North America. The crash of the United States 
economy and the following economic down-
swing and the financing crisis at the end of 
the year had a negative impact on the situa-
tion. The total market for rubber-wheeled cut-
to-length forest machines in North America 
decreased over 20 per cent. The greatest col-
lapse took place in Canada, where the market 
“shrank” by 70 per cent. 

Despite the negative figures, Ponsse supplied 
its North American customers with the same 
number of new machines as in 2007. This in-
creased our market share compared to the pre-
vious year.  The 2008 model of the PONSSE 
Ergo harvester with the H7 harvester head 
was a particularly major success. Ponsse held 
a market share of more than 40 per cent of the 
North American harvester sales market. This 
tells us that our products and product support 
are excellent. In 2008, Ponsse expanded its 
business to British Columbia. 

Ponsse was present at several forestry events 
over the past year, such as the DEMO 2008 
event in Halifax, Canada. Ponsse also par-
ticipated in several bioenergy-related con-
ferences and events over the year. Ponsse 
has been highly active in the development 
of the future biomass market and biomass 
research, and has focused on studying the 
entire delivery chain from stump to plant 
together with forest machine entrepreneurs 
and companies who have done business in 
the market for a long time. We want to be the 
leaders of this development. 

Russia

Plenty of changes occurred in the economy in 
general and in the forest industry in particular 
in 2008. In Russia, a new forestry regulation was 
introduced, timber customs duties were revised, 
the demand for timber and timber-based products 
experienced a major change, and the devaluing of 
the rouble started. These changes and the general 
economic situation also slowed down the forest 
machine market, especially during the latter part 
of the year. Ponsse was able to retain its good mar-
ket share and continues to strive to satisfy custo-
mer needs in all the most important forestry ar-
eas of the Republic of Russia and Belarus. In the 
longer term, the fact that old uneconomical forest 
machines and harvesting methods are replaced 
with more cost-efficient, profitable and reliable 
cut-to-length machines and methods will create 
more demand in the market.

In 2008, we signed cooperation agreements 
with four new servicing companies in order to 
be closer to our customers and offer a faster and 
better service. The servicing companies operate 
in the Krasnoyarsk area in Siberia, the Irkutsk 
area, the Ural area and Belarus. All Ponsse re-

Central and 
Southern Europe 

Ponsse has retained its strong position in the 
Central and South European market. We will 
continue to improve our distribution and main-
tenance network by developing our current co-
operation relationships and acquiring new co-
operation partners. Our sales development was 
favourable early on in 2008 but at the end of 
the year the markets started to slow down due 
to the decreased demand for wood processing 
products in Europe and decreased exports to 
North America, the more difficult machine fi-

arEa rEVIEWS nancing situation, and the exceptionally chal-
lenging general financial situation. Service 
operations sales development was favourable 
in 2008.

The most important market area in Central Eu-
rope is Germany. Our retailer Wahlers Forst-
technik GmbH’s expert organisation and a new 
service centre opened in 2007 enabled even 
more efficient business. 2008 was still a diffi-
cult year as the felling volumes and felling pro-
ceeds decreased. Timber stock levels remained 
high and there were more machines in the coun-
try than before. The tightened price competition 
decreased the profitability of our customers and 
slowed down our machine sales.

France and Great Britain are our most im-
portant Central European markets after Ger-
many, and there are Ponsse subsidiaries in 
both countries, Ponsse S.A.S. and Ponsse UK 
Ltd. Ponsse’s product portfolio is highly ap-
plicable to the Central European needs, and 
the French market and our market share ex-
perienced strong development at the beginning 
of the year. The markets experienced a clear 
downswing towards the end of the year, and the 
order volume started to decrease. In 2009, our 
subsidiaries will focus on sales, securing the 
cash flow and cost efficiency.

Ponsse sells products in several Eastern Euro-
pean countries. Mechanisation of harvesting is 
still in its early stages and there is plenty of 
growth potential in these markets. The slowing 
down of the world economy clearly influenced 
Eastern Europe towards the end of the year how-
ever. In the future, the demand for cut-to-length 
harvesting machines will increase but many in-
vestment decisions were postponed in 2008 and 
our total sales volumes remained modest.

There is tight price competition in the markets 
of southern Europe and second-hand machine 
sales is a major part of the forest machine mar-
ket. The new machines sold are mainly forward-
ers and harvester heads to be mounted on exca-
vators. Ponsse improved its position in Spain by 
adding a new reseller, Hermanos Toimil Garcia 
SL, a company with extensive experience in the 
forest machine sector and a service organisation 
covering the whole of Spain.

Area rewievs Area rewievs

tailers have systematically developed their facil-
ities and business in their areas. We are commit-
ted to developing our customer service because 
the long distances and poor connections in the 
remote logging sites of Russia pose great chal-
lenges for maintenance services.

One of our main focus points in Russia and 
lately also in Belarus is supporting the train-
ing of forest machine operators and mechanics. 
By the end of 2008, Ponsse had established 
ten training centres in different parts of Rus-
sia and Belarus. The most recent training cen-
tres were opened in Yekaterinburg and Minsk. 
Cooperation with educational establishments 
– such as our first partner, the Moscow Uni-
versity – continues.  

Regardless of the world-wide economic down-
swing and the decreased timber product de-
mand, the market continues to need new forest 
machines. Russian and Belarusian forest com-
panies are paying more and more attention to 
productivity, reliability, quality and harvesting 
costs – which is why Ponsse’s products, exper-
tise and maintenance services will surely be in 
demand in the future.   
  

 

neurs’ investment plans, and Ponsse’s order vol-
ume took a downward turn in the final quarter.

In Sweden, Ponsse’s market share continued to 
grow in 2008.  Ponsse continued to strengthen 
its service network, which boosted market share 
growth. Another factor contributing to success 
in Sweden is the new energy and roundwood 
harvesting solutions. In Sweden, local load 
space solutions were developed for energy wood 
transport, such as convertible and compress-
ing load spaces. Ponsse has made significant 
investments in the Swedish markets, and will 
continue to do so in 2009.  

Demand is expected to decline in Finland from 
the previous year. The additional production 
curtailments announced by forest companies 
in early 2009 further strengthen these expecta-
tions. The global demand for sawn timber and 
board products is not expected to pick up until 
the construction industry revives. Varying sce-
narios predict this would happen in late 2009 
at the earliest.

The objective of the national energy strategy is 
to considerably increase the use of energy wood 
in Finland from the current 10 million cubic 
metres. Although the growing demand for en-
ergy wood has offset the declining demand for 
pulpwood, this is probably not enough to occupy 
the entire harvesting machinery stock if paper 
industry production volumes in Finland de-
crease dramatically.  At the same time, however, 
the proportion of imported timber of industrial 
raw material is predicted to decrease, which 
will increase the harvesting needs in Finnish 
forests. Integrated roundwood and energy wood 
harvesting is ideally suited for the current situa-
tion and will offer customers improved business 
success opportunities. 

Considering the current global economic con-
ditions and the rapidly changing forecasts re-
garding general economic development, ma-
chine entrepreneurs’ acquisitions are expected 
to be smaller than in 2008. The machinery in 
use is getting older, which will increase the de-
mand for Ponsse’s maintenance and servicing 
operations.

It will probably take some time before the 
economic situation in North America re-
turns to normal. In light of this, 2009 would 
seem to be highly challenging. The efficien-
cy of all our operations and cost manage-
ment will play a major role. Ponsse will fo-
cus on taking good care of its customers 
in the current operational areas. Good cus-
tomer support is even more important when 
the times are rough. Our main focus will 
continue to be on our service business, and 
we will show our customers by our daily ac-
tivities that Ponsse will support them dur-
ing these challenging times.

Central and Southern Europe 
Vice President Tapio Ingervo
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Latin America

In 2008, the Ponsse subsidiary established in 
2005 improved its position in the key markets 
and key product groups. In 2008, Ponsse con-
tinued as a leading supplier of rubber-wheeled 
harvesters and forwarders in Latin America.

For the first six months, all pulp mills in Brazil 
and Uruguay worked at full speed with many 
ongoing investment plans to attend to the high 
demand in the global and Finnish markets. 
During this period, the global pulp price was 
approximately US$ 800 per ton.  

The situation dramatically changed during the 
second term because the international financ-
ing crisis and the related decrease in global 
pulp price dropped the global pulp price to ap-
proximately $450 per ton. As a consequence, 
the main players in the market decided to in-
terrupt their pulp production, which also de-
creased the felling volume. Furthermore, all in-
vestments to increase the pulp production vol-
ume – including the construction of new mills 
– were postponed until further notice. 

Regardless of the challenging situation, Ponsse 
remained a clear market leader in Uruguay as 
a result of heavy investments in the first-class 
service centres in Paysandú and Tacuarembó. 
Currently, Ponsse cooperates with the most 
important forest companies in Uruguay and is 
also a company favoured by machine contrac-
tors. Harvester PONSSE Ergo and forwarder 
PONSSE BuffaloKing are currently the main 
products in the Uruguay market.

In the Brazilian market, Ponsse continued to sell 
products to the major Brazilian pulp mills. The 
traditional customers, such as Veracel and Bahia 
Pulp, continued to increase their Ponsse machine 

Asia-Pacifi c and Africa

Ponsse’s machine sales, maintenance and 
training services are now operational in our 
new markets in the Asia and Pacific regions 
and Africa. Ponsse China celebrated its 1st 
anniversary in 2008. Personnel training has 
been actively implemented to prepare for of-
fering the customers the best possible support 
services. Ponsse’s offices, service centres and 
spare part activities are now fully equipped 
and in operation.

At the beginning of 2008, Ponsse signed a 
dealer agreement with Singu Shoko Ltd, a com-
pany with a long history in the timber trade 

and forest machine business in Japan. China 
and Japan are both major importers of Russian 
roundwood, softwood saw logs in particular. 
Even if Russia were to delay the increase in log 
export tax, both countries will face drastically 
higher imported log prices. The domestic saw 
log market in China has tightened as a result of 
reduced log import from Russia in 2008. 

China and Japan may also meet some of their 
roundwood needs by increasing their domes-
tic harvesting. Under China’s annual timber 
production plan for 2009 released by the State 
Forestry Administration, 158 Mm3 of timber 
will be logged and timber output will be 100 Mm3 
in 2009. In China, the demand for paper has 
grown at an annual rate of approximately 13 per 
cent in recent years, and the country is now the 
world’s second largest producer and consumer 
of paper. China has rapidly maturing planta-
tions that will provide increased volumes of 
pulpwood in the next ten years. In 2009, many 
main customers will implement new wood raw 
material strategies to strive for effective busi-
ness, regardless of the changes in wood export 
taxation in Russia. New export companies and 
product flows offer new opportunities for many 
countries exporting softwood logs and lumber, 
such as Australia and New Zealand. 

In South Africa, Ponsse’s retailer Babcock 
launched the PONSSE Elephant forwarder. 
The product is completely new in this market 
area and has been well received: it has gath-
ered plenty of attention in several forestry sec-
tor events and work exhibitions. We have been 
able to increase the efficiency of the harvest-
ing and profitability of many of our South Af-
rican customers based on the experiences and 
information obtained in Latin America. Age-
ing, absenteeism and illness among the work-
force has resulted in the declining productiv-
ity of the traditional manual harvesting systems 
and increased the need for mechanisation in 
South Africa.

Ponsse is well prepared for the upcoming 
changes in supply and demand in the Asia, 
Pacific and Africa regions by focusing on its 
business in south-eastern and eastern Asia, 
Oceania and southern Africa. 
 

Area reviews Service business in 2008

Our service network includes more than 40 
countries, in which more than 500 mainte-
nance and spare part service experts work. 
Long-term partnerships in the distribution 
network and with customers have created a 
special service spirit in the Ponsse mainte-
nance service business; this is a spirit we plan 
to cherish in the future.

Ponsse’s long-term objective is to increase the 
share of services in the total net sales in order 
to balance the fluctuating machine sales vol-
umes. In 2008, the development of our service 
portfolio progressed as planned.

New theme for 
Ponsse maintenance services: 
Logger’s Inn – get the best service

Ponsse introduced a new maintenance service 
concept at the FinnMetko 2008 trade fair. The 
Ponsse after-sales services are part of the Log-
ger’s Inn concept under which we have cen-
tralised all of Ponsse’s services related to cus-
tomers and partnerships. 

The Logger’s Inn concept includes five main 
sectors: parts, service agreements, technical 
support, training and documentation. We offer 
the most customer-friendly services in these 
sectors. 

PONSSE Parts offer an extensive selection 
of high-quality parts for the needs of forest 

machine entrepreneurs. The Parts sector in-
cludes PONSSE Genuine Parts, PONSSE 
Ecoparts, PONSSE Accessories and PONSSE 
Budget Parts, which are available at all our 
local servicing centres, all around the world. 
Spare part deliveries and logistics are always 
optimised to benefit the customer, and our 
competent staff assist the customers in finding 
the alternative best suited to their machine 
stock and situation. 

The share of service agreements in our cus-
tomer support activities is continuously in-
creasing. More and more of our customers 
wish to set their own production goals, an-
ticipate their service intervals, and ensure 
the long-term profitability of their machines. 
Regular preventive care will make harvest-
ing more systematic. Forest machine entre-
preneurs can select one of four service agree-
ments with Ponsse: Preventive Care, Mainte-
nance Care, Full Service solution and Part-
nership solution Agreement.

The technical support offered by Ponsse in-
cludes Workshop Service, Field Service, 
Telephone Support and Remote Service. The 
customer can select the maintenance support 
they need, or outsource the maintenance of 
all their machines to Ponsse. We always take 
the local conditions into account and offer our 

SErVICE BuSINESS
IN 2008

services as close to the customer as possible. 
We utilise our global experience and apply 
the best practices of the sector to benefit our 
local customers. 

With a new machine, Ponsse offers compre-
hensive user training. We use forest machine 
and servicing simulators as an aid to our train-
ing. Ponsse’s servicing trainers regularly offer 
training to our local servicing employees in 
order to ensure that all of them have the lat-
est information on maximising the availabil-
ity of the forest machines at their disposal. 
Our training alternatives include Operator 
Training, Maintenance Training, and Process 
and Operator Training, and we also offer cus-
tomised customer-specific training.

Documentation is an important part of the ac-
quisition of a new forest machine. Ponsse’s 
detailed Owner’s Manuals, Maintenance Man-
uals and Spare Part Manuals assist custom-
ers in finding the information they need about 
the machine, its operation and maintenance. 
Ponsse delivers the manual for the purchased 
machine either as a hard copy or on a CD-
ROM. The Owner’s Manual and Maintenance 
Manual will also be installed on the forest 
machine’s Opti computer so that they will al-
ways be conveniently available, wherever the 
machine is.

fleets and Ponsse also obtained new major cus-
tomers: Seflor, Zandoná and Guará Florestal.

In 2008, we invested in customer service in 
Brazil. A major development objective was 
maintenance services offered by Ponsse. Main-
tenance services are now available direct from 
Ponsse to the customers. As a result, new cus-
tomers were added to the Ponsse portfolio and 
new products were sold, such as PONSSE Ergo 
harvesters equipped with new H7 harvester 
heads for pine applications.

We expect the demand for new machines to 
clearly decrease in 2009 due to the over-ca-
pacity in pulp production. The main players 
will cut back on their production in order to 
increase the price of commodities. The main 
challenge for the main players will be adjusting 
production to the low demand and improving 
efficiency in order to reduce costs and achieve 
an acceptable level of profitability. The situa-
tion for Ponsse will be similar: we will focus on 
high efficiency and low costs without sacrific-
ing the quality of customer support.     

Plenty of planned development and fast changes 
brought on by the global fi nancing crisis occurred in 
Ponsse maintenance services in 2008. We were able 
to increase the turnover of our service business from 
the previous year despite the challenging situation.

Juhani Mäkynen
Service Director
Ponsse Plc
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Latin America

In 2008, the Ponsse subsidiary established in 
2005 improved its position in the key markets 
and key product groups. In 2008, Ponsse con-
tinued as a leading supplier of rubber-wheeled 
harvesters and forwarders in Latin America.

For the first six months, all pulp mills in Brazil 
and Uruguay worked at full speed with many 
ongoing investment plans to attend to the high 
demand in the global and Finnish markets. 
During this period, the global pulp price was 
approximately US$ 800 per ton.  

The situation dramatically changed during the 
second term because the international financ-
ing crisis and the related decrease in global 
pulp price dropped the global pulp price to ap-
proximately $450 per ton. As a consequence, 
the main players in the market decided to in-
terrupt their pulp production, which also de-
creased the felling volume. Furthermore, all in-
vestments to increase the pulp production vol-
ume – including the construction of new mills 
– were postponed until further notice. 

Regardless of the challenging situation, Ponsse 
remained a clear market leader in Uruguay as 
a result of heavy investments in the first-class 
service centres in Paysandú and Tacuarembó. 
Currently, Ponsse cooperates with the most 
important forest companies in Uruguay and is 
also a company favoured by machine contrac-
tors. Harvester PONSSE Ergo and forwarder 
PONSSE BuffaloKing are currently the main 
products in the Uruguay market.

In the Brazilian market, Ponsse continued to sell 
products to the major Brazilian pulp mills. The 
traditional customers, such as Veracel and Bahia 
Pulp, continued to increase their Ponsse machine 

Asia-Pacifi c and Africa

Ponsse’s machine sales, maintenance and 
training services are now operational in our 
new markets in the Asia and Pacific regions 
and Africa. Ponsse China celebrated its 1st 
anniversary in 2008. Personnel training has 
been actively implemented to prepare for of-
fering the customers the best possible support 
services. Ponsse’s offices, service centres and 
spare part activities are now fully equipped 
and in operation.

At the beginning of 2008, Ponsse signed a 
dealer agreement with Singu Shoko Ltd, a com-
pany with a long history in the timber trade 

and forest machine business in Japan. China 
and Japan are both major importers of Russian 
roundwood, softwood saw logs in particular. 
Even if Russia were to delay the increase in log 
export tax, both countries will face drastically 
higher imported log prices. The domestic saw 
log market in China has tightened as a result of 
reduced log import from Russia in 2008. 

China and Japan may also meet some of their 
roundwood needs by increasing their domes-
tic harvesting. Under China’s annual timber 
production plan for 2009 released by the State 
Forestry Administration, 158 Mm3 of timber 
will be logged and timber output will be 100 Mm3 
in 2009. In China, the demand for paper has 
grown at an annual rate of approximately 13 per 
cent in recent years, and the country is now the 
world’s second largest producer and consumer 
of paper. China has rapidly maturing planta-
tions that will provide increased volumes of 
pulpwood in the next ten years. In 2009, many 
main customers will implement new wood raw 
material strategies to strive for effective busi-
ness, regardless of the changes in wood export 
taxation in Russia. New export companies and 
product flows offer new opportunities for many 
countries exporting softwood logs and lumber, 
such as Australia and New Zealand. 

In South Africa, Ponsse’s retailer Babcock 
launched the PONSSE Elephant forwarder. 
The product is completely new in this market 
area and has been well received: it has gath-
ered plenty of attention in several forestry sec-
tor events and work exhibitions. We have been 
able to increase the efficiency of the harvest-
ing and profitability of many of our South Af-
rican customers based on the experiences and 
information obtained in Latin America. Age-
ing, absenteeism and illness among the work-
force has resulted in the declining productiv-
ity of the traditional manual harvesting systems 
and increased the need for mechanisation in 
South Africa.

Ponsse is well prepared for the upcoming 
changes in supply and demand in the Asia, 
Pacific and Africa regions by focusing on its 
business in south-eastern and eastern Asia, 
Oceania and southern Africa. 
 

Area reviews Service business in 2008
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Spare part deliveries and logistics are always 
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SErVICE BuSINESS
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services as close to the customer as possible. 
We utilise our global experience and apply 
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With a new machine, Ponsse offers compre-
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fleets and Ponsse also obtained new major cus-
tomers: Seflor, Zandoná and Guará Florestal.

In 2008, we invested in customer service in 
Brazil. A major development objective was 
maintenance services offered by Ponsse. Main-
tenance services are now available direct from 
Ponsse to the customers. As a result, new cus-
tomers were added to the Ponsse portfolio and 
new products were sold, such as PONSSE Ergo 
harvesters equipped with new H7 harvester 
heads for pine applications.

We expect the demand for new machines to 
clearly decrease in 2009 due to the over-ca-
pacity in pulp production. The main players 
will cut back on their production in order to 
increase the price of commodities. The main 
challenge for the main players will be adjusting 
production to the low demand and improving 
efficiency in order to reduce costs and achieve 
an acceptable level of profitability. The situa-
tion for Ponsse will be similar: we will focus on 
high efficiency and low costs without sacrific-
ing the quality of customer support.     

Plenty of planned development and fast changes 
brought on by the global fi nancing crisis occurred in 
Ponsse maintenance services in 2008. We were able 
to increase the turnover of our service business from 
the previous year despite the challenging situation.

Juhani Mäkynen
Service Director
Ponsse Plc
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wood harvesting entrepreneurs. This will 
offer a sustainable basis for the utilisation 
of wood energy, good opportunities for suc-
cess for harvesting entrepreneurs, and prod-
uct demand in the long term. In the Ponsse 
product portfolio, attention has been paid to 
energy wood harvesting by developing in-
tegrated roundwood and energy wood har-
vesting and applicable technologies. Har-
vester heads capable of group handling can 
be used in the improvement of young for-
ests and simultaneous harvesting of round-
wood and energy wood at thinning sites – 
either as single trees or by means of group 
handling. These harvester heads can also be 
mounted on PONSSE Dual combination ma-
chines, which enables profitable harvesting 
of smaller sites with fewer trees by utilising 
a single machine.

Unlike the tree-length method, the cut-to-
lenght (CTL) method is also applicable to 
thinning and enables harvesting on softer 
and moister soil. CTL method technologies 
and methods are being strongly developed, 
while the development of tree-length method 
machinery and methods has been limited. 

Focus areas in 2008

In 2008, Ponsse product development strong-
ly invested in product quality. Hydraulic and 
automatic design focused resources on the 
functionality and usability of our products. 
As a result of the determined work, the cur-
rent product range is highly reliable and func-
tional; the good market share in Finland and 
the success in our other main market areas 
in 2008 proves this. The position of Ponsse’s 

Cut-to-length method product ranges developed

most widely sold harvester model, Ergo, has 
improved in its size range, and several re-
forms in other models have received positive 
feedback.

Bioenergy demand will increase and 
raw material harvesting techniques 
will be developed

Harvesting and utilisation of energy wood has 
become one of the most central forest machine 
development targets. New power plants utilising 
mixed fuel are continuously being constructed, 
and these plants enable large-scale utilisation 
of one form of bioenergy, wood chips. 

Ponsse has conducted bioenergy develop-
ment work based on its principles:  the so-
lutions Ponsse offers must be profitable for 

Cut-tO-LENGtH 
MEtHOD 
PrODuCt raNGES 
DEVELOPED

New developments in short-distance 
hauling 

A solution applicable to short-distance haul-
ing of energy wood is a hydraulically expand-
able load space that makes the transportation 
of energy logs and felling waste more efficient 
and profitable. Energy wood is lighter than 
roundwood, so more wood can be included in 
one load. This enables better utilisation of the 
machine capacity and more profitable opera-
tions. Ponsse’s LoadOptimizer scales have been 
approved as an official timber measuring meth-
od, and have thus become part of the integrated 
roundwood and energy wood harvesting chain.

Stands on soil with a poor carrying 
capacity challenging for harvesting 
machines

More and more harvesting in several market 
areas takes place on soil which has poor car-
rying capacity. The wood harvesting challenges 
brought on by the warmer winters are especially 
pronounced in Finland. There is plenty of wood 
in Finland but most of the additional harvesting 
potential is located in sites that are difficult to 
utilise, mainly on soft peatland. 

In order to improve the load-bearing capacity 
of the harvesting machines, Ponsse has devel-
oped the ten-wheel PONSSE 10w forwarder. 
The product has been used by Ponsse custom-
ers for approximately 18 months, and experi-
ences have been positive. The machine’s load-
bearing capacity is excellent but the extra set 
of wheels does not clearly reduce the machine’s 
other properties, such as the turning radius. 

In the case of harvesters, the load-bearing ca-
pacity has been improved by increasing the 
width of the tyres and studying the impact of 
different types of tracks. These methods make 
the entire harvesting chain functional for sites 
with poor carrying capacity by implementing 

minor changes and without compromising the 
general functionality of the harvesting com-
pany’s machine stock: the same machines can 
be used for harvesting at other sites.

Eucalyptus harvesting

The pulp industry has strongly invested in 
the utilisation of eucalyptus. Plants have 
been constructed and forests planted in South 
America and Asia, among other areas, and 
new projects have been launched in different 
parts of the world. The benefit of eucalyptus is 
the fact that it grows quickly; thus it requires 
less surface area than other forests.

The special features of harvesting eucalyptus 
are the fact that the trees must be debarked 
immediately after they have been felled and 
the especially high reliability demands caused 
by the high degree of utilisation. 

Ponsse offers a harvester head range designed 
especially for the harvesting of eucalyptus. 
The transport equipment usually consists of 
larger forwarder models with a high load-
bearing capacity to make the harvesting as 
efficient as possible.

Ponsse’s objective is to develop and manufac-
ture the best harvesting solutions on the market 
for the customers’ needs. We also invest in the 
manufacturability of the products and the ef-
ficiency of our own business. Furthermore, we 
will continue our strong investments in the de-
velopment of operations methods for the entire 
timber harvesting chain by offering training as 
well as by participating in the research and de-
velopment and discussion in the sector. This 
enables us to promote the development of the 
forestry sector and our operations environment, 
as well as face the challenges brought on by the 
local economies and the world economy.

Cut-to-length method product ranges developed

Throughout its history, Ponsse has been involved in the 
development of harvesting based on the Nordic cut-to-
length method. From a global viewpoint, the method is 
the most advanced and the most effective wood har-
vesting method, and its environmental impact is clearly 
lower than that of the competing tree-length method. 

The PONSSE H53e with group handling equip-
ment make it possible to process several trees 
simultaneously.

A ten-wheel PONSSE 10w forwarder enables the 
utilisation of wood that grows on soil with poor 
carrying capacity.

The harvester heads designed for the harvesting 
of eucalyptus debark the trees after they have 
been felled.
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As a result of the determined work, the cur-
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different types of tracks. These methods make 
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America and Asia, among other areas, and 
new projects have been launched in different 
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ficiency of our own business. Furthermore, we 
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timber harvesting chain by offering training as 
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as well as face the challenges brought on by the 
local economies and the world economy.

Cut-to-length method product ranges developed
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sis machining centre is almost complete. The 
chassis welding line and the machining centre 
will be fully implemented in early 2009.

Development of delivery equipment

A test track included in the delivery equip-
ment centre has been taken into use. Having 
rolled out of the assembly line, each machine 
is tested either in the forest or on the test track. 
Electronic test drive feedback has proved to 
be a fast and secure way to ensure quality and 
develop the processes. Ponsse continued to 
develop electronic customer feedback regard-
ing machine deliveries to ensure good quality 
and customer satisfaction. This will improve 
the uninterrupted flow of information between 
the end users and the factory.

Ponsse is able to quickly react to 
customer needs

Ponsse has continued to develop the quali-
ty and profitability of its business. The stan-
dardisation of the production process and the 
introduction of broad, modular product fami-
lies serve the customers’ machine procure-
ments and the entire product lifespan. Cus-
tomer wishes are taken into account at the 
design stage. In this way, the customers will 
receive forest machines with just the features 
they want. Production planning takes into ac-
count the structure selected by the customer, 
based on which production effectively manu-
factures the forest machines.

In addition to growth, Ponsse invested in quality 
improvements and launched the manufacture 
of several new products. In accordance with a 
decision made at the end of 2008, the business 
of the Brazil plant will be transferred to Vieremä, 
Finland, during the first quartile of 2009. Thus 
the manufacture of all PONSSE harvester heads 
will be centralised in Vieremä. 

Results by more intensive 
cooperation

In 2008, major resources were assigned to con-
tinuous improvement, i.e. to the continuous de-
velopment of products and processes, and to 
eliminating any problems. The efficiency of 
constant improvement is ensured by coopera-
tion between production, product development, 
management, quality, purchasing and other or-
ganisations, across organisation boundaries. 
One of Ponsse’s competitive edges is collabo-
ration between organisations and fast reaction 
to problems. If problems occur in production, 
the representatives of the different organisa-
tions can be immediately called to the site, and 
the problems can be quickly solved.

The cooperation between product develop-
ment and the production organisation was 
improved by several shared projects, and 
new cooperation models between the two or-
ganisations were created. The development of 
the supplier network had a positive impact on 

Production

production despite the general material avail-
ability problems during the first part of the 
year. Tried and tested operating models were 
extended to cover the entire factory. Ponsse 
perceives the innovativeness of the staff as a 
major resource and is constantly developing 
functions, such as encouraging initiatives, in 
order to support innovativeness.  

Development of factory production 
lines continued

Ponsse’s investment programme continued in 
2008. The programme aims at developing the 
quality of end products, increasing production 
volumes and improving the Group’s cost efficien-
cy. These development actions aim at a planned 
increase in productivity. Future investments and 
development measures relate to the development 
of parts manufacture and assembly processes, as 
well as work standardisation methods. After the 
investment programme has been concluded, the 
production lines will be at a level at which Ponsse 
will be able to take on the future challenges, re-
quirements and increased demand without prob-
lems. At present, there is no need for other major 
investments. The Vieremä factory invested in 
further development of a line-type production 
system. A new focus point was the development 
of pre-equipping, which also included a major 
investment in hydraulic assembly facilities and 
automatic warehouses. The development of the 
pre-equipping and the line aims at securing the 
production quality and efficiency. 

As for parts manufacture, major at-
tention was paid to developing heavy 
welding, machining and processes. In 
2008, three new welding robots were 
taken into use to improve the profit-
ability of welding when manufactur-
ing crane booms and machine chass-
es. Line production of chassis welding 
was started on one of the lines. The im-
plementation and testing of the chas-

PrODuCtION

Epec’s product portfolio

low even smarter solutions in farming machinery, 
and Epec participates actively in this develop-
ment work with its products and solutions. 

A number of different projects are always 
in the pipeline. One of last year’s special-
ties was the CAN bus-based smart control 
system that Kabus and VTT Technical Re-
search Centre of Finland co-developed for 
the hybrid bus. 

In addition to machine control systems, Epec’s 
product range includes vehicle computers and 
various weighing and measuring systems for 
the forestry sector.  The product portfolio also 
contains software and applications for embed-
ded systems as well as for PC hardware and 
information systems. 

Epec’s EPC vehicle computer product range 
is designed for the mobile machinery and 
utility vehicle markets where computers are 
expected to be highly durable and to deliv-
er features that make work easier, such as 
storage capacity, communications and map-
based positioning data. The Epec Load Op-
timizer system provides a solution for mobile 
load weighing for various in-vehicle cranes 
– for example, those used in timber trucks – 
where accurate real-time weighing informa-
tion is required. 

The control systems markets represent a grow-
ing market, and new application areas are 
emerging in various market segments. There 
are a large number of small- and medium-sized 
work machine manufacturers worldwide that 
currently do not use smart control systems. 
Despite the slower market situation, the con-
trol system markets enjoy sustained long-term 
growth, and smart systems will be increasing-
ly used in smaller machinery and utility ve-
hicles. In fact, expanding its market coverage 
and operations to several market segments and 
areas is one of Epec’s key near-term objectives, 
which is also hoped to make the company less 
vulnerable to economic fluctuations.  

In the past few years, the company has focused 
on seeking growth outside Finland. Strong in-
vestment in exports and globalization has 
generated a stronger customer confidence in 
Epec and created new business opportunities. 
To achieve growth, Epec invested in produc-
tion machinery, recruiting more personnel and 
in competence development. At the moment, 
Epec exports directly to more than 20 coun-
tries, and exports account for more than 20 per 
cent of net sales. Direct and indirect exports 
together represent 90 per cent of net sales. 

Epec is actively engaged in close co-operation 
with its international partners to identify new 
customers and customer segments.  Epec’s re-
tailer network currently covers several Euro-

pean countries, China, Russia, Brazil and the 
USA. In China, Epec has been able to gain 
market leadership as a control systems’ manufac-
turer; a position the company intends to main-
tain in the future.

Machine control systems 
for the most demanding conditions

Epec’s key customers include machine manu-
facturers that build mobile machines for ex-
tremely demanding conditions. The embed-
ded system technology solutions are based 
on distributed intelligence, which means the 
various parts of the system communicate over 
a CAN bus.  Epec supplies control systems 
for Ponsse’s forest machinery, for Sammutin 
Oy’s fire and rescue vehicles, Tana’s rollers 
used on landfills, and Metso’s rock and min-
eral processing equipment, for instance.

Other global customers include Cargotec, a 
cargo handling solutions provider; Sandvik 
Mining & Construction, a supplier of mining 
and construction machinery; and Volvo Con-
struction Equipment, a manufacturer of con-
struction machinery. 
   
Future growth areas include public utility ve-
hicles and farming machinery. The introduction 
of the ISOBUS communications protocol will al-

EPEC’S PrODuCt 
POrtFOLIO 

2008 marked a period of slight growth in production. 
Due to the fi nancing crisis, the production slowed down 
during the second half of the year. Thus the planned 
increase in machine manufacturing volume remained low. 

During the 30 years that Epec Oy has been in busi-
ness, it has become a key supplier of smart control 
systems solutions.  

Juha Haverinen 
Factory Director
Ponsse Plc

Jouni Matikainen
Managing Director
Epec Oy
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will be fully implemented in early 2009.
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Production
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EPEC’S PrODuCt 
POrtFOLIO 
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Juha Haverinen 
Factory Director
Ponsse Plc

Jouni Matikainen
Managing Director
Epec Oy
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EINARI VIDGRÉN
b. 1943
•  Industrial Counselor
•  The founder of Ponsse Plc
•  Chairman of the Board of Directors of 

Ponsse Plc since 1993
•  Chairman of the Board of Directors of 

Epec Oy
•  Shareholding in Ponsse Plc on 

31 December 2008: 13,348,074 shares

NILS HAGMAN
b. 1947
• B.Sc. (Econ)
• Member of the Board of Directors of Pons-

se Plc since 2004, Chairman of the Board 
of Directors of Mateko Oy, member of the 
Board of Directors of CE Rental Oy, member 
of the Board of Directors of Epec Oy 

• Shareholding in Ponsse Plc on 31 December 
2008: 2,000 shares

CHAIRMAN

MEMBERS

The members of the Board of Directors were 
elected at the Annual General Meeting on 29 
april 2008.

Election of the members of the 
Board of Directors

According to the Articles of Association, 
Ponsse Plc’s Board of Directors is composed 
of no fewer than five and no more than eight 
members. The members of the Board of Direc-
tors are elected at the Annual General Mee-
ting, which must be held by the end of June 

Board of Directors and management

pursuant to the Articles of Association. The 
term of office of a member of the Board expi-
res at the following Annual General Meeting. 
The Board elects a Chairman from among its 
members for one term of office at a time.

Meetings of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors met eleven times du-
ring the financial year. Members of the Bo-
ard of Directors regularly attended the mee-
tings, with an attendance percentage of 95.0 
per  cent.

   

BOarD OF DIrECtOrS 
aND MaNaGEMENt

BOarD OF DIrECtOrS ON 31 DECEMBEr 2008

SEPPO REMES
b. 1955
• M.A., LSc (Econ)
• Member of the Board of Directors of Ponsse Plc
 since 2004, member of the Board of Directors
 and Chairman of the Auditing Committee of the
 Board of Directors of OMZ, member of the Board
 of Directors and Chairman of the Auditing Com-
 mittee of the Board of Directors of Sollers (Se-
 verstalAvto), member of the Board of Directors,
 Chairman of the Auditing Committee of the Bo-
 ard of Directors, member of the Valuation Com-
 mittee and Member of the Strategy and Reform 
 Committee of RAO EES (2002-2007), member of 
 the Board of Directors of OGK-6, member of the
 Board of Directors of HydroOGK, member of the
 Board of Directors of the Association for Protecti-
 on of Investor (API), member of the Board of Di-
 rectors of Russian Institute of Directors (RID),
 member of the Board of Directors and Chairman
 of the Auditing Committee of the Board of Direc-
 tors of Kirovskie Zavody, member of the Board of
 Directors of MRSK Volga, Member of the Board
 of Directors of LSR, President and CEO of OOO
 Kiuru, member of the Board of Directors and
 Chairman of the Auditing committee of the Board
 of Directors of Sibur Holding, member of the Bo-
 ard of Directors of MRSK Holding, member of
 the Board of Directors of Russia’s Unified Natio-
 nal Power Grid (FSK), member of the Board of 
 Directors of Epec Oy
•  Shareholding in Ponsse Plc on 
 31 December 2008: 19,320 shares

Board of Directors and management

ILKKA KYLÄVAINIO
b. 1946
• Wood industry technician
• Member of the Board of Directors of 
 Ponsse Plc since 1999, President and   
 CEO and Chairman of the Board of 
 Directors of Keitele Forest Oy, Keitele 
 Engineered Wood Oy, Keitele Timber Oy   
 and Keitele Energy Oy, member of the 
 Board of Directors of Suomen Sahat ry,   
 member of the Board of Directors of 
 Epec Oy
• Shareholding in Ponsse Plc on 
 31 December 2008: 24,179 shares

MAARIT AARNI-SIRVIÖ
b. 1953
•  M.Sc. (Eng), MBA
•  Member of the Board of Directors of Ponsse 

Plc since 2007, CEO of Rahapaja Oy since 1 
April 2008, member of the Board of Directors 
of Rautaruukki Plc, member of the Board 
of Directors of Wärtsilä Plc, member of the 
Board of Directors of Epec Oy

•  Shareholding in Ponsse Plc on 31 December 
2008: 6,000 shares

JUHA VIDGRÉN
b. 1970
• Master of Pedagogy
• Vice Chairman of Ponsse Plc’s Board of 

Directors, member of the Board of Directors 
of Ponsse Plc since 2000, member of the 
Board of Directors of Epec Oy, member of 
the Board of Directors of Vieremän Oriyh-
distys ry (Vieremä Stallion Association), 
Chairman of Vieremän Kylänraitti ry (Vie-
remä Village Association)

• Shareholding in Ponsse Plc on 31 Decem-
ber 2008: 2,712,000 shares
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GLOBaL SaLES MaNaGEMENt tEaM 
31 DECEMBEr 2008MaNaGEMENt tEaM 31 DECEMBEr 2008

Management Team
Global Sales Management Team

JUHO NUMMELA, b. 1977,
Chairman of the Management Team 
• Dr.Tech.
• President and CEO since 1 June 2008
• Joined Ponsse in 2002
• Positions of Trust: Member of the 

Board, Educaworks Oy 
• Shareholding in Ponsse Plc on 

31 December 2008: 26,246 shares

JUHANI MÄKYNEN, b. 1971
• M.Sc. (Eng)
• Service Director
• Joined Ponsse in 2007

PASI ARAJÄRVI, b. 1967
• Bachelor of Logistics
• Director of Purchasing and 

Logistics
• Joined Ponsse in 2002 

JARMO VIDGRÉN, b. 1975
• Commercial College Graduate in 

Marketing
• Group Sales and Marketing Director 

and Deputy to the CEO since 
1 June 2008

• Joined Ponsse in 1997
• Shareholding in Ponsse Plc on 

31 December 2008: 267,640 shares 
in his own and his ward´s names

PAULA OKSMAN, b. 1959
• MA
• Director of Human Resources and 

Ponsse Academy
• Joined Ponsse in 2005

JARI MONONEN, b. 1974
• M.Sc. (For)
• Communications Director
• Joined Ponsse in 2001

MIKKO PAANANEN, b. 1963
• LLM
• CFO
• Secretary of Ponsse Plc’s Board of 

Directors
• Joined Ponsse in 2002
• Positions of Trust: Member of the 

Board, Sanomalehti Keskisuomalainen 
Oy, Member of the Board, Savon 
Sanomat Oy, Member of the Board, 
Keskisuomalainen Plc

• Shareholding in Ponsse Plc on 
31 December 2008: 3,440 shares in 
his own and his ward´s names 

HANNU KIVELÄ, b. 1966 
• M.Sc. (For)
• Director for Strategy and Customer 

Co-operation
• Joined Ponsse in 2007

JUHA HAVERINEN, b. 1974
• Bachelor of Machine Automation
• Factory Director
• Joined Ponsse in 2007

TAPIO INGERVO, b. 1967
• M.Sc. (Econ)
• Vice President responsible for 

the Central- and South-European 
business area, President and CEO of 
Ponssé S.A.S.

• Joined Ponsse in 2002
• Positions of Trust: Member of the Board, 

Lorraine Internationale, France
• Shareholding in Ponsse Plc on 

31 December 2008: 3,000 shares.

MARKO MATTILA, b. 1973
• B.Sc. (For)
• Vice President responsible for the 

North-American business area, 
President and CEO of Ponsse North 
America Inc.

• Joined Ponsse in 2007

CLAUDIO COSTA, b. 1962
• M.Sc. (Econ)
• Vice President responsible for the 

Latin-American business area, 
President and CEO of Ponsse Latin 
America Ltda

• Joined Ponsse in 2005

MIKKO LAURILA, b. 1970
• B.Sc. (For)
• Vice President responsible for the 

North-European business area, 
Sales Director, Finland

• Joined Ponsse in 1999

JARMO VIDGRÉN, b. 1975,
Chairman of the Global Sales
Management Team
• Commercial College Graduate in 

Marketing
• Group Sales and Marketing Direc-

tor and Deputy to the CEO since 
1 June 2008

JAAKKO LAURILA, b. 1970
• M.Sc. (For)
• Vice President responsible for the 

Russian business area, President 
and CEO of OOO Ponsse 

• Joined Ponsse in 2002
• Shareholding in Ponsse Plc on 

31 December 2008: 1,440 shares

TAPIO MERTANEN, b. 1965 
• Technician (technical college), 

MTD, JET 
• Distribution Development Director
• Joined Ponsse in 1994
• Shareholding in Ponsse Plc on 

31 December 2008: 400 shares

JUHANI MÄKYNEN, b. 1971
• M.Sc. (Eng)
• Service Director
• Joined Ponsse in 2007

NORBERT SCHALKX, b. 1969
• M.Sc. (For)
• Vice President responsible for the 

Asia-Pacific and Africa business 
area, President and CEO of Ponsse 
Asia-Pacific Ltd and Ponsse 
China Ltd

• Joined Ponsse 1 May 2008
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 Harvesters

Ponsse’s product range comprises harvesters 
in all size categories. An efficient diesel en-
gine and hydraulics system optimise the ma-
chine’s productivity, operation and fuel con-
sumption. The ergonomic cabins on PONSSE 
harvesters ensure that the operator is able 
to comfortably work under all conditions. 
In 2008, Ponsse launched several improved 
products for all the harvester models, the most 
significant being the Ergo 2008 model.

Product range

PrODuCt raNGE 

Product range

 Forwarders

PONSSE forwarders are equipped with the 
most efficient and economic diesel engines 
in their size class, and with high-performance 
hydraulics. The forwarders are equipped with 
either 6 or 8 wheels. Efficient loaders and the 
accurate OptiControl machine control system 
guarantee the tractive force and productivity 
of the machines. In 2008, Ponsse launched 
several improved products, such as new crane 
models and a variety of modifiable load spac-
es for bioenergy wood harvesting and other 
harvesting methods.  

PONSSE Beaver

PONSSE Ergo

PONSSE Beaver

PONSSE Bear

PONSSE Buffalo

PONSSE Elephant

PONSSE BuffaloKing

PONSSE Wisent PONSSE Gazelle PONSSE Elk PONSSE 10w
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Harvester heads

Ponsse has a broad and advanced harvester 
head range. PONSSE harvester heads func-
tion with millimetre precision and do not dam-
age trunks unnecessarily, and, at the same 
time, can endure extreme stress. In addition 
to harvester heads for handling softwood, the 
product line also includes products developed 
for the handling and debarking of eucalyptus. 
A novelty product is a group handling assem-
bly that enables integrated roundwood and 
energy wood harvesting. 

Service

Ponsse has a comprehensive maintenance 
network providing service in all of its market 
areas. The company quickly delivers parts to 
its clients in a centralised manner from the 
Iisalmi central storage in Finland and the lo-
cal storages in the subsidiary countries. Ponsse 
regularly trains its maintenance staff both at 
the Vieremä factory and in its international 
aftersales service centres. By making a main-
tenance contract, forest machine contractors 
can ensure that the value of their machines 
is maintained and calculate the maintenance 
costs. In 2008, Ponsse launched its new Log-
ger’s Inn service concept that includes all the 
services the customers need.

Training technology

The PONSSE 3D harvester simulator is an 
inexpensive and efficient work induction so-
lution for forest schools and businesses. Per-
forming advance training in simulated condi-
tions saves machines and forests in real con-
ditions. The maintenance simulator developed 
by Ponsse graphically illustrates a forest ma-
chine’s maintenance functions and simulates 
all of the forest machine’s functions. 

PONSSE Dual

PONSSE Dual is a combination machine that 
can be converted from a harvester to a for-
warder and vice versa in a few minutes. Dual 
allows forest machinery operators to flexibly 
supplement their standard equipment capac-
ity or deal with both felling and near-transport 
cost-effectively in projects where a two-ma-
chine team would be an unnecessarily bulky 
and expensive solution. When equipped with 
a PONSSE H53e or EH25 harvester head, 
Dual also makes the harvesting of energy 
wood more effective.

 
Information systems, OPTI

The intelligent information and measuring 
systems included in the OPTI product fam-
ily increase the accuracy and productivity of 
wood harvesting at all stages. In 2008, Ponsse 
launched the new Opti4G information system 
that also includes a new user interface. Other 
new products include Opti5 and Opti2 com-
puters for harvester head retrofitting.

Trade-in machines

Ponsse offers a comprehensive selection of 
used forest machines for thinning and rege-
neration harvesting. Ponsse markets both its 
own and other manufacturers’ trade-in machi-
nes, and they are sold trans-nationally. Ver-
satile maintenance and upgrade services are 
available for trade-in machines.

Control systems 
and mobile machines

The main products of Ponsse’s technology 
company Epec Oy include embedded ma-
chine control systems for mobile forest ma-
chines. Epec’s intelligent and programma-
ble control units and displays are designed 
to endure extreme conditions. In demanding 
machine applications, the control system is 
supplemented by the Opti vehicle computer 
manufactured by Epec, which is suitable for 
machine and vehicle environments. Epec also 
manufactures measuring instruments for har-
vester heads and loader scale products, such 
as PONSSE LoadOptimizer load scales. 

Product range Product range

PONSSE Dual

PONSSE H7 PONSSE H53e
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a PONSSE H53e or EH25 harvester head, 
Dual also makes the harvesting of energy 
wood more effective.

 
Information systems, OPTI

The intelligent information and measuring 
systems included in the OPTI product fam-
ily increase the accuracy and productivity of 
wood harvesting at all stages. In 2008, Ponsse 
launched the new Opti4G information system 
that also includes a new user interface. Other 
new products include Opti5 and Opti2 com-
puters for harvester head retrofitting.

Trade-in machines

Ponsse offers a comprehensive selection of 
used forest machines for thinning and rege-
neration harvesting. Ponsse markets both its 
own and other manufacturers’ trade-in machi-
nes, and they are sold trans-nationally. Ver-
satile maintenance and upgrade services are 
available for trade-in machines.

Control systems 
and mobile machines

The main products of Ponsse’s technology 
company Epec Oy include embedded ma-
chine control systems for mobile forest ma-
chines. Epec’s intelligent and programma-
ble control units and displays are designed 
to endure extreme conditions. In demanding 
machine applications, the control system is 
supplemented by the Opti vehicle computer 
manufactured by Epec, which is suitable for 
machine and vehicle environments. Epec also 
manufactures measuring instruments for har-
vester heads and loader scale products, such 
as PONSSE LoadOptimizer load scales. 

Product range Product range

PONSSE Dual

PONSSE H7 PONSSE H53e
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General

Ponsse Group recorded net sales amounting to 
EUR 293.0 million (in 2007, EUR 310.1 mil-
lion) and an operating profit of EUR 13.6 (EUR 
37.1) million for the period. Profit before tax 
was EUR 6.3 (EUR 36.4) million. Earnings per 
share were EUR 0.16 (EUR 0.95).

Net sales

Consolidated net sales for the year amounted to 
EUR 293.0 (EUR 310.1) million, which is 5.5 
per cent less than in the comparison period. 
International business operations accounted for 
63.3 (70.6) per cent of total net sales. Net sales 
for the fourth quarter totalled EUR 76.8 (EUR 
96.1) million, which is 20.1 per cent less than 
in the previous year.

Net sales were accumulated per region as fol-
lows: Nordic countries 54.7 (47.2) per cent, the 
rest of Europe 32.0 (41.0) per cent, North and 
South America 10.8 (10.2) per cent, and other 
countries 2.5 (1.6) per cent.  

The economy quickly slowed down during the 
latter half of the year. This was also strongly 
reflected in the demand for forest machines. 
The machine sales volumes were clearly lower 
in the latter half of the year when compared 
to the previous year. The only exceptions were 
our Scandinavian main markets where business 
was satisfactory. Demand in Central Europe and 
Russia was clearly more modest during the pe-
riod than in the previous year. There were no 
significant changes in the market situation in 
North America during the period when com-
pared with the previous year. There was less 
demand than usual. The global developments 
in economy were also reflected on the new mar-
ket areas, South America and Asia. New invest-
ments in chemical wood processing were post-

poned and the existing production capacity was 
adjusted for the weaker demand.   

Profi t performance

Operating profit was EUR 13.6 (EUR 37.1) million. 
Operating profit for the fourth quarter amounted to 
EUR -4.2 (10-12/2007, EUR 13.1) million. Oper-
ating profit accounted for 4.7 (12.0) per cent of net 
sales in the period under review. Return on capital 
employed (ROCE) stood at 7.5 (37.4) per cent.

Staff costs for the period under review totalled 
EUR 48.2 (EUR 42.5) million, and other oper-
ating expenses EUR 33.6 (EUR 30.4) million. 
Net financial income and expenses totalled 
EUR -7.5 (EUR -1.7) million, of which EUR 
-2.7 (EUR -1.5) million consisted of direct fi-
nancing costs. Exchange rate gains and losses 
due to exchange rate fluctuations are recogn-
ised in financial items. Their net effect on profit 
amounts to EUR -4.8 (EUR -0,6) million. The 
negative change is primarily due to the rapid 
weakening of the Russian rouble and the Bra-
zilian real in November-December 2008.  Profit 
for the financial period totalled EUR 4.4 (EUR  
26.5) million. Diluted and undiluted earnings 
per share (EPS) were EUR 0.16 (EUR 0.95). 
The company does not have any items that 
could have a dilutive effect on the earnings 
per share.

Balance sheet and fi nancial position

At the end of the period under review, the con-
solidated balance sheet total amounted to EUR 
174.8 (EUR 153.9) million. Inventories stood at 
EUR 88.3 (EUR 65.6) million. Trade receivables 
totalled EUR 22.2 (EUR 29.3) million and liq-
uid assets stood at EUR 8.1 (EUR 12.6) million. 
Group equity stood at EUR 67.1 (EUR 76.5) mil-
lion and Parent Company equity at EUR 63.4 
(EUR 70.8) million. The amount of interest-

bearing liabilities was EUR 72.9 (33.9) million. 
The parent company’s net receivables from oth-
er Group companies stood at EUR 57.6 (41.3) 
million. The parent company’s receivables from 
subsidiaries mainly consist of current sales re-
ceivables that have been recognised at carrying 
value. As a result of losses due to restructuring 
of subsidiaries, the parent company recognised 
a credit loss of EUR 6.0 million in 2008. Con-
solidated net liabilities totalled EUR 64.6 (19.5) 
million, and the debt-equity ratio (gearing) was 
108.6 (44.4) per cent. The equity ratio stood at 
38.4 per cent (50.3 per cent) at the end of the 
period under review. 

Cash flow from business operations amounted to 
EUR -20.8 (19.0) million. Cash flow from investing 
activities amounted to EUR -8.5 (-6.4) million.

Order intake and order books

Order intake for the period totalled EUR 224.4 
(361.2) million, while period-end order books 
were valued at EUR 41.5 (110.1) million. The 
order books included dealers’ minimum purchase 
commitments, based on previous practice.

Distribution network 

As part of its adjustment and efficiency mea-
sures, the company decided to transfer the R&D 
and assembly operations of debarking harvester 
heads from Brazil to the Vieremä factory in Fin-
land. Ponsse Latin America Ltda continues its 
operations as a subsidiary providing sales and 
maintenance services. 

The business name of the Uruguayan subsidiary, 
Povery S.A., was changed to Ponsse Uruguay 
S.A. during the review period.

No other changes took place in the Group struc-
ture.

The subsidiaries included in the Ponsse Group 
are Epec Oy, Finland; OOO Ponsse, Russia; 
Ponsse AB, Sweden; Ponsse AS, Norway; Ponsse 
Asia-Pacific Ltd, Hong Kong; Ponsse China 
Ltd, China; Ponsse Latin America Ltda, Brazil; 
Ponsse North America, Inc., United States of 
America; Ponssé S.A.S., France; Ponsse UK 
Ltd, Great Britain; and Ponsse Uruguay S.A., 
Uruguay. Sunit Oy in Kajaani, Finland, is an 
affiliated company in which Ponsse Plc has a 
holding of 34 per cent.

Capital expenditure and R&D

The Group’s R&D expenses totalled EUR 7.6 
million (EUR 5.7 million) during the period un-
der review. The amount of R&D expenses capi-
talised during the period was EUR 1,230 thou-
sand (EUR 851 thousand).  

Capital expenditure totalled EUR 8.5 million 
(EUR 6.6 million). 

Investments were in particular made in the pro-
duction machinery and equipment as well as 
maintenance in the Vieremä factory and in the 
factory of the subsidiary Epec Oy. Normal main-
tenance investments were made during the pe-
riod in IT systems.

General meeting of shareholders

The Annual General Meeting was held in Vi-
eremä on 29 April 2008. The meeting dealt 
with matters stipulated in Section 10 of Ponsse 
Plc’s Articles of Association. The Annual Gen-
eral Meeting decided to distribute a dividend of 
EUR 0.50 per share for the period ending on 31 
December 2007.

The Annual General Meeting authorised the 
Board of Directors to purchase a maximum of 
250,000 of the Company’s own shares with the 
Company’s unrestricted equity. The purchase au-
thorisation is valid until the next Annual Gener-
al Meeting; however, no later than 30 June 2009. 
The Annual General Meeting also authorised the 

Board of Directors to decide on the assignment 
of a maximum of 300,000 of the Company’s own 
shares. The authorisation is also valid until the 
next Annual General Meeting; however, no later 
than 30 June 2009.

The Annual General Meeting decided to pay 
a bonus to the Company’s staff for 2007. The 
amount of the bonus was confirmed at EUR 90 
for each month of employment. 

Board of Directors and 
the company’s auditors

Ponsse Plc’s Board of Directors comprised six 
members during the financial period: Maarit 
Aarni-Sirviö, Nils Hagman, Ilkka Kylävainio, 
Seppo Remes, Einari Vidgrén and Juha Vidgrén. 
Einari Vidgrén acted as Chairman of the Board 
and Juha Vidgrén as Vice Chairman.

The Board of Directors did not establish any com-
mittees or commissions from among its members.

The Board of Directors convened eleven times 
during the financial period. The attendance rate 
was 95,0 per cent.

Ernst & Young Oy acted as the company auditors 
with Eero Huusko, Authorised Public Accoun-
tant, as the principal auditor.

Management

The following changes took place in the com-
pany’s operative management during the period 
under review: Doctor of Technology Juho Num-
mela was appointed President and CEO, Jarmo 
Vidgrén was appointed Sales and Marketing Di-
rector and Deputy CEO, and Juha Haverinen 
was appointed Factory Director. The appoint-
ments took effect on 1 June 2008.  

Doctor of Technology Juha Inberg was appointed 
the company’s R&D and Technology Director 
and member of the Management Team from 1 
January 2009. 

As of 1 July 2008, Jaakko Laurila was appointed 
Vice President responsible for the Russian re-
gion and President and CEO of OOO Ponsse.

During the period under review, the following 
persons were members of the Group Manage-
ment Team: Purchasing and Logistics Director 
Pasi Arajärvi, Factory Director Juha Haverinen 
(from 1 June 2008), Regional Director for South 
and Central Europe and President and CEO of 
Ponssé S.A.S. Tapio Ingervo (until 1 June 2008), 
Director for Strategy and Customer Cooperation 
Hannu Kivelä (from 1 June 2008 to 13 January 
2009), Communications Director Jari Mononen, 
Service Director Juhani Mäkynen, Factory Di-
rector (until 1 June 2008), President & CEO 
(from 1 June 2008) Juho Nummela, HR Direc-
tor Paula Oksman, CFO Mikko Paananen, Tech-
nology and R&D Director Seppo Taatila (until 18 
December 2008), President & CEO Arto Tiitinen 
(until 1 June 2008), and Sales and Marketing Di-
rector Jarmo Vidgrén.

During the year under review, the following per-
sons were members of the Group Sales Manage-
ment Team: Cláudio Costa (Latin America), Tapio 
Ingervo (Central and Southern Europe), Marko 
Mattila (North America),  Jaakko Laurila (Rus-
sia from 1 July 2008), Mikko Laurila (North-
ern Europe from 1 June 2008; until then, Asia, 
Oceania and Africa), Distribution Development 
Director Tapio Mertanen (from 1 June 2008), 
Service Director Juhani Mäkynen (from 1 June 
2008), President and CEO Arto Tiitinen (until 1 
June 2008), Norbert Schalkx (Asia, Oceania and 
Africa from 1 June 2008), Ville Siekkinen (Rus-
sia until 1 July 2008) and Sales and Marketing 
Director Jarmo Vidgrén (Northern Europe until 
1 June 2008, after that Head of the Sales Man-
agement Team).
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General

Ponsse Group recorded net sales amounting to 
EUR 293.0 million (in 2007, EUR 310.1 mil-
lion) and an operating profit of EUR 13.6 (EUR 
37.1) million for the period. Profit before tax 
was EUR 6.3 (EUR 36.4) million. Earnings per 
share were EUR 0.16 (EUR 0.95).

Net sales

Consolidated net sales for the year amounted to 
EUR 293.0 (EUR 310.1) million, which is 5.5 
per cent less than in the comparison period. 
International business operations accounted for 
63.3 (70.6) per cent of total net sales. Net sales 
for the fourth quarter totalled EUR 76.8 (EUR 
96.1) million, which is 20.1 per cent less than 
in the previous year.

Net sales were accumulated per region as fol-
lows: Nordic countries 54.7 (47.2) per cent, the 
rest of Europe 32.0 (41.0) per cent, North and 
South America 10.8 (10.2) per cent, and other 
countries 2.5 (1.6) per cent.  

The economy quickly slowed down during the 
latter half of the year. This was also strongly 
reflected in the demand for forest machines. 
The machine sales volumes were clearly lower 
in the latter half of the year when compared 
to the previous year. The only exceptions were 
our Scandinavian main markets where business 
was satisfactory. Demand in Central Europe and 
Russia was clearly more modest during the pe-
riod than in the previous year. There were no 
significant changes in the market situation in 
North America during the period when com-
pared with the previous year. There was less 
demand than usual. The global developments 
in economy were also reflected on the new mar-
ket areas, South America and Asia. New invest-
ments in chemical wood processing were post-

poned and the existing production capacity was 
adjusted for the weaker demand.   

Profi t performance

Operating profit was EUR 13.6 (EUR 37.1) million. 
Operating profit for the fourth quarter amounted to 
EUR -4.2 (10-12/2007, EUR 13.1) million. Oper-
ating profit accounted for 4.7 (12.0) per cent of net 
sales in the period under review. Return on capital 
employed (ROCE) stood at 7.5 (37.4) per cent.

Staff costs for the period under review totalled 
EUR 48.2 (EUR 42.5) million, and other oper-
ating expenses EUR 33.6 (EUR 30.4) million. 
Net financial income and expenses totalled 
EUR -7.5 (EUR -1.7) million, of which EUR 
-2.7 (EUR -1.5) million consisted of direct fi-
nancing costs. Exchange rate gains and losses 
due to exchange rate fluctuations are recogn-
ised in financial items. Their net effect on profit 
amounts to EUR -4.8 (EUR -0,6) million. The 
negative change is primarily due to the rapid 
weakening of the Russian rouble and the Bra-
zilian real in November-December 2008.  Profit 
for the financial period totalled EUR 4.4 (EUR  
26.5) million. Diluted and undiluted earnings 
per share (EPS) were EUR 0.16 (EUR 0.95). 
The company does not have any items that 
could have a dilutive effect on the earnings 
per share.

Balance sheet and fi nancial position

At the end of the period under review, the con-
solidated balance sheet total amounted to EUR 
174.8 (EUR 153.9) million. Inventories stood at 
EUR 88.3 (EUR 65.6) million. Trade receivables 
totalled EUR 22.2 (EUR 29.3) million and liq-
uid assets stood at EUR 8.1 (EUR 12.6) million. 
Group equity stood at EUR 67.1 (EUR 76.5) mil-
lion and Parent Company equity at EUR 63.4 
(EUR 70.8) million. The amount of interest-

bearing liabilities was EUR 72.9 (33.9) million. 
The parent company’s net receivables from oth-
er Group companies stood at EUR 57.6 (41.3) 
million. The parent company’s receivables from 
subsidiaries mainly consist of current sales re-
ceivables that have been recognised at carrying 
value. As a result of losses due to restructuring 
of subsidiaries, the parent company recognised 
a credit loss of EUR 6.0 million in 2008. Con-
solidated net liabilities totalled EUR 64.6 (19.5) 
million, and the debt-equity ratio (gearing) was 
108.6 (44.4) per cent. The equity ratio stood at 
38.4 per cent (50.3 per cent) at the end of the 
period under review. 

Cash flow from business operations amounted to 
EUR -20.8 (19.0) million. Cash flow from investing 
activities amounted to EUR -8.5 (-6.4) million.

Order intake and order books

Order intake for the period totalled EUR 224.4 
(361.2) million, while period-end order books 
were valued at EUR 41.5 (110.1) million. The 
order books included dealers’ minimum purchase 
commitments, based on previous practice.

Distribution network 

As part of its adjustment and efficiency mea-
sures, the company decided to transfer the R&D 
and assembly operations of debarking harvester 
heads from Brazil to the Vieremä factory in Fin-
land. Ponsse Latin America Ltda continues its 
operations as a subsidiary providing sales and 
maintenance services. 

The business name of the Uruguayan subsidiary, 
Povery S.A., was changed to Ponsse Uruguay 
S.A. during the review period.

No other changes took place in the Group struc-
ture.

The subsidiaries included in the Ponsse Group 
are Epec Oy, Finland; OOO Ponsse, Russia; 
Ponsse AB, Sweden; Ponsse AS, Norway; Ponsse 
Asia-Pacific Ltd, Hong Kong; Ponsse China 
Ltd, China; Ponsse Latin America Ltda, Brazil; 
Ponsse North America, Inc., United States of 
America; Ponssé S.A.S., France; Ponsse UK 
Ltd, Great Britain; and Ponsse Uruguay S.A., 
Uruguay. Sunit Oy in Kajaani, Finland, is an 
affiliated company in which Ponsse Plc has a 
holding of 34 per cent.

Capital expenditure and R&D

The Group’s R&D expenses totalled EUR 7.6 
million (EUR 5.7 million) during the period un-
der review. The amount of R&D expenses capi-
talised during the period was EUR 1,230 thou-
sand (EUR 851 thousand).  

Capital expenditure totalled EUR 8.5 million 
(EUR 6.6 million). 

Investments were in particular made in the pro-
duction machinery and equipment as well as 
maintenance in the Vieremä factory and in the 
factory of the subsidiary Epec Oy. Normal main-
tenance investments were made during the pe-
riod in IT systems.

General meeting of shareholders

The Annual General Meeting was held in Vi-
eremä on 29 April 2008. The meeting dealt 
with matters stipulated in Section 10 of Ponsse 
Plc’s Articles of Association. The Annual Gen-
eral Meeting decided to distribute a dividend of 
EUR 0.50 per share for the period ending on 31 
December 2007.

The Annual General Meeting authorised the 
Board of Directors to purchase a maximum of 
250,000 of the Company’s own shares with the 
Company’s unrestricted equity. The purchase au-
thorisation is valid until the next Annual Gener-
al Meeting; however, no later than 30 June 2009. 
The Annual General Meeting also authorised the 

Board of Directors to decide on the assignment 
of a maximum of 300,000 of the Company’s own 
shares. The authorisation is also valid until the 
next Annual General Meeting; however, no later 
than 30 June 2009.

The Annual General Meeting decided to pay 
a bonus to the Company’s staff for 2007. The 
amount of the bonus was confirmed at EUR 90 
for each month of employment. 

Board of Directors and 
the company’s auditors

Ponsse Plc’s Board of Directors comprised six 
members during the financial period: Maarit 
Aarni-Sirviö, Nils Hagman, Ilkka Kylävainio, 
Seppo Remes, Einari Vidgrén and Juha Vidgrén. 
Einari Vidgrén acted as Chairman of the Board 
and Juha Vidgrén as Vice Chairman.

The Board of Directors did not establish any com-
mittees or commissions from among its members.

The Board of Directors convened eleven times 
during the financial period. The attendance rate 
was 95,0 per cent.

Ernst & Young Oy acted as the company auditors 
with Eero Huusko, Authorised Public Accoun-
tant, as the principal auditor.

Management

The following changes took place in the com-
pany’s operative management during the period 
under review: Doctor of Technology Juho Num-
mela was appointed President and CEO, Jarmo 
Vidgrén was appointed Sales and Marketing Di-
rector and Deputy CEO, and Juha Haverinen 
was appointed Factory Director. The appoint-
ments took effect on 1 June 2008.  

Doctor of Technology Juha Inberg was appointed 
the company’s R&D and Technology Director 
and member of the Management Team from 1 
January 2009. 

As of 1 July 2008, Jaakko Laurila was appointed 
Vice President responsible for the Russian re-
gion and President and CEO of OOO Ponsse.

During the period under review, the following 
persons were members of the Group Manage-
ment Team: Purchasing and Logistics Director 
Pasi Arajärvi, Factory Director Juha Haverinen 
(from 1 June 2008), Regional Director for South 
and Central Europe and President and CEO of 
Ponssé S.A.S. Tapio Ingervo (until 1 June 2008), 
Director for Strategy and Customer Cooperation 
Hannu Kivelä (from 1 June 2008 to 13 January 
2009), Communications Director Jari Mononen, 
Service Director Juhani Mäkynen, Factory Di-
rector (until 1 June 2008), President & CEO 
(from 1 June 2008) Juho Nummela, HR Direc-
tor Paula Oksman, CFO Mikko Paananen, Tech-
nology and R&D Director Seppo Taatila (until 18 
December 2008), President & CEO Arto Tiitinen 
(until 1 June 2008), and Sales and Marketing Di-
rector Jarmo Vidgrén.

During the year under review, the following per-
sons were members of the Group Sales Manage-
ment Team: Cláudio Costa (Latin America), Tapio 
Ingervo (Central and Southern Europe), Marko 
Mattila (North America),  Jaakko Laurila (Rus-
sia from 1 July 2008), Mikko Laurila (North-
ern Europe from 1 June 2008; until then, Asia, 
Oceania and Africa), Distribution Development 
Director Tapio Mertanen (from 1 June 2008), 
Service Director Juhani Mäkynen (from 1 June 
2008), President and CEO Arto Tiitinen (until 1 
June 2008), Norbert Schalkx (Asia, Oceania and 
Africa from 1 June 2008), Ville Siekkinen (Rus-
sia until 1 July 2008) and Sales and Marketing 
Director Jarmo Vidgrén (Northern Europe until 
1 June 2008, after that Head of the Sales Man-
agement Team).
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31.12.2008 Average exchange rate 2008 31.12.2007 Average exchange rate 2007

SEK 10,87000 9,66466 9,44150 9,24748

NOK 9,75000 8,26054 7,95800 8,02527

GBP 0,95250 0,79723 0,73335 0,68607

USD 1,39170 1,47255 1,47210 1,37489

BRL 3,24360 2,67245 2,61300 2,67775

RUB 41,28300 36,69050 35,98600 35,07592

CNY 9,49560 10,24508 10,75240 10,75240
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GROSS CAPITAL EXPENDITURE,
MEUR

Personnel

The Group had an average staff of 1,044 (876) 
during the period and employed 981 (945) peo-
ple at period-end.

The negotiations pursuant to the Act on Co-oper-
ation within Undertakings, started on 16 October 
2008 at the Company’s initiative, were completed 
on 30 October 2008. As a result of the negotia-
tions, a decision was taken to implement tempo-
rary lay-offs during the period 10 December 2008 
– 15 May 2009. In Finland, these lay-offs affect 
320 workers and 125 clerical employees. 

Due to weakening demand on the market, the Com-
pany announced on 8 December 2008 that further 
employer-employee negotiations are to be started. 
The aim of the negotiations is to secure the Compa-
ny’s competitiveness and improve its profitability.   

Share performance

The trading volume of Ponsse Plc shares for 1 
January - 30 December 2008 totalled 2,715,572, 
accounting for 9.7 per cent of the total number of 
shares. Share turnover came to EUR 27.1 million, 
and the period’s lowest and highest share prices 
were EUR 4.25 and EUR 16.29, respectively.

At the end of the period, the share price stood 
at EUR 4.50 and market capitalisation totalled 
EUR 126.0 million.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company 
had 47,900 treasury shares in its possession. 

In April 2008, the Board of Directors decided to 
implement a share-based incentive scheme for 
key personnel of the Ponsse Group. The earning 
period of the scheme began on 1 January 2008 
and ends on 31 December 2010. Some 20 per-
sons are included in the scheme. Any incentive 
bonuses payable for the earning period 2008–
2010 will be paid out in 2011, partly in company 
shares and partly in cash. The part paid out in cash 
covers the taxes and tax-like levies payable for the 

incentive. The benchmarks of the scheme are the 
company’s share price (adjusted for dividends), the 
Group cash flow and net sales of maintenance ser-
vices. The incentive bonuses will correspond to a 
maximum of approximately 120,000 Ponsse shares 
(also including the part paid in cash).

Disclosure notifi cations

No such notifications of changes in share hold-
ings were brought to the Company’s attention 
during the review period that would require issu-
ing a disclosure notification referred to in Chap-
ter 2, section 9 of the Securities Markets Act.

Quality and environment

Ponsse observes in its operations the ISO 
9001:2000 quality standard, the ISO 14001 en-
vironmental system standard and the OHSAS 
18001 occupational safety and health standard, 
the first of which is certified. DNV conducted 
an audit related to the ISO 9001 quality system 
during the period.

During the year under review, an external expert 
assessed the functionality of the Company’s en-
vironmental system. Development work for the 
system continued. The Company complies with 
environmental legislation in its operations. Reg-
ulatory amendments are continuously monitored 
and the necessary actions are taken accordingly. 
In accordance with the Company’s environmen-
tal policy, Ponsse aims at developing and manu-
facturing products which in use exert as little 
load on the environment as possible.

Practices and production processes are devel-
oped through internal audits and supplier audits. 
The resources invested in auditing have been 
considerable, and they have helped the Com-
pany create new and better practices, both for its 
own operations and those of its suppliers. Pro-
duction processes are being developed utilising 
the method of continual improvement. Good re-
sults have been achieved during the period. The 
Quality Assurance system introduced early in 

the year stresses the importance of proactive 
measures. The Lean Six Sigma quality improve-
ment scheme was initiated during the year. The 
results from the first projects have been good.

The Company continued its close cooperation 
with Occupational Healthcare. The focus was on 
developing preventive OHC with active patient 
participation, using training among other mea-
sures. The sick absences of personnel working in 
Finland reduced considerably during 2008. 

The Group-level Data Security Team is respon-
sible for the general development of information 
security, maintenance of the Group information 
security policy and coordination of the informa-
tion security training.

Governance

The Company’s Board of Directors has con-
firmed the introduction of a new code of gover-
nance that entered into force on 1 January 2009. 
The code is based on the recommendation ap-
proved by the Securities Market Association in 
October 2008, entitled ”Suomen listayhtiöiden 
hallinnointikoodi (Corporate Governance)”.  

The new code of governance can be viewed on 
Ponsse’s website in the Investors section.

Risk management

The Ponsse Group’s risk management policy 
seeks to maintain and further develop a practical 
and comprehensive system for the management 
and reporting of risks. This entails a systematic 
risk assessment for each function and unit, inte-
grating risk management into the business pro-
cesses, constant quality development and dis-
seminating information on best practices.

Internal supervision constitutes an essential 
part of risk management. The Board of Direc-
tors is responsible for the organisation of the op-
erations and their adequacy, whilst the President 
and CEO is responsible for the implementation of 

supervision in practice. Methods of internal super-
vision include internal guidelines, reporting and 
various technical supervision systems related to 
activities. An internal auditor is responsible for 
the Company’s internal supervision in practice, 
and he reports to the Board of Directors.

Business risks and their management

The global uncertainty regarding economy and fi-
nances has significantly increased during the last 
few months and weeks. This uncertainty strongly 
reflects on the Company’s business; the predict-
ability of business is fundamentally lower than in 
normal circumstances. Estimates regarding the 
pace at which the economy will pick up are un-
certain. 

The declining economic trend has increased the 
risks associated with the functionality of the sub-
contractor and supplier network. Ponsse aims to 
manage and minimise these risks through part-
nership cooperation. The financial standing of 
suppliers is monitored more intensely than nor-
mal. The Company has also started the process of 
screening alternative suppliers. As part of its risk 
management efforts related to the availability of 
certain key components, the Company has cho-
sen to manufacture these components in-house.

The decreasing production and invoicing vol-
umes increase the parent company’s and sub-
sidiaries’ risk regarding business profitability. 
A Group-level adjustment programme has been 
initiated in order to stabilise the situation. It in-
volves adjusting the operating expenses for the 
changed demand. Should the markets further 
deteriorate from the current exceptionally poor 
state, further intensification and extension of the 
adjustment and efficiency measures will have 
to be considered. The parent company monitors 
the changes in asset value of Group receivables 
and their associated risk of impairment.

The developments in maintenance services and 
spare part sales have a causal link with the utili-
sation rates of machines. The general economic 
situation may lead to lower harvesting volumes 
and utilisation rates.     

The economic uncertainty has increased currency 
rate fluctuations and borrowing costs. The key 
objectives of the Company’s financing risk man-
agement include controlling the liquidity, inter-
est and currency risks. Ponsse has ensured its 
liquidity by means of credit limit agreements with 
a number of financial institutions. The Company’s 
financial liabilities are exclusively guaranteed by 
covenants. In order to minimise the impact of any 
adverse changes in interest rates the company us-
es interest rate swaps and credits tied to different 
reference rates. Derivative contracts and curren-
cy-denominated credits are used to minimise the 
adverse effects of changes in exchange rates. The 
financial unrest increases the uncertainties relat-
ed to sales receivables. The terms and conditions 
of sales against invoice and receivables monitor-
ing have been reviewed.   

Events after the period under review

The Company announced on 3 February 2009 
that the employer-employee negotiations initi-
ated on 8 December 2008 have been completed. 

The negotiations resulted in the termination of 
158 contracts of employment in Finland. In ad-
dition to the terminations, the temporary lay-offs 
will continue in 2009. The cost effects of opera-
tional adjustments will be recognised during the 
financial period of 2009.

Subsidiary company Epec Oy announced on 
5 February 2009 that it will initiate employer-
employee negotiations. The goal is to adjust the 
company’s costs to the lower demand.

Outlook for the future

The international economic situation makes it more 
difficult to predict the Company’s business opera-
tions. The revival of the forest machine markets will 
decidedly depend on the stabilisation of financial 
markets and normalisation of real economy. 

The company’s own cost-cutting measures will 
take full effect during the latter half of 2009. 
The order book is significantly smaller at the 
beginning of 2009 than the year before. 

The Company expects that the net sales for the 
first six months will be poor, probably resulting 
in an operating loss. The outlook for the latter 
half of the year is uncertain.

Financial statementsFinancial statements
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31.12.2008 Average exchange rate 2008 31.12.2007 Average exchange rate 2007

SEK 10,87000 9,66466 9,44150 9,24748
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GROSS CAPITAL EXPENDITURE,
MEUR

Personnel

The Group had an average staff of 1,044 (876) 
during the period and employed 981 (945) peo-
ple at period-end.

The negotiations pursuant to the Act on Co-oper-
ation within Undertakings, started on 16 October 
2008 at the Company’s initiative, were completed 
on 30 October 2008. As a result of the negotia-
tions, a decision was taken to implement tempo-
rary lay-offs during the period 10 December 2008 
– 15 May 2009. In Finland, these lay-offs affect 
320 workers and 125 clerical employees. 

Due to weakening demand on the market, the Com-
pany announced on 8 December 2008 that further 
employer-employee negotiations are to be started. 
The aim of the negotiations is to secure the Compa-
ny’s competitiveness and improve its profitability.   

Share performance

The trading volume of Ponsse Plc shares for 1 
January - 30 December 2008 totalled 2,715,572, 
accounting for 9.7 per cent of the total number of 
shares. Share turnover came to EUR 27.1 million, 
and the period’s lowest and highest share prices 
were EUR 4.25 and EUR 16.29, respectively.

At the end of the period, the share price stood 
at EUR 4.50 and market capitalisation totalled 
EUR 126.0 million.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company 
had 47,900 treasury shares in its possession. 

In April 2008, the Board of Directors decided to 
implement a share-based incentive scheme for 
key personnel of the Ponsse Group. The earning 
period of the scheme began on 1 January 2008 
and ends on 31 December 2010. Some 20 per-
sons are included in the scheme. Any incentive 
bonuses payable for the earning period 2008–
2010 will be paid out in 2011, partly in company 
shares and partly in cash. The part paid out in cash 
covers the taxes and tax-like levies payable for the 

incentive. The benchmarks of the scheme are the 
company’s share price (adjusted for dividends), the 
Group cash flow and net sales of maintenance ser-
vices. The incentive bonuses will correspond to a 
maximum of approximately 120,000 Ponsse shares 
(also including the part paid in cash).

Disclosure notifi cations

No such notifications of changes in share hold-
ings were brought to the Company’s attention 
during the review period that would require issu-
ing a disclosure notification referred to in Chap-
ter 2, section 9 of the Securities Markets Act.

Quality and environment

Ponsse observes in its operations the ISO 
9001:2000 quality standard, the ISO 14001 en-
vironmental system standard and the OHSAS 
18001 occupational safety and health standard, 
the first of which is certified. DNV conducted 
an audit related to the ISO 9001 quality system 
during the period.

During the year under review, an external expert 
assessed the functionality of the Company’s en-
vironmental system. Development work for the 
system continued. The Company complies with 
environmental legislation in its operations. Reg-
ulatory amendments are continuously monitored 
and the necessary actions are taken accordingly. 
In accordance with the Company’s environmen-
tal policy, Ponsse aims at developing and manu-
facturing products which in use exert as little 
load on the environment as possible.

Practices and production processes are devel-
oped through internal audits and supplier audits. 
The resources invested in auditing have been 
considerable, and they have helped the Com-
pany create new and better practices, both for its 
own operations and those of its suppliers. Pro-
duction processes are being developed utilising 
the method of continual improvement. Good re-
sults have been achieved during the period. The 
Quality Assurance system introduced early in 

the year stresses the importance of proactive 
measures. The Lean Six Sigma quality improve-
ment scheme was initiated during the year. The 
results from the first projects have been good.

The Company continued its close cooperation 
with Occupational Healthcare. The focus was on 
developing preventive OHC with active patient 
participation, using training among other mea-
sures. The sick absences of personnel working in 
Finland reduced considerably during 2008. 

The Group-level Data Security Team is respon-
sible for the general development of information 
security, maintenance of the Group information 
security policy and coordination of the informa-
tion security training.

Governance

The Company’s Board of Directors has con-
firmed the introduction of a new code of gover-
nance that entered into force on 1 January 2009. 
The code is based on the recommendation ap-
proved by the Securities Market Association in 
October 2008, entitled ”Suomen listayhtiöiden 
hallinnointikoodi (Corporate Governance)”.  

The new code of governance can be viewed on 
Ponsse’s website in the Investors section.

Risk management

The Ponsse Group’s risk management policy 
seeks to maintain and further develop a practical 
and comprehensive system for the management 
and reporting of risks. This entails a systematic 
risk assessment for each function and unit, inte-
grating risk management into the business pro-
cesses, constant quality development and dis-
seminating information on best practices.

Internal supervision constitutes an essential 
part of risk management. The Board of Direc-
tors is responsible for the organisation of the op-
erations and their adequacy, whilst the President 
and CEO is responsible for the implementation of 

supervision in practice. Methods of internal super-
vision include internal guidelines, reporting and 
various technical supervision systems related to 
activities. An internal auditor is responsible for 
the Company’s internal supervision in practice, 
and he reports to the Board of Directors.

Business risks and their management

The global uncertainty regarding economy and fi-
nances has significantly increased during the last 
few months and weeks. This uncertainty strongly 
reflects on the Company’s business; the predict-
ability of business is fundamentally lower than in 
normal circumstances. Estimates regarding the 
pace at which the economy will pick up are un-
certain. 

The declining economic trend has increased the 
risks associated with the functionality of the sub-
contractor and supplier network. Ponsse aims to 
manage and minimise these risks through part-
nership cooperation. The financial standing of 
suppliers is monitored more intensely than nor-
mal. The Company has also started the process of 
screening alternative suppliers. As part of its risk 
management efforts related to the availability of 
certain key components, the Company has cho-
sen to manufacture these components in-house.

The decreasing production and invoicing vol-
umes increase the parent company’s and sub-
sidiaries’ risk regarding business profitability. 
A Group-level adjustment programme has been 
initiated in order to stabilise the situation. It in-
volves adjusting the operating expenses for the 
changed demand. Should the markets further 
deteriorate from the current exceptionally poor 
state, further intensification and extension of the 
adjustment and efficiency measures will have 
to be considered. The parent company monitors 
the changes in asset value of Group receivables 
and their associated risk of impairment.

The developments in maintenance services and 
spare part sales have a causal link with the utili-
sation rates of machines. The general economic 
situation may lead to lower harvesting volumes 
and utilisation rates.     

The economic uncertainty has increased currency 
rate fluctuations and borrowing costs. The key 
objectives of the Company’s financing risk man-
agement include controlling the liquidity, inter-
est and currency risks. Ponsse has ensured its 
liquidity by means of credit limit agreements with 
a number of financial institutions. The Company’s 
financial liabilities are exclusively guaranteed by 
covenants. In order to minimise the impact of any 
adverse changes in interest rates the company us-
es interest rate swaps and credits tied to different 
reference rates. Derivative contracts and curren-
cy-denominated credits are used to minimise the 
adverse effects of changes in exchange rates. The 
financial unrest increases the uncertainties relat-
ed to sales receivables. The terms and conditions 
of sales against invoice and receivables monitor-
ing have been reviewed.   

Events after the period under review

The Company announced on 3 February 2009 
that the employer-employee negotiations initi-
ated on 8 December 2008 have been completed. 

The negotiations resulted in the termination of 
158 contracts of employment in Finland. In ad-
dition to the terminations, the temporary lay-offs 
will continue in 2009. The cost effects of opera-
tional adjustments will be recognised during the 
financial period of 2009.

Subsidiary company Epec Oy announced on 
5 February 2009 that it will initiate employer-
employee negotiations. The goal is to adjust the 
company’s costs to the lower demand.

Outlook for the future

The international economic situation makes it more 
difficult to predict the Company’s business opera-
tions. The revival of the forest machine markets will 
decidedly depend on the stabilisation of financial 
markets and normalisation of real economy. 

The company’s own cost-cutting measures will 
take full effect during the latter half of 2009. 
The order book is significantly smaller at the 
beginning of 2009 than the year before. 

The Company expects that the net sales for the 
first six months will be poor, probably resulting 
in an operating loss. The outlook for the latter 
half of the year is uncertain.
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CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

Eur 1,000 Note(1 2008 2007

Net sales 1 293,015 310,053

Increase (+)/decrease (-) in inventories of fi nished goods and work in progress 7,885 2,159

Other operating income 5 2,608 1,326

Raw materials and services -203,082 -199,253

Expenditure on employment-related benefi ts 8, 35 -48,175 -42,538

Depreciation and amortisation 7 -5,037 -4,270

Other operating expenses 6 -33,586 -30,398

Operating profi t 13,628 37,080

Share of results of associated companies 91 1,002

Financial income 10 15,279 6,203

Financial expenses 11 -22,740 -7,901

Earnings before tax 6,258 36,384

Income taxes 12 -1,907 -9,907

Profi t for the period 4,351 26,477

Earnings per share calculated from the profi t belonging to parent company shareholders:

undiluted earnings per share (EUR) 13 0,16 0,95

earnings per share adjusted for dilution (EUR) 13 0,16 0,95

1) The note refers to the Notes to the Accounts on pages 42-64.

Eur 1,000

ASSETS Note(1 2008 2007

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 15 6,123 4,262

Goodwill 15 3,683 3,737

Property, plant and equipment 14 27,558 25,946

Financial assets 18, 31 109 128

Holdings in associated companies 17 1,889 2,156

Non-current receivables 19 1,820 403

Deferred tax assets 20 3,121 1,686

Total non-current assets 44,303 38,318

Current assets

Inventories 21 88,308 65,635

Trade receivables 22, 31 22,155 29,276

Income tax receivables 5,023 861

Other current receivables 22, 31 6,916 7,191

Liquid assets 23, 31 8,095 12,633

Total current assets 130,497 115,595

TOTAL ASSETS 174,800 153,914

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Note(1 2008 2007

Capital and reserves 24

Share capital 7,000 7,000

Other reserves -646 19

Translation differences -1,725 -943

Retained earnings 62,484 70,456

Shareholders' equity belonging to parent company shareholders 67,113 76,532

Minority interest 0 0

Total shareholders' equity 67,113 76,532

Non-current liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities 28, 31 26,140 16,717

Deferred tax liabilities 20 556 768

Other non-current liabilities 29, 31 861 30

Total non-current liabilities 27,556 17,515

Current liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities 28, 31 46,769 17,225

Provisions 27 6,058 4,341

Tax liabilities for the period 76 1 752

Trade creditors and other current liabilities 29, 31 27,228 36,548

Total current liabilities 80,131 59,867

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 174,800 153,914

1) The note refers to the Notes to the Accounts on pages 42-64.

Consolidated fi nancial statements (IFRS)Consolidated fi nancial statements (IFRS)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT CHANGES IN CONSOLIDATED SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY    

Eur 1,000 Note(1 2008 2007

Business operations: 

Profi t for the period 4,351 26,477

Adjustments:

Financial income and expenses 7,462 1,698

Share of the result of associated companies -91 -1,002

Depreciation and amortisation 5,037 4,270

Income taxes 2,378 9,897

Other adjustments -1,827 -717

Cash fl ow before change in working capital 17,308 40,623

Change in working capital:

Increase(-)/decrease(+) in current non-interest-bearing receivables 7,086 -13,091

Increase(-)/decrease(+) in stocks -22,673 -7,020

Increase(+)/decrease(-) in current non-interest-bearing liabilities -9,718 8,220

Change in provisions for liabilities and charges 1,717 824

Interest received 281 298

Interest paid -2,450 -1,463

Other fi nancial items -4,966 -505

Income taxes paid -7,355 -8,886

Net cash fl ow from business operations (A) -20,770 19,001

Investments:

Investments in tangible and intangible assets -8,509 -6,565

Investments in other assets 27 -14

Dividends received 0 178

Cash outfl ow from investing activities (B) -8,481 -6,401

Financing:

Withdrawal/repayment of current loans 29,422 8,855

Increase(-)/decrease(+) in current interest-bearing receivables 309 -93

Withdrawal/repayment of non-current loans 10,253 -5,735

Payment of fi nance lease liabilities, IAS 17, IAS 18 122 -116

Increase (-)/decrease (+) in non-current receivables -1,417 -239

Dividends paid and other distribution of profi t -13,976 -11,200

Net cash fl ow from fi nancing (C) 24,713 -8,529

Increase (+)/decrease (-) in liquid assets (A+B+C) -4,538 4,071

Liquid assets 1 Jan 12,633 8,562

Liquid assets 31 Dec 23 8,095 12,633

1) The note refers to the Notes to the Accounts on pages 42-64. 

Minority
interest

Capital and 
reserves 

total

Eur 1,000 Share capital Share premium 
account

and other reserves

Translation 
differences

Own 
shares

Retained 
earnings

Total

Shareholders' equity, 
1 Jan 2008 7,000 20 -943 0 70,455 76,532 0 76,532

Translation differences 0 0 -783 0 1,654 871 0 871

Net income recognised directly 
in equity 0 0 -783 0 1,654 871 0 871

Net profi t for the period 0 0 0 0 4,351 4,351 0 4,351

Total income and expenses 
recognised during the period 0 0 -783 0 6,005 5,222 0 5,222

Dividend distribution 0 0 0 0 -13,976 -13,976 0 -13,976

Purchase of the company's own 
shares 0 0 0 -665 0 -665 0 -665

Shareholders' equity, 
31 Dec 2008 7,000 20 -1,726 -665 62,484 67,113 0 67,113

Shareholders' equity, 
1 Jan 2007 7,000 20 -750 0 54,887 61,157 0 61,157

Translation differences 0 0 -193 0 291 98 0 98

Net income recognised directly 
in equity 0 0 -193 0 291 98 0 98

Net profi t for the period 0 0 0 0 26,477 26,477 0 26,477

Total income and expenses 
recognised during the period 0 0 -193 0 26,768 26,575 0 26,575

Dividend distribution 0 0 0 0 -11,200 -11,200 0 -11,200

Purchase of the company's own 
shares 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Shareholders' equity, 
31 Dec 2007 7 000 20 -943 0 70 455 76 532 0 76 532

  Attributable to equity holders of the parent company  
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT CHANGES IN CONSOLIDATED SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY    

Eur 1,000 Note(1 2008 2007

Business operations: 

Profi t for the period 4,351 26,477

Adjustments:

Financial income and expenses 7,462 1,698

Share of the result of associated companies -91 -1,002

Depreciation and amortisation 5,037 4,270

Income taxes 2,378 9,897

Other adjustments -1,827 -717

Cash fl ow before change in working capital 17,308 40,623

Change in working capital:

Increase(-)/decrease(+) in current non-interest-bearing receivables 7,086 -13,091

Increase(-)/decrease(+) in stocks -22,673 -7,020

Increase(+)/decrease(-) in current non-interest-bearing liabilities -9,718 8,220

Change in provisions for liabilities and charges 1,717 824

Interest received 281 298

Interest paid -2,450 -1,463

Other fi nancial items -4,966 -505

Income taxes paid -7,355 -8,886

Net cash fl ow from business operations (A) -20,770 19,001

Investments:

Investments in tangible and intangible assets -8,509 -6,565

Investments in other assets 27 -14

Dividends received 0 178

Cash outfl ow from investing activities (B) -8,481 -6,401

Financing:

Withdrawal/repayment of current loans 29,422 8,855

Increase(-)/decrease(+) in current interest-bearing receivables 309 -93

Withdrawal/repayment of non-current loans 10,253 -5,735

Payment of fi nance lease liabilities, IAS 17, IAS 18 122 -116

Increase (-)/decrease (+) in non-current receivables -1,417 -239

Dividends paid and other distribution of profi t -13,976 -11,200

Net cash fl ow from fi nancing (C) 24,713 -8,529

Increase (+)/decrease (-) in liquid assets (A+B+C) -4,538 4,071

Liquid assets 1 Jan 12,633 8,562

Liquid assets 31 Dec 23 8,095 12,633

1) The note refers to the Notes to the Accounts on pages 42-64. 

Minority
interest

Capital and 
reserves 

total

Eur 1,000 Share capital Share premium 
account

and other reserves

Translation 
differences

Own 
shares

Retained 
earnings

Total

Shareholders' equity, 
1 Jan 2008 7,000 20 -943 0 70,455 76,532 0 76,532

Translation differences 0 0 -783 0 1,654 871 0 871

Net income recognised directly 
in equity 0 0 -783 0 1,654 871 0 871

Net profi t for the period 0 0 0 0 4,351 4,351 0 4,351

Total income and expenses 
recognised during the period 0 0 -783 0 6,005 5,222 0 5,222

Dividend distribution 0 0 0 0 -13,976 -13,976 0 -13,976

Purchase of the company's own 
shares 0 0 0 -665 0 -665 0 -665

Shareholders' equity, 
31 Dec 2008 7,000 20 -1,726 -665 62,484 67,113 0 67,113

Shareholders' equity, 
1 Jan 2007 7,000 20 -750 0 54,887 61,157 0 61,157

Translation differences 0 0 -193 0 291 98 0 98

Net income recognised directly 
in equity 0 0 -193 0 291 98 0 98

Net profi t for the period 0 0 0 0 26,477 26,477 0 26,477

Total income and expenses 
recognised during the period 0 0 -193 0 26,768 26,575 0 26,575

Dividend distribution 0 0 0 0 -11,200 -11,200 0 -11,200

Purchase of the company's own 
shares 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Shareholders' equity, 
31 Dec 2007 7 000 20 -943 0 70 455 76 532 0 76 532

  Attributable to equity holders of the parent company  
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Basic information on the Company

Ponsse Group is a sales, maintenance and tech-
nology company committed to creating success 
for its customers, and determined to secure its 
position as a global leader in the field of en-
vironmentally friendly cut-to-length forest ma-
chines. The Ponsse Group includes the par-
ent company Ponsse Plc as well as the whol-
ly-owned subsidiaries Ponsse AB in Sweden, 
Ponsse AS in Norway, Ponssé S.A.S. in France, 
Ponsse UK Ltd. in Great Britain, Ponsse North 
America Inc. in the United States, Ponsse Latin 
America Ltda in Brazil, OOO Ponsse in Russia, 
Ponsse Asia-Pacific Ltd in Hong Kong, Ponsse 
China Ltd in China, Ponsse Uruguay S.A. in 
Uruguay and Epec Oy in Seinäjoki, Finland. 
Furthermore, the Group includes Sunit Oy in 
Kajaani, which is Ponsse Plc’s associate with a 
holding of 34 per cent.

The Group’s parent company is Ponsse Plc, a 
Finnish public limited company established 
in accordance with Finnish legislation. Ponsse 
Plc’s shares are listed on the OMX Nordic 
List. The parent company is headquartered in 
Vieremä and its registered address is Pons-
sentie 22, 74200 Vieremä.

Copies of the consolidated financial statements 
are available on the Internet at www.ponsse.com 
and can be requested from the Group’s head of-
fice at Ponssentie 22, 74200 Vieremä.

Ponsse Plc’s Board of Directors approved the 
disclosure of these financial statements at its 
meeting on 10 January 2009. According to the 
Finnish Companies Act, shareholders have the 
option to approve or reject the financial state-
ments at a General Meeting of Shareholders to 
be held after the disclosure. The General Meet-
ing of Shareholders may also amend the finan-
cial statements.
 

Accounting policies

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared in compliance with the Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), 
observing the IAS and IFRS standards as well 

as SIC and IFRIC interpretations valid on 31 De-
cember 2008. In the Finnish Accounting Act and 
regulations enacted by virtue of the Act, Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards refer to 
the standards approved for use in the European 
Union in accordance with the procedure speci-
fied in the EU regulation (EC) No 1606/2002. 
The notes to the financial statements are also in 
compliance with Finnish legislation concerning 
accounting and corporate law.

The information in the consolidated financial 
statements is presented in thousands of euro 
and is based on original acquisition costs, with 
the exception of derivative contracts and share-
based payments that are measured at fair value. 
The financial statements have been presented in 
accordance with the profit and loss account by 
type of expense.

From 1 January 2008, the group has applied the 
following new interpretation:

– IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 – Group and treasury 
share transactions (applicable to financial pe-
riods starting on or after 1 March 2007). The in-
terpretation clarifies the scope of application of 
regulations concerning transactions payable in 
equity (IFRS 2) and requires that such transac-
tions be re-assessed in subsidiary companies. 
The interpretation has not had any impact on 
the Group’s financial statements.

Preparation of financial statements in ac-
cordance with IFRS standards requires the 
Group’s management to make certain esti-
mates and considerations with regard to appli-
cation of the accounting policies. Information 
on considerations made by management with 
regard to application of the Group’s account-
ing policies that have the most significant ef-
fect on the figures presented in the financial 
statements is presented in the Section “Ac-
counting policies requiring consideration by 
management and crucial factors of uncertainty 
associated with estimates”.

Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements include 
the parent company Ponsse Plc and all of its 
subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities in which 

the Group exercises control. A position of con-
trol arises when the Group holds more than one 
half of the voting rights or otherwise controls the 
entity. Control refers to the right to define the 
principles of the finances and business opera-
tions of an entity in order to gain benefit from 
its operations.

Intra-Group shareholdings have been elimi-
nated using the purchase method. Acquired 
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated 
financial statements as of the date the Group 
acquired a position of control, and divested sub-
sidiaries are included until the date the Group’s 
control is discontinued. All intra-Group busi-
ness transactions, receivables, liabilities, un-
realised gains and internal profit distributions 
are eliminated during the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised 
losses are not eliminated if they are caused by 
impairment. 

Associates
Associates are entities in which the Group exer-
cises significant power. Significant power arises 
when the Group holds more than 20% of the 
voting rights in an entity or the Group other-
wise has significant power but no position of 
control. Associates are consolidated using the 
equity method. If the Group’s share of an associ-
ate’s loss exceeds the book value of the invest-
ment, the investment is recognised in the bal-
ance sheet at zero value and loss exceeding the 
book value is not consolidated unless the Group 
is committed to the fulfilment of the associate’s 
obligations. An investment in an associate in-
cludes the goodwill arising from its acquisition. 
A share of associate profits corresponding to the 
Group’s share of holding is presented as a sepa-
rate item after operating profit.

Foreign currency translation
The figures indicating the earnings and finan-
cial position of Group entities are measured in 
the currency of each unit’s primary operating 
environment (“functional currency”). The con-
solidated financial statements are presented in 
euro, which is the operating and presentation 
currency of the Group’s parent company.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Transactions denominated in a foreign 
currency
Transactions denominated in a foreign currency 
have been converted into the functional currency 
at the exchange rate valid on the transaction date. 
In practice, the applicable exchange rate is often 
a near estimate of the rate valid on the transaction 
date. Monetary items in a foreign currency have 
been converted into the functional currency at the 
exchange rates valid on the balance sheet date. 
Non-monetary items in a foreign currency are mea-
sured at the exchange rates valid on the transaction 
date. Gains and losses originating from business 
transactions in a foreign currency and the conver-
sion of monetary items are recognised on the profit 
and loss account. Exchange rate gains and losses 
from operations, as well as exchange rate gains and 
losses on foreign currency loans, are included in 
financial income and expenses.

Conversion of the financial statements of 
foreign Group companies
The income and expense items in the profit and 
loss accounts of non-Finnish consolidated com-
panies have been converted into euro at the aver-
age exchange rate of the period, and their balance 
sheets have been converted at the exchange rate 
quoted on the balance sheet date. The different 
exchange rates applicable to the conversion of 
profit on the profit and loss account and balance 
sheet result in a translation difference recognised 
in shareholders’ equity. Translation differences 
arising from the elimination of the acquisition 
cost of foreign subsidiaries, as well as transla-
tion differences in equity items accumulated af-
ter the acquisition, are recognised in sharehold-
ers’ equity. When a subsidiary is divested in full 
or in part, accumulated translation differences 
are recognised on the profit and loss account as 
part of the sales gain or loss. In accordance with 
the exemption allowed by the IFRS 1 standard, 
translation differences incurred before 1 Janu-
ary 2004, which was the Group’s IFRS transition 
date, have been recognised as accrued earnings 
in connection with the IFRS transition and will 
not be recognised on the profit and loss account 
in connection with any subsequent divestment of 
a subsidiary. Starting from the date of transition, 
any translation differences arising in connection 
with the preparation of the consolidated finan-
cial statements are presented as a separate item 
within shareholders’ equity.  

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recognised at 
original cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses.

Asset items are depreciated by the straight-line 
method over their estimated useful life. Depre-
ciation is not booked on land areas. Estimated 
useful lives are the following:

Buildings..................................... 20 years
Machinery and equipment........... 3 to 10 years

The residual value and useful life of asset items 
is reviewed upon each closing of the accounts 
and adjusted if necessary to reflect any changes 
in the expected economic benefit.

Depreciation on a property, plant or equipment 
item will be discontinued when the item is clas-
sified as available for sale in accordance with 
the standard IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held 
for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Sales gains and losses arising from the decom-
missioning and transfer of property, plant and 
equipment items are included in other operating 
income or other operating expenses.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as expenses in 
the period during which they have arisen.

Public subsidies
Public subsidies, such as government grants as-
sociated with the acquisition of property, plant 
and equipment items, are recognised as de-
ductions in the book values of property, plant 
and equipment items when it is reasonably cer-
tain that the subsidies will be received and the 
Group fulfils the preconditions for receiving 
such subsidies. The subsidies will be recogn-
ised as income through reduced depreciation 
over the useful life of the item. Subsidies re-
ceived as compensation for realised costs are 
recognised on the profit and loss account at the 
same time as the associated costs are recognised 
as expenses. Such subsidies are presented in 
other operating income.

Intangible assets

Goodwill
Goodwill corresponds to the share of acquisi-
tion cost of an entity acquired after 1 January 
2004 that exceeds the Group’s share of the net 
fair value of the entity’s identifiable assets, li-
abilities and conditional liabilities on the date 
of acquisition. The Group has not had any good-
will arising from business combinations carried 
out before 2004.

No regular amortisation is booked on goodwill 
but it is tested annually for impairment. For this 
purpose, goodwill is allocated to cash-generating 
units. Goodwill is recognised at original cost de-
ducted by impairment.

R&D expenditure
Research costs are recognised as expenses on 
the profit and loss account. Development costs 
arising from the design of new or more advanced 
products are capitalised as intangible assets in 
the balance sheet starting from the time the prod-
uct is technically feasible, it can be utilised com-
mercially, and future economic benefit is expect-
ed from the product. Capitalised development 
expenditure consists of the costs of materials, 
labour and testing arising directly from the prep-
aration of an asset for its intended use. Devel-
opment costs previously recognised as expenses 
will not be subsequently capitalised.

Amortisation is booked on an item starting from 
the time it is ready for use. An item that is not 
yet ready for use is tested annually for impair-
ment. After initial recognition, capitalised devel-
opment expenditure is measured at original cost 
less accumulated amortisation and impairment. 
The useful life of capitalised development ex-
penditure is five to ten years, during which the 
capitalised expenditure will be recognised as ex-
penses by straight-line amortisation.

Other intangible assets
An intangible asset item is only recognised in the 
balance sheet at original cost if its acquisition 
cost can be reliably determined and it is prob-
able that the expected economic benefit from the 
item will be to the company’s advantage.

Intangible assets with a limited useful life are 
recognised as expenses on the profit and loss 
account by straight-line amortisation over their 
known or estimated useful life.  The Group does 
not have any intangible assets with an unlimited 
useful life.

The amortisation periods for intangible assets 
are the following:

Capitalised development 
expenditure........................ 5 to 10 years
Patents............................... 5 years
Computer software............. 5 years
Other intangible assets...... 5 to 10 years
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Basic information on the Company

Ponsse Group is a sales, maintenance and tech-
nology company committed to creating success 
for its customers, and determined to secure its 
position as a global leader in the field of en-
vironmentally friendly cut-to-length forest ma-
chines. The Ponsse Group includes the par-
ent company Ponsse Plc as well as the whol-
ly-owned subsidiaries Ponsse AB in Sweden, 
Ponsse AS in Norway, Ponssé S.A.S. in France, 
Ponsse UK Ltd. in Great Britain, Ponsse North 
America Inc. in the United States, Ponsse Latin 
America Ltda in Brazil, OOO Ponsse in Russia, 
Ponsse Asia-Pacific Ltd in Hong Kong, Ponsse 
China Ltd in China, Ponsse Uruguay S.A. in 
Uruguay and Epec Oy in Seinäjoki, Finland. 
Furthermore, the Group includes Sunit Oy in 
Kajaani, which is Ponsse Plc’s associate with a 
holding of 34 per cent.

The Group’s parent company is Ponsse Plc, a 
Finnish public limited company established 
in accordance with Finnish legislation. Ponsse 
Plc’s shares are listed on the OMX Nordic 
List. The parent company is headquartered in 
Vieremä and its registered address is Pons-
sentie 22, 74200 Vieremä.

Copies of the consolidated financial statements 
are available on the Internet at www.ponsse.com 
and can be requested from the Group’s head of-
fice at Ponssentie 22, 74200 Vieremä.

Ponsse Plc’s Board of Directors approved the 
disclosure of these financial statements at its 
meeting on 10 January 2009. According to the 
Finnish Companies Act, shareholders have the 
option to approve or reject the financial state-
ments at a General Meeting of Shareholders to 
be held after the disclosure. The General Meet-
ing of Shareholders may also amend the finan-
cial statements.
 

Accounting policies

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared in compliance with the Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), 
observing the IAS and IFRS standards as well 

as SIC and IFRIC interpretations valid on 31 De-
cember 2008. In the Finnish Accounting Act and 
regulations enacted by virtue of the Act, Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards refer to 
the standards approved for use in the European 
Union in accordance with the procedure speci-
fied in the EU regulation (EC) No 1606/2002. 
The notes to the financial statements are also in 
compliance with Finnish legislation concerning 
accounting and corporate law.

The information in the consolidated financial 
statements is presented in thousands of euro 
and is based on original acquisition costs, with 
the exception of derivative contracts and share-
based payments that are measured at fair value. 
The financial statements have been presented in 
accordance with the profit and loss account by 
type of expense.

From 1 January 2008, the group has applied the 
following new interpretation:

– IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 – Group and treasury 
share transactions (applicable to financial pe-
riods starting on or after 1 March 2007). The in-
terpretation clarifies the scope of application of 
regulations concerning transactions payable in 
equity (IFRS 2) and requires that such transac-
tions be re-assessed in subsidiary companies. 
The interpretation has not had any impact on 
the Group’s financial statements.

Preparation of financial statements in ac-
cordance with IFRS standards requires the 
Group’s management to make certain esti-
mates and considerations with regard to appli-
cation of the accounting policies. Information 
on considerations made by management with 
regard to application of the Group’s account-
ing policies that have the most significant ef-
fect on the figures presented in the financial 
statements is presented in the Section “Ac-
counting policies requiring consideration by 
management and crucial factors of uncertainty 
associated with estimates”.

Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements include 
the parent company Ponsse Plc and all of its 
subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities in which 

the Group exercises control. A position of con-
trol arises when the Group holds more than one 
half of the voting rights or otherwise controls the 
entity. Control refers to the right to define the 
principles of the finances and business opera-
tions of an entity in order to gain benefit from 
its operations.

Intra-Group shareholdings have been elimi-
nated using the purchase method. Acquired 
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated 
financial statements as of the date the Group 
acquired a position of control, and divested sub-
sidiaries are included until the date the Group’s 
control is discontinued. All intra-Group busi-
ness transactions, receivables, liabilities, un-
realised gains and internal profit distributions 
are eliminated during the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised 
losses are not eliminated if they are caused by 
impairment. 

Associates
Associates are entities in which the Group exer-
cises significant power. Significant power arises 
when the Group holds more than 20% of the 
voting rights in an entity or the Group other-
wise has significant power but no position of 
control. Associates are consolidated using the 
equity method. If the Group’s share of an associ-
ate’s loss exceeds the book value of the invest-
ment, the investment is recognised in the bal-
ance sheet at zero value and loss exceeding the 
book value is not consolidated unless the Group 
is committed to the fulfilment of the associate’s 
obligations. An investment in an associate in-
cludes the goodwill arising from its acquisition. 
A share of associate profits corresponding to the 
Group’s share of holding is presented as a sepa-
rate item after operating profit.

Foreign currency translation
The figures indicating the earnings and finan-
cial position of Group entities are measured in 
the currency of each unit’s primary operating 
environment (“functional currency”). The con-
solidated financial statements are presented in 
euro, which is the operating and presentation 
currency of the Group’s parent company.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Transactions denominated in a foreign 
currency
Transactions denominated in a foreign currency 
have been converted into the functional currency 
at the exchange rate valid on the transaction date. 
In practice, the applicable exchange rate is often 
a near estimate of the rate valid on the transaction 
date. Monetary items in a foreign currency have 
been converted into the functional currency at the 
exchange rates valid on the balance sheet date. 
Non-monetary items in a foreign currency are mea-
sured at the exchange rates valid on the transaction 
date. Gains and losses originating from business 
transactions in a foreign currency and the conver-
sion of monetary items are recognised on the profit 
and loss account. Exchange rate gains and losses 
from operations, as well as exchange rate gains and 
losses on foreign currency loans, are included in 
financial income and expenses.

Conversion of the financial statements of 
foreign Group companies
The income and expense items in the profit and 
loss accounts of non-Finnish consolidated com-
panies have been converted into euro at the aver-
age exchange rate of the period, and their balance 
sheets have been converted at the exchange rate 
quoted on the balance sheet date. The different 
exchange rates applicable to the conversion of 
profit on the profit and loss account and balance 
sheet result in a translation difference recognised 
in shareholders’ equity. Translation differences 
arising from the elimination of the acquisition 
cost of foreign subsidiaries, as well as transla-
tion differences in equity items accumulated af-
ter the acquisition, are recognised in sharehold-
ers’ equity. When a subsidiary is divested in full 
or in part, accumulated translation differences 
are recognised on the profit and loss account as 
part of the sales gain or loss. In accordance with 
the exemption allowed by the IFRS 1 standard, 
translation differences incurred before 1 Janu-
ary 2004, which was the Group’s IFRS transition 
date, have been recognised as accrued earnings 
in connection with the IFRS transition and will 
not be recognised on the profit and loss account 
in connection with any subsequent divestment of 
a subsidiary. Starting from the date of transition, 
any translation differences arising in connection 
with the preparation of the consolidated finan-
cial statements are presented as a separate item 
within shareholders’ equity.  

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recognised at 
original cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses.

Asset items are depreciated by the straight-line 
method over their estimated useful life. Depre-
ciation is not booked on land areas. Estimated 
useful lives are the following:

Buildings..................................... 20 years
Machinery and equipment........... 3 to 10 years

The residual value and useful life of asset items 
is reviewed upon each closing of the accounts 
and adjusted if necessary to reflect any changes 
in the expected economic benefit.

Depreciation on a property, plant or equipment 
item will be discontinued when the item is clas-
sified as available for sale in accordance with 
the standard IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held 
for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Sales gains and losses arising from the decom-
missioning and transfer of property, plant and 
equipment items are included in other operating 
income or other operating expenses.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as expenses in 
the period during which they have arisen.

Public subsidies
Public subsidies, such as government grants as-
sociated with the acquisition of property, plant 
and equipment items, are recognised as de-
ductions in the book values of property, plant 
and equipment items when it is reasonably cer-
tain that the subsidies will be received and the 
Group fulfils the preconditions for receiving 
such subsidies. The subsidies will be recogn-
ised as income through reduced depreciation 
over the useful life of the item. Subsidies re-
ceived as compensation for realised costs are 
recognised on the profit and loss account at the 
same time as the associated costs are recognised 
as expenses. Such subsidies are presented in 
other operating income.

Intangible assets

Goodwill
Goodwill corresponds to the share of acquisi-
tion cost of an entity acquired after 1 January 
2004 that exceeds the Group’s share of the net 
fair value of the entity’s identifiable assets, li-
abilities and conditional liabilities on the date 
of acquisition. The Group has not had any good-
will arising from business combinations carried 
out before 2004.

No regular amortisation is booked on goodwill 
but it is tested annually for impairment. For this 
purpose, goodwill is allocated to cash-generating 
units. Goodwill is recognised at original cost de-
ducted by impairment.

R&D expenditure
Research costs are recognised as expenses on 
the profit and loss account. Development costs 
arising from the design of new or more advanced 
products are capitalised as intangible assets in 
the balance sheet starting from the time the prod-
uct is technically feasible, it can be utilised com-
mercially, and future economic benefit is expect-
ed from the product. Capitalised development 
expenditure consists of the costs of materials, 
labour and testing arising directly from the prep-
aration of an asset for its intended use. Devel-
opment costs previously recognised as expenses 
will not be subsequently capitalised.

Amortisation is booked on an item starting from 
the time it is ready for use. An item that is not 
yet ready for use is tested annually for impair-
ment. After initial recognition, capitalised devel-
opment expenditure is measured at original cost 
less accumulated amortisation and impairment. 
The useful life of capitalised development ex-
penditure is five to ten years, during which the 
capitalised expenditure will be recognised as ex-
penses by straight-line amortisation.

Other intangible assets
An intangible asset item is only recognised in the 
balance sheet at original cost if its acquisition 
cost can be reliably determined and it is prob-
able that the expected economic benefit from the 
item will be to the company’s advantage.

Intangible assets with a limited useful life are 
recognised as expenses on the profit and loss 
account by straight-line amortisation over their 
known or estimated useful life.  The Group does 
not have any intangible assets with an unlimited 
useful life.

The amortisation periods for intangible assets 
are the following:

Capitalised development 
expenditure........................ 5 to 10 years
Patents............................... 5 years
Computer software............. 5 years
Other intangible assets...... 5 to 10 years

Consolidated fi nancial statements (IFRS)Consolidated fi nancial statements (IFRS)
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Inventories

Stocks are valued at acquisition cost or a lower 
probable net realisable value. The Standard Cost 
method is used as a basis for calculating the value 
of materials and supplies in stock. The acquisi-
tion cost of finished products and work in prog-
ress comprises raw materials, direct expenses due 
to work performed, other direct expenses, and the 
appropriate proportion of the variable and fixed 
overheads of manufacturing at the normal utilised 
capacity. The inventory of second-hand machines 
is valued at acquisition cost or a lower probable 
net realisable value. Net realisable value refers to 
an estimated sales price available through normal 
business operations less the estimated costs of fin-
ishing the product and the costs of sale.

Lease contracts

Group as lessee
Leases on tangible assets in which the Group 
has a significant part of the risks and benefits 
characteristic of ownership are categorised as 
finance lease contracts. Asset items acquired 
on finance lease contracts are recognised in 
the balance sheet at the fair value of the leased 
item at the start of the lease period or at a lower 
present value of minimum rents. Asset items 
acquired on finance lease contracts are depreci-
ated over the useful life of the item or the lease 
period, whichever is shorter. Leasing rents pay-
able are divided into financing cost and reduc-
tion of debt over the lease period so that the 
interest rate on the debt remaining in each fi-
nancial period is equal. Lease obligations are 
included in interest-bearing debt.

Lease contracts in which the risks and ben-
efits characteristic of ownership remain with 
the lessor are treated as other lease contracts. 
Leases payable on the basis of other lease con-
tracts are recognised as expenses on the profit 
and loss account in equal instalments over the 
lease period. 

Group as lessor
The Group has not leased out any assets. 

Impairment

Tangible and intangible assets
On each balance sheet date the Group estimates 
whether there is evidence that the value of an 
asset may have been impaired. If there is such 
evidence, the amount recoverable from the asset 
will be estimated. Furthermore, the recoverable 

amount will be estimated annually for the follow-
ing assets regardless of whether there is evidence 
of impairment: goodwill and unfinished intangi-
ble assets. The need for impairment is reviewed 
at the level of cash-generating units, which re-
fers to the lowest level of unit that is mainly in-
dependent of other units and whose cash flows 
can be separated from other cash flows.

The recoverable amount equals the fair value of 
an asset deducted by costs arising from its sale, 
or value in use if this is higher. Value in use refers 
to estimated future net cash flows available from 
the asset or the cash-generating unit discounted 
to present value. The applicable discount rate is a 
rate determined before tax that reflects the market 
opinion on the time value of money and the spe-
cific risks associated with the asset.

An impairment loss is recognised when the book 
value of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Impairment losses are immediately recognised 
on the profit and loss account. If an impairment 
loss is attributable to a cash-generating unit, it 
is first allocated to reduce the goodwill attribut-
able to the cash-generating unit and then to re-
duce other asset items within the unit on a pro 
rata basis. In connection with the recognition of 
an impairment loss, the useful life of the asset 
subject to depreciation or amortisation is reas-
sessed. Impairment losses on assets other than 
goodwill will be reversed if there is a change 
in the estimates used for determining the re-
coverable amount from the asset. However, any 
impairment loss reversal may not exceed the 
amount that would be the book value of the as-
set if the impairment loss were not recognised. 
Impairment losses recognised on goodwill are 
not to be reversed under any circumstances.

Employee benefi ts

Pension liabilities
The Group’s pension schemes are defined contri-
bution plans. Under defined contribution plans, 
the Group makes fixed payments to a separate 
entity. Contributions paid to defined contribu-
tion pension plans are recognised on the profit 
and loss account during the financial period to 
which the charge applies.

Pension cover for the personnel of the Group’s 
Finnish companies is arranged through statutory 
pension insurance policies with external pension 
insurance companies. Foreign Group companies 
have arranged pensions for their personnel in ac-
cordance with local legislation.

Share-based payment plans
The Group operates a share-based incentive 
scheme for key personnel where payments are 
made both in company shares and in cash. The 
benefits granted in the scheme are measured at 
fair value at the time of granting and recognised 
as expenses during the period that the entitle-
ment was created. To the extent that the rewards 
are paid in cash, the recognised liability and 
changes in its fair value are correspondingly ac-
crued as expenses. The effects of the reward on 
profit and loss are shown in the profit and loss 
statement under employment-related benefits.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when the Group has 
a legal or factual obligation based on a previous 
event, the realisation of a payment obligation is 
probable and the amount of the obligation can 
be reliably estimated. A guarantee provision is 
recognised upon the sale of a product subject to 
a guarantee condition. The amount of guarantee 
provision is based on empirical data on actual 
guarantee costs.

Income taxes

The tax expenses on the profit and loss account 
comprise tax based on the taxable income for 
the financial period and deferred tax. Income 
tax costs are recognised on the profit and loss 
account with the exception of items recognised 
directly in equity, for which the tax effect is 
correspondingly recognised in equity. The tax 
based on the taxable income for the financial 
period is calculated on the basis of taxable in-
come in accordance with the tax rate valid in 
each country. The tax is adjusted by any taxes 
associated with previous financial periods.

Deferred taxes are calculated on all temporary 
differences between book value and tax base. 
However, no deferred tax liability will be rec-
ognised if the asset or liability is to be origi-
nally recognised in accounting, the transaction 
is not a business combination, and the recogni-
tion of such an asset or liability does not affect 
the profit in accounting or taxable income at the 
time the transaction is realised. No deferred tax 
is recognised on goodwill that is not tax deduct-
ible, and no deferred tax is recognised on un-
distributed accrued profits of subsidiaries to the 
extent that the difference will probably not be 
eliminated during the foreseeable future.

The most substantial temporary differences arise 
from the depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment, as well as measurement at fair value 
upon acquisitions.

Deferred taxes are calculated at tax rates enact-
ed by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax receivables are recognised up to 
the probable amount of taxable income in the 
future against which the temporary difference 
can be utilised.

Revenue recognition

Goods sold and services produced
Income from the sale of goods is recognised once 
the significant risks and benefits associated with 
the ownership of the goods have been transferred 
to the purchaser. At this time, the Group no lon-
ger has any power of control associated with 
the product. Generally, this refers to the time 
at which the goods have been delivered to the 
customer in accordance with the agreed deliv-
ery terms. Income from services is recognised 
in the financial period during which the service 
is rendered to the customer.

Turnover includes sales income adjusted by in-
direct taxes and discounts. Sales income arises 
from the sales of new products and second-hand 
machines, as well as maintenance services.

Interest and dividends
Interest income is recognised once the interest 
becomes vested, and dividend income is recogn-
ised once the dividend becomes vested.

Financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets
In accordance with the standard IAS 39 Finan-
cial Instruments: Recognition and Measure-
ment, the Group’s financial assets are classi-
fied into the following groups: financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-ma-
turity investments, loans and receivables, and 
financial assets available for sale. The classifi-
cation is based on the purpose of acquiring the 
financial assets and carried out upon original 
acquisition.

Financial asset items are classified as Finan-
cial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
if they are acquired for trading purposes or if 
they are categorised as assets to be recognised 
at fair value through profit or loss upon initial 

recognition. Derivatives that do not meet the IAS 
39 criteria for hedge accounting are classified as 
assets held for trading. Derivatives held for trad-
ing are included in current assets and liabili-
ties. The items within the group are measured 
at fair value. Both realised and unrealised gains 
and losses arising from changes in fair value are 
recognised on the profit and loss account for the 
financial period during which they arise.

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable pay-
ments and fixed maturity for which the Group has 
the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. 
They are measured at original amortised cost and 
included in non-current assets. The Group has no 
such investments in the period being reported.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative fi-
nancial assets with fixed or determinable pay-
ments that are not quoted in an active market 
and not held for trading purposes. The basis for 
their measurement is amortised cost. On the bal-
ance sheet, they are included in trade receiv-
ables and other receivables, either under current 
or non-current assets: in the latter group if the 
time to maturity is more than 12 months.

Financial assets available for sale are those non-
derivative financial assets that are designated as 
available for sale or are not classified in any other 
group. They are included in non-current assets un-
less the intention is to hold them for less than 12 
months from the balance sheet date, in which case 
they are included in current assets. Financial as-
sets available for sale consist of shares. They are 
measured at fair value or, if the fair value cannot be 
determined reliably, at acquisition cost. Changes in 
the fair value of financial assets available for sale 
are booked in the fair value reserve within share-
holders’ equity, taking the tax effect into account. 
Changes in fair value are transferred from share-
holders’ equity to the profit and loss account when 
the investment is sold or its value has reduced so 
that an impairment loss must be recognised.

Liquid assets
Liquid assets comprise cash, bank deposits 
withdrawable on demand, and other short-term, 
very liquid investments. Items classified as liq-
uid assets have a maturity of no more than three 
months calculated from the date of acquisition. 

Financial assets are derecognised once the 
Group has lost its contractual right to the cash 
flow or it has transferred a significant portion of 
the risks and revenue out of the Group.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are initially recognised at 
fair value. Financial liabilities are included in 
non-current and current liabilities and may be 
either interest-bearing or interest-free.

The principles for determining the fair values 
of all financial assets and liabilities are pre-
sented in Note 31.

Impairment of financial assets
On each balance sheet date, the Group esti-
mates whether there is objective evidence that 
the value of a financial asset item or financial 
asset group may have been impaired. 

The Group recognises an impairment loss on 
trade receivables when there is objective evi-
dence that the receivable cannot be recovered 
in full. The debtor’s substantial financial prob-
lems, the probability of bankruptcy, and de-
fault or substantial delay on payments are evi-
dence of impairment of trade receivables. If the 
amount of impairment loss is reduced during a 
subsequent financial period and the reduction 
can be objectively considered to relate to an 
event subsequent to the recognition of the im-
pairment loss, the recognised impairment loss 
shall be reversed through profit or loss.

Derivative contracts and 
hedge accounting

The Group handles derivative contracts in ac-
cordance with the standard IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. 
Ponsse Group has categorised all derivatives 
as derivatives held for trading as it does not 
apply hedge accounting in accordance with the 
IAS 39 standard. The derivatives held for trad-
ing include forward exchange agreements and 
interest rate swaps measured at fair value. The 
fair value of the derivatives is recognised in other 
current assets and liabilities. Both realised and 
unrealised gains and losses arising from changes 
in fair value are recognised under financial items 
on the profit and loss account for the financial 
period during which they arise.

Dividend distribution

The dividend proposed by the Board of Direc-
tors to the General Meeting of Shareholders is 
recognised as a liability once the General Meet-
ing of Shareholders has decided on the amount 
of dividend.
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Inventories

Stocks are valued at acquisition cost or a lower 
probable net realisable value. The Standard Cost 
method is used as a basis for calculating the value 
of materials and supplies in stock. The acquisi-
tion cost of finished products and work in prog-
ress comprises raw materials, direct expenses due 
to work performed, other direct expenses, and the 
appropriate proportion of the variable and fixed 
overheads of manufacturing at the normal utilised 
capacity. The inventory of second-hand machines 
is valued at acquisition cost or a lower probable 
net realisable value. Net realisable value refers to 
an estimated sales price available through normal 
business operations less the estimated costs of fin-
ishing the product and the costs of sale.

Lease contracts

Group as lessee
Leases on tangible assets in which the Group 
has a significant part of the risks and benefits 
characteristic of ownership are categorised as 
finance lease contracts. Asset items acquired 
on finance lease contracts are recognised in 
the balance sheet at the fair value of the leased 
item at the start of the lease period or at a lower 
present value of minimum rents. Asset items 
acquired on finance lease contracts are depreci-
ated over the useful life of the item or the lease 
period, whichever is shorter. Leasing rents pay-
able are divided into financing cost and reduc-
tion of debt over the lease period so that the 
interest rate on the debt remaining in each fi-
nancial period is equal. Lease obligations are 
included in interest-bearing debt.

Lease contracts in which the risks and ben-
efits characteristic of ownership remain with 
the lessor are treated as other lease contracts. 
Leases payable on the basis of other lease con-
tracts are recognised as expenses on the profit 
and loss account in equal instalments over the 
lease period. 

Group as lessor
The Group has not leased out any assets. 

Impairment

Tangible and intangible assets
On each balance sheet date the Group estimates 
whether there is evidence that the value of an 
asset may have been impaired. If there is such 
evidence, the amount recoverable from the asset 
will be estimated. Furthermore, the recoverable 

amount will be estimated annually for the follow-
ing assets regardless of whether there is evidence 
of impairment: goodwill and unfinished intangi-
ble assets. The need for impairment is reviewed 
at the level of cash-generating units, which re-
fers to the lowest level of unit that is mainly in-
dependent of other units and whose cash flows 
can be separated from other cash flows.

The recoverable amount equals the fair value of 
an asset deducted by costs arising from its sale, 
or value in use if this is higher. Value in use refers 
to estimated future net cash flows available from 
the asset or the cash-generating unit discounted 
to present value. The applicable discount rate is a 
rate determined before tax that reflects the market 
opinion on the time value of money and the spe-
cific risks associated with the asset.

An impairment loss is recognised when the book 
value of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Impairment losses are immediately recognised 
on the profit and loss account. If an impairment 
loss is attributable to a cash-generating unit, it 
is first allocated to reduce the goodwill attribut-
able to the cash-generating unit and then to re-
duce other asset items within the unit on a pro 
rata basis. In connection with the recognition of 
an impairment loss, the useful life of the asset 
subject to depreciation or amortisation is reas-
sessed. Impairment losses on assets other than 
goodwill will be reversed if there is a change 
in the estimates used for determining the re-
coverable amount from the asset. However, any 
impairment loss reversal may not exceed the 
amount that would be the book value of the as-
set if the impairment loss were not recognised. 
Impairment losses recognised on goodwill are 
not to be reversed under any circumstances.

Employee benefi ts

Pension liabilities
The Group’s pension schemes are defined contri-
bution plans. Under defined contribution plans, 
the Group makes fixed payments to a separate 
entity. Contributions paid to defined contribu-
tion pension plans are recognised on the profit 
and loss account during the financial period to 
which the charge applies.

Pension cover for the personnel of the Group’s 
Finnish companies is arranged through statutory 
pension insurance policies with external pension 
insurance companies. Foreign Group companies 
have arranged pensions for their personnel in ac-
cordance with local legislation.

Share-based payment plans
The Group operates a share-based incentive 
scheme for key personnel where payments are 
made both in company shares and in cash. The 
benefits granted in the scheme are measured at 
fair value at the time of granting and recognised 
as expenses during the period that the entitle-
ment was created. To the extent that the rewards 
are paid in cash, the recognised liability and 
changes in its fair value are correspondingly ac-
crued as expenses. The effects of the reward on 
profit and loss are shown in the profit and loss 
statement under employment-related benefits.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when the Group has 
a legal or factual obligation based on a previous 
event, the realisation of a payment obligation is 
probable and the amount of the obligation can 
be reliably estimated. A guarantee provision is 
recognised upon the sale of a product subject to 
a guarantee condition. The amount of guarantee 
provision is based on empirical data on actual 
guarantee costs.

Income taxes

The tax expenses on the profit and loss account 
comprise tax based on the taxable income for 
the financial period and deferred tax. Income 
tax costs are recognised on the profit and loss 
account with the exception of items recognised 
directly in equity, for which the tax effect is 
correspondingly recognised in equity. The tax 
based on the taxable income for the financial 
period is calculated on the basis of taxable in-
come in accordance with the tax rate valid in 
each country. The tax is adjusted by any taxes 
associated with previous financial periods.

Deferred taxes are calculated on all temporary 
differences between book value and tax base. 
However, no deferred tax liability will be rec-
ognised if the asset or liability is to be origi-
nally recognised in accounting, the transaction 
is not a business combination, and the recogni-
tion of such an asset or liability does not affect 
the profit in accounting or taxable income at the 
time the transaction is realised. No deferred tax 
is recognised on goodwill that is not tax deduct-
ible, and no deferred tax is recognised on un-
distributed accrued profits of subsidiaries to the 
extent that the difference will probably not be 
eliminated during the foreseeable future.

The most substantial temporary differences arise 
from the depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment, as well as measurement at fair value 
upon acquisitions.

Deferred taxes are calculated at tax rates enact-
ed by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax receivables are recognised up to 
the probable amount of taxable income in the 
future against which the temporary difference 
can be utilised.

Revenue recognition

Goods sold and services produced
Income from the sale of goods is recognised once 
the significant risks and benefits associated with 
the ownership of the goods have been transferred 
to the purchaser. At this time, the Group no lon-
ger has any power of control associated with 
the product. Generally, this refers to the time 
at which the goods have been delivered to the 
customer in accordance with the agreed deliv-
ery terms. Income from services is recognised 
in the financial period during which the service 
is rendered to the customer.

Turnover includes sales income adjusted by in-
direct taxes and discounts. Sales income arises 
from the sales of new products and second-hand 
machines, as well as maintenance services.

Interest and dividends
Interest income is recognised once the interest 
becomes vested, and dividend income is recogn-
ised once the dividend becomes vested.

Financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets
In accordance with the standard IAS 39 Finan-
cial Instruments: Recognition and Measure-
ment, the Group’s financial assets are classi-
fied into the following groups: financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-ma-
turity investments, loans and receivables, and 
financial assets available for sale. The classifi-
cation is based on the purpose of acquiring the 
financial assets and carried out upon original 
acquisition.

Financial asset items are classified as Finan-
cial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
if they are acquired for trading purposes or if 
they are categorised as assets to be recognised 
at fair value through profit or loss upon initial 

recognition. Derivatives that do not meet the IAS 
39 criteria for hedge accounting are classified as 
assets held for trading. Derivatives held for trad-
ing are included in current assets and liabili-
ties. The items within the group are measured 
at fair value. Both realised and unrealised gains 
and losses arising from changes in fair value are 
recognised on the profit and loss account for the 
financial period during which they arise.

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable pay-
ments and fixed maturity for which the Group has 
the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. 
They are measured at original amortised cost and 
included in non-current assets. The Group has no 
such investments in the period being reported.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative fi-
nancial assets with fixed or determinable pay-
ments that are not quoted in an active market 
and not held for trading purposes. The basis for 
their measurement is amortised cost. On the bal-
ance sheet, they are included in trade receiv-
ables and other receivables, either under current 
or non-current assets: in the latter group if the 
time to maturity is more than 12 months.

Financial assets available for sale are those non-
derivative financial assets that are designated as 
available for sale or are not classified in any other 
group. They are included in non-current assets un-
less the intention is to hold them for less than 12 
months from the balance sheet date, in which case 
they are included in current assets. Financial as-
sets available for sale consist of shares. They are 
measured at fair value or, if the fair value cannot be 
determined reliably, at acquisition cost. Changes in 
the fair value of financial assets available for sale 
are booked in the fair value reserve within share-
holders’ equity, taking the tax effect into account. 
Changes in fair value are transferred from share-
holders’ equity to the profit and loss account when 
the investment is sold or its value has reduced so 
that an impairment loss must be recognised.

Liquid assets
Liquid assets comprise cash, bank deposits 
withdrawable on demand, and other short-term, 
very liquid investments. Items classified as liq-
uid assets have a maturity of no more than three 
months calculated from the date of acquisition. 

Financial assets are derecognised once the 
Group has lost its contractual right to the cash 
flow or it has transferred a significant portion of 
the risks and revenue out of the Group.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are initially recognised at 
fair value. Financial liabilities are included in 
non-current and current liabilities and may be 
either interest-bearing or interest-free.

The principles for determining the fair values 
of all financial assets and liabilities are pre-
sented in Note 31.

Impairment of financial assets
On each balance sheet date, the Group esti-
mates whether there is objective evidence that 
the value of a financial asset item or financial 
asset group may have been impaired. 

The Group recognises an impairment loss on 
trade receivables when there is objective evi-
dence that the receivable cannot be recovered 
in full. The debtor’s substantial financial prob-
lems, the probability of bankruptcy, and de-
fault or substantial delay on payments are evi-
dence of impairment of trade receivables. If the 
amount of impairment loss is reduced during a 
subsequent financial period and the reduction 
can be objectively considered to relate to an 
event subsequent to the recognition of the im-
pairment loss, the recognised impairment loss 
shall be reversed through profit or loss.

Derivative contracts and 
hedge accounting

The Group handles derivative contracts in ac-
cordance with the standard IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. 
Ponsse Group has categorised all derivatives 
as derivatives held for trading as it does not 
apply hedge accounting in accordance with the 
IAS 39 standard. The derivatives held for trad-
ing include forward exchange agreements and 
interest rate swaps measured at fair value. The 
fair value of the derivatives is recognised in other 
current assets and liabilities. Both realised and 
unrealised gains and losses arising from changes 
in fair value are recognised under financial items 
on the profit and loss account for the financial 
period during which they arise.

Dividend distribution

The dividend proposed by the Board of Direc-
tors to the General Meeting of Shareholders is 
recognised as a liability once the General Meet-
ing of Shareholders has decided on the amount 
of dividend.
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  1. Segment information      

Segment information is presented in accordance with the Group’s division into geographical and business segments. The Group’s primary segment-reporting format is 
based on geographical segments. The geographical segments are based on the Group’s internal organisational structure and internal fi nancial reporting.    
 
The products and services of geographical segments are produced in a specifi c economic environment with risks and profi tability deviating from other geographical 
segments. Business segments comprise groups of assets and business operations that have risks and profi tability associated with their products and services 
deviating from other business segments.    
    
Pricing between segments is based on fair market price.    
    
A segment’s assets and liabilities refer to business items that the segment uses in its business operations or that can be allocated to segments on reasonable grounds. 
Unallocated sales refer to income from countries other than those included in segment reporting. Other unallocated items include tax and fi nancial items, as well as items 
common to the entire company. Investments include increases in property, plant and equipment items, and intangible assets that are used during more than one period.  
             
Geographical segment      
 Nordic countries
 Rest of Europe
 North and South America    
      
Income from each segment is allocated in accordance with the location of the customer. Assets and liabilities are allocated in accordance with the location of the assets.  
       
Business segment      
 Machine sales
 Service

Geographical segments 2008 

EUR 1,000
Nordic countries Rest of Europe North and South 

America
Elimination Total

External sales 

Services 2,983 1,042 1,598 5,624

Sales of goods 157,172 92,753 30,037 279,963

External sales, total 160,155 93,796 31,636 285,587

Unallocated sales 7 429

Net sales 160,155 93,796 31,636 293,015

Operating profi t of the segment 7,149 15,214 -5,562 16,801

Unallocated items -3,172

Operating profi t 7,149 15,214 -5,562 13,628

Shares of the result of associated companies 91 91

Minority interest 0

Unallocated items -9,369

Net profi t for the period 4,351

Operating profi t

The standard IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements does not define the concept of op-
erating profit. The Group has defined it as fol-
lows: operating profit is the net amount created 
by adding other operating income to turnover, 
subtracting purchase costs adjusted by change 
in stocks of finished and unfinished products 
and costs of manufacture for own use, and sub-
tracting costs of employee benefits, deprecia-
tion and amortisation, any impairment losses 
and other operating expenses. All profit and loss 
items other than the above are presented below 
operating profit. Exchange rate differences are 
recognised in financial items.

Accounting policies requiring 
consideration by management 
and crucial factors of uncertainty 
associated with estimates

Estimates and assumptions regarding the future 
have to be made during the preparation of the 
financial statements, and the outcome may dif-
fer from the estimates and assumptions. Fur-
thermore, the application of accounting policies 
requires consideration. 

Management consideration connected with 
accounting policies and their adoption
Group management utilise their best judgement 
when making decisions regarding accounting 
policies and their adoption. This refers to those 
cases in particular where the valid IFRS stan-
dards offer several alternative booking, recogni-
tion or presentation methods. 

Uncertainties connected with estimates
Estimates made when compiling the financial state-
ments are based on the management’s best views on 
the balance sheet date. The estimates are based on 
previous experience and assumptions about the fu-
ture that are deemed the most likely on the balance 
sheet date. These are connected to, for example, 
the expected development of the Group’s financial 
operating environment regarding the sales and the 
level of expenditure. The Group regularly monitors 
the realisation of estimates and assumptions as well 
as changes in the underlying factors together with 
the business unit by utilising several internal and 
external sources of information.  Any changes in 
the estimates and assumptions are recognised in 
the financial period during which the estimates and 
assumptions are adjusted, and in all subsequent 
financial periods.

The essential assumptions concerning the 
future and crucial factors of uncertainty as-
sociated with the estimates on the balance 
sheet date that will impose a significant risk 
of substantial changes in the book values of 
assets and liabilities during the next finan-
cial period are given below. Group manage-
ment has deemed these the most important 
sectors in the financial statements because 
the compilation principles connected with 
these issues are the most complex from the 
Group’s viewpoint, and their adoption re-
quires using the most major estimates and 
assumptions when, for example, evaluating 
asset items. Furthermore, the potential im-
pacts of the assumptions and estimates used 
in these sectors of the financial statements 
are deemed the greatest.

Determining the fair value of assets 
acquired through business combinations
In connection with significant business com-
binations, the Group has used an external ad-
visor in estimating the fair values of tangible 
and intangible assets. With regard to tangi-
ble assets, comparisons have been made to 
the market prices of similar assets, and the 
reduction in value due to age, wear and tear 
and other similar factors has been assessed. 
The determination of the fair value of intan-
gible assets is based on estimated cash flows 
associated with the assets. More information 
on the measurement of intangible assets ac-
quired through business combinations is pre-
sented in Note 3.

The management believes that the estimates 
and assumptions applied are precise enough to 
serve as the basis of fair value measurement. 
Furthermore, the Group reviews any indications 
of the impairment of tangible as well as intan-
gible assets on each closing of the accounts as 
a minimum.

Impairment testing
The Group carries out annual impairment 
testing of goodwill and unfinished intangible 
assets, and evidence of impairment is evalu-
ated as presented above in the accounting 
policies. Recoverable amounts from cash-
generating units are determined as calcula-
tions based on value in use. The prepara-
tion of these calculations requires the use 
of estimates.

Application of new and amended 
IFRS standards

IASB has published the following new or amend-
ed standards and interpretations that are not yet 
valid and that the Group has not yet applied. The 
Group will adopt these standards and interpreta-
tions starting on the effective date of the standard 
or interpretation or, if the effective date is not the 
first day of a financial period, starting at the be-
ginning of the next financial period.

–IFRS 8, Operating Segments (applicable to fi-
nancial periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2009). According to IFRS 8, segment reporting 
must be based on internal reporting of the man-
agement and the calculation principles used there. 
The Group’s assessment is that the introduction of 
IFRS 8 will not materially change the information 
shown on segments because the Group’s earlier 
segment-based reporting has been based on the 
Group’s internal reporting structures.

–IAS 23, Borrowing Costs (applicable to financial 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009). The 
revised standard requires the inclusion of immedi-
ate borrowing costs arising from purchasing, con-
struction or manufacturing of an item meeting the 
requirements, such as a production plant, in the ac-
quisition costs of the item. The Group has previously 
entered, as allowed, the borrowing costs as expenses 
for the financial period during which they were gen-
erated. The Group’s assessment is that the change in 
reporting principles will not have a material effect on 
the future financial statements. 

– An amendment to standard IAS 1, Presentation 
of Financial Statements (applicable to financial 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009). The 
changes will mainly have an impact on the presen-
tation method of the profit and loss account and 
the changes in equity. Further, the revised stan-
dard also involves extensive changes to the termi-
nology used in other standards, and the names of 
certain items in the financial statements will also 
change. The calculation principles for earnings 
per share will remain the same. 

The Group’s assessment is that the other amend-
ments to various standards published during the 
course of the year (and applicable to financial pe-
riods starting on or after 1 January 2009) have no 
material effect on the financial statements. 

–IFRS 3, Business Combinations (revised in 
2008) (applicable to financial periods beginning 
on or after 1 July 2009). The revised standard 

has a more extensive scope of application. 
The standard amendments affect the amount 
of goodwill recognised for acquisitions and on 
the capital gains for business divestments. The 
standard amendments also affect the items rec-
ognised in the profit and loss statement, both 
for the period of acquiring them and for those 
periods during which an additional contract 
price is paid or further acquisitions are made. 
According to the transitional provisions of the 
standard, business combinations with an ac-
quisition date prior to the statutory introduc-

tion of the standard will not be adjusted. The 
amended standard has not yet been approved 
for application in the EU.

–IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Fi-
nancial Statements (revised in 2008) (ap-
plicable to financial periods beginning on or 
after 1 July 2009). The amended standard re-
quires that the effects of changes in owner-
ship of subsidiary companies are recognised 
directly under Group equity when the parent 
company retains control. If controlling inter-

est in the subsidiary is lost, the remaining in-
vestment is recognised at fair value through 
profit and loss. As a result of the standard 
amendment, the losses of a subsidiary com-
pany may be allocated to minority even when 
they exceed the amount of minority invest-
ment. The amended standard has not yet 
been approved for application in the EU.

Other published standards, interpretations 
and amendments that will enter into force 
later are not significant for the Group. 

Consolidated fi nancial statements (IFRS)Consolidated fi nancial statements (IFRS)
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  1. Segment information      

Segment information is presented in accordance with the Group’s division into geographical and business segments. The Group’s primary segment-reporting format is 
based on geographical segments. The geographical segments are based on the Group’s internal organisational structure and internal fi nancial reporting.    
 
The products and services of geographical segments are produced in a specifi c economic environment with risks and profi tability deviating from other geographical 
segments. Business segments comprise groups of assets and business operations that have risks and profi tability associated with their products and services 
deviating from other business segments.    
    
Pricing between segments is based on fair market price.    
    
A segment’s assets and liabilities refer to business items that the segment uses in its business operations or that can be allocated to segments on reasonable grounds. 
Unallocated sales refer to income from countries other than those included in segment reporting. Other unallocated items include tax and fi nancial items, as well as items 
common to the entire company. Investments include increases in property, plant and equipment items, and intangible assets that are used during more than one period.  
             
Geographical segment      
 Nordic countries
 Rest of Europe
 North and South America    
      
Income from each segment is allocated in accordance with the location of the customer. Assets and liabilities are allocated in accordance with the location of the assets.  
       
Business segment      
 Machine sales
 Service

Geographical segments 2008 

EUR 1,000
Nordic countries Rest of Europe North and South 

America
Elimination Total

External sales 

Services 2,983 1,042 1,598 5,624

Sales of goods 157,172 92,753 30,037 279,963

External sales, total 160,155 93,796 31,636 285,587

Unallocated sales 7 429

Net sales 160,155 93,796 31,636 293,015

Operating profi t of the segment 7,149 15,214 -5,562 16,801

Unallocated items -3,172

Operating profi t 7,149 15,214 -5,562 13,628

Shares of the result of associated companies 91 91

Minority interest 0

Unallocated items -9,369

Net profi t for the period 4,351

Operating profi t

The standard IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements does not define the concept of op-
erating profit. The Group has defined it as fol-
lows: operating profit is the net amount created 
by adding other operating income to turnover, 
subtracting purchase costs adjusted by change 
in stocks of finished and unfinished products 
and costs of manufacture for own use, and sub-
tracting costs of employee benefits, deprecia-
tion and amortisation, any impairment losses 
and other operating expenses. All profit and loss 
items other than the above are presented below 
operating profit. Exchange rate differences are 
recognised in financial items.

Accounting policies requiring 
consideration by management 
and crucial factors of uncertainty 
associated with estimates

Estimates and assumptions regarding the future 
have to be made during the preparation of the 
financial statements, and the outcome may dif-
fer from the estimates and assumptions. Fur-
thermore, the application of accounting policies 
requires consideration. 

Management consideration connected with 
accounting policies and their adoption
Group management utilise their best judgement 
when making decisions regarding accounting 
policies and their adoption. This refers to those 
cases in particular where the valid IFRS stan-
dards offer several alternative booking, recogni-
tion or presentation methods. 

Uncertainties connected with estimates
Estimates made when compiling the financial state-
ments are based on the management’s best views on 
the balance sheet date. The estimates are based on 
previous experience and assumptions about the fu-
ture that are deemed the most likely on the balance 
sheet date. These are connected to, for example, 
the expected development of the Group’s financial 
operating environment regarding the sales and the 
level of expenditure. The Group regularly monitors 
the realisation of estimates and assumptions as well 
as changes in the underlying factors together with 
the business unit by utilising several internal and 
external sources of information.  Any changes in 
the estimates and assumptions are recognised in 
the financial period during which the estimates and 
assumptions are adjusted, and in all subsequent 
financial periods.

The essential assumptions concerning the 
future and crucial factors of uncertainty as-
sociated with the estimates on the balance 
sheet date that will impose a significant risk 
of substantial changes in the book values of 
assets and liabilities during the next finan-
cial period are given below. Group manage-
ment has deemed these the most important 
sectors in the financial statements because 
the compilation principles connected with 
these issues are the most complex from the 
Group’s viewpoint, and their adoption re-
quires using the most major estimates and 
assumptions when, for example, evaluating 
asset items. Furthermore, the potential im-
pacts of the assumptions and estimates used 
in these sectors of the financial statements 
are deemed the greatest.

Determining the fair value of assets 
acquired through business combinations
In connection with significant business com-
binations, the Group has used an external ad-
visor in estimating the fair values of tangible 
and intangible assets. With regard to tangi-
ble assets, comparisons have been made to 
the market prices of similar assets, and the 
reduction in value due to age, wear and tear 
and other similar factors has been assessed. 
The determination of the fair value of intan-
gible assets is based on estimated cash flows 
associated with the assets. More information 
on the measurement of intangible assets ac-
quired through business combinations is pre-
sented in Note 3.

The management believes that the estimates 
and assumptions applied are precise enough to 
serve as the basis of fair value measurement. 
Furthermore, the Group reviews any indications 
of the impairment of tangible as well as intan-
gible assets on each closing of the accounts as 
a minimum.

Impairment testing
The Group carries out annual impairment 
testing of goodwill and unfinished intangible 
assets, and evidence of impairment is evalu-
ated as presented above in the accounting 
policies. Recoverable amounts from cash-
generating units are determined as calcula-
tions based on value in use. The prepara-
tion of these calculations requires the use 
of estimates.

Application of new and amended 
IFRS standards

IASB has published the following new or amend-
ed standards and interpretations that are not yet 
valid and that the Group has not yet applied. The 
Group will adopt these standards and interpreta-
tions starting on the effective date of the standard 
or interpretation or, if the effective date is not the 
first day of a financial period, starting at the be-
ginning of the next financial period.

–IFRS 8, Operating Segments (applicable to fi-
nancial periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2009). According to IFRS 8, segment reporting 
must be based on internal reporting of the man-
agement and the calculation principles used there. 
The Group’s assessment is that the introduction of 
IFRS 8 will not materially change the information 
shown on segments because the Group’s earlier 
segment-based reporting has been based on the 
Group’s internal reporting structures.

–IAS 23, Borrowing Costs (applicable to financial 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009). The 
revised standard requires the inclusion of immedi-
ate borrowing costs arising from purchasing, con-
struction or manufacturing of an item meeting the 
requirements, such as a production plant, in the ac-
quisition costs of the item. The Group has previously 
entered, as allowed, the borrowing costs as expenses 
for the financial period during which they were gen-
erated. The Group’s assessment is that the change in 
reporting principles will not have a material effect on 
the future financial statements. 

– An amendment to standard IAS 1, Presentation 
of Financial Statements (applicable to financial 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009). The 
changes will mainly have an impact on the presen-
tation method of the profit and loss account and 
the changes in equity. Further, the revised stan-
dard also involves extensive changes to the termi-
nology used in other standards, and the names of 
certain items in the financial statements will also 
change. The calculation principles for earnings 
per share will remain the same. 

The Group’s assessment is that the other amend-
ments to various standards published during the 
course of the year (and applicable to financial pe-
riods starting on or after 1 January 2009) have no 
material effect on the financial statements. 

–IFRS 3, Business Combinations (revised in 
2008) (applicable to financial periods beginning 
on or after 1 July 2009). The revised standard 

has a more extensive scope of application. 
The standard amendments affect the amount 
of goodwill recognised for acquisitions and on 
the capital gains for business divestments. The 
standard amendments also affect the items rec-
ognised in the profit and loss statement, both 
for the period of acquiring them and for those 
periods during which an additional contract 
price is paid or further acquisitions are made. 
According to the transitional provisions of the 
standard, business combinations with an ac-
quisition date prior to the statutory introduc-

tion of the standard will not be adjusted. The 
amended standard has not yet been approved 
for application in the EU.

–IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Fi-
nancial Statements (revised in 2008) (ap-
plicable to financial periods beginning on or 
after 1 July 2009). The amended standard re-
quires that the effects of changes in owner-
ship of subsidiary companies are recognised 
directly under Group equity when the parent 
company retains control. If controlling inter-

est in the subsidiary is lost, the remaining in-
vestment is recognised at fair value through 
profit and loss. As a result of the standard 
amendment, the losses of a subsidiary com-
pany may be allocated to minority even when 
they exceed the amount of minority invest-
ment. The amended standard has not yet 
been approved for application in the EU.

Other published standards, interpretations 
and amendments that will enter into force 
later are not significant for the Group. 
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Business segments 2008

EUR 1,000 Machine sales Service Total

Net sales 251,235 41,780 293,015

Assets 147,189 27,611 174,800

Investments 7,686 823 8,509

Business segments 2007 

EUR 1,000 Machine sales Service Total

Net sales 272,259 37,794 310,053

Assets 130,406 23,508 153,914

Investments 6,289 276 6,565

Geographical segments 2008 

EUR 1,000
Nordic countries Rest of Europe North and South 

America
Elimination Total

Segment assets 171,625 24,008 35,767 -61,364 170,035

Shares of the result of associated companies 335 1,555 1,889

Unallocated assets 1,245 2,876

Total assets 171,959 24,008 35,767 -58,565 174,800

Segment liabilities 32,933 8,557 38,900 -55,884 24,507

Unallocated liabilities 77,123

Total liabilities 32,933 8,557 38,900 -55,884 101,629

Investments 7,414 388 706 8,509

Depreciation and amortisation   4,431 355 251 5,037

Geographical segments 2007 

EUR 1,000
Nordic countries Rest of Europe North and South 

America
Elimination Total

External sales  

Services 2,176 1,656 736 4,568

Sales of goods 144,033 125,535 31,007 300,575

External sales, total 146,209 127,191 31,743 305,143

Unallocated sales 4,910

Net sales 146,209 127,191 31,743 310,053

Operating profi t of the segment 13,387 26,094 -626 38,855

Unallocated items -1,774

Operating profi t 13,387 26,094 -626 37,080

Shares of the result of associated companies 441 1,002

Minority interest 0

Unallocated items -11,605

Net profi t for the period 26,477

Segment assets 136,706 26,907 27,586 -41,852 149,348

Shares of the result of associated companies 335 1,822 2,156

Unallocated assets 873 2,410

Total assets 137,041 26,907 27,586 -39,157 153,914

Segment liabilities 46,405 6,493 21,059 -37,983 35,974

Unallocated liabilities 37,066

Total liabilities 46,405 6,493 21,059 -37,983 73,040

Investments 4,740 1,026 799 6,565

Depreciation and amortisation 3,847 280 143 4,270

5. Other operating income  

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Rental income from machines 1,107 337

Capital gains on property, plant and equipment 236 48

Public subsidies 526 468

Other 739 472

Total 2,608 1,326

6. Other operating expenses

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Voluntary employee expenses 1,656 1,391

Operating and maintenance expenses 5,117 4,541 

Shipping and handling expenses 4,584 4,835

Rents 2,957 2,361

Marketing and representation expenses 4,869 4,981

Administrative expenses 6,281 5,833

R&D expenditure 1,398 769

Other 6,724 5,687

Total 33,586 30,398

2. Long-term assets held for sale, and discontinued operations

The Group does not have any of these items.

3. Acquired business operations

There were no acquisitions of business operations in 2008 or 2007.

4. Net sales

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Revenues from sales of goods 285,758 305,485

Revenues from services 7,257 4,568

Total 293,015 310,053

Consolidated fi nancial statements (IFRS)Consolidated fi nancial statements (IFRS)



48 Ponsse Annual Report 2008  Ponsse Annual Report 2008 49

Business segments 2008

EUR 1,000 Machine sales Service Total

Net sales 251,235 41,780 293,015

Assets 147,189 27,611 174,800

Investments 7,686 823 8,509

Business segments 2007 

EUR 1,000 Machine sales Service Total

Net sales 272,259 37,794 310,053

Assets 130,406 23,508 153,914

Investments 6,289 276 6,565

Geographical segments 2008 

EUR 1,000
Nordic countries Rest of Europe North and South 

America
Elimination Total

Segment assets 171,625 24,008 35,767 -61,364 170,035

Shares of the result of associated companies 335 1,555 1,889

Unallocated assets 1,245 2,876

Total assets 171,959 24,008 35,767 -58,565 174,800

Segment liabilities 32,933 8,557 38,900 -55,884 24,507

Unallocated liabilities 77,123

Total liabilities 32,933 8,557 38,900 -55,884 101,629

Investments 7,414 388 706 8,509

Depreciation and amortisation   4,431 355 251 5,037

Geographical segments 2007 

EUR 1,000
Nordic countries Rest of Europe North and South 

America
Elimination Total

External sales  

Services 2,176 1,656 736 4,568

Sales of goods 144,033 125,535 31,007 300,575

External sales, total 146,209 127,191 31,743 305,143

Unallocated sales 4,910

Net sales 146,209 127,191 31,743 310,053

Operating profi t of the segment 13,387 26,094 -626 38,855

Unallocated items -1,774

Operating profi t 13,387 26,094 -626 37,080

Shares of the result of associated companies 441 1,002

Minority interest 0

Unallocated items -11,605

Net profi t for the period 26,477

Segment assets 136,706 26,907 27,586 -41,852 149,348

Shares of the result of associated companies 335 1,822 2,156

Unallocated assets 873 2,410

Total assets 137,041 26,907 27,586 -39,157 153,914

Segment liabilities 46,405 6,493 21,059 -37,983 35,974

Unallocated liabilities 37,066

Total liabilities 46,405 6,493 21,059 -37,983 73,040

Investments 4,740 1,026 799 6,565

Depreciation and amortisation 3,847 280 143 4,270

5. Other operating income  

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Rental income from machines 1,107 337

Capital gains on property, plant and equipment 236 48

Public subsidies 526 468

Other 739 472

Total 2,608 1,326

6. Other operating expenses

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Voluntary employee expenses 1,656 1,391

Operating and maintenance expenses 5,117 4,541 
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Rents 2,957 2,361
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2. Long-term assets held for sale, and discontinued operations
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11. Financial expenses

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Interest expenses for fi nancial loans 2,658 1,492

Exchange rate losses 19,608 6,362

Other fi nancial expenses 473 47

Total 22,740 7,902

12. Income taxes

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Tax based on the taxable income for the period 3,825 10,462

Taxes from previous fi nancial periods -271 260

Deferred taxes -1,647 -815

Total 1,907 9,907

Reconciliation of tax expenses in the profi t and loss account and taxes calculated at the Group’s domestic tax rate (2008: 26%, 2007: 26%):  

EUR 1,000

Profi t before tax 6,258 36,384

Tax calculated using the domestic tax rate 1,627 9,460

Effect of the different tax rates used in foreign subsidiaries 14 58

Tax-exempt income -22 -2

Non-deductible expenses 189 153

Impairment of goodwill 0 0

Consolidated entries 371 -22

Taxes for previous fi nancial periods -271 260

Taxes in the profi t and loss account 1,907 9,907

7. Depreciation, amortisation and impairment

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Intangible assets

Capitalised development expenditure 252 105

Patents 56 53

Intangible rights 106 47

Other intangible assets 350 338

Total 764 543

Property, plant and equipment

Buildings 1,091 1,090

Machinery and equipment 3,181 2,637

Total 4,272 3,727

Other organisations

Auditor's remunerations 52 50

Certifi cates and statements 0 0

Tax advice 17 17

Other remunerations 10 17

79 84

Total 226 259

9. R&D expenditure

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

R&D expenditure was recorded as a cost item in the profi t and loss account. 6,341 4,856

10. Financial income

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Dividend income from fi nancial assets available for sale 4 5

Interest income from loans and receivables 281 298

Exchange rate gains 14,855 5,797

Other fi nancial income 139 103

Total 15,279 6,203

6.1. Auditor’s remunerations

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Ernst & Young

Auditor's remunerations 126 96

Certifi cates and statements 2 0

Tax advice 2 47

Other remunerations 16 31

147 175

Consolidated fi nancial statements (IFRS)Consolidated fi nancial statements (IFRS)

8. Expenditure on employment-related benefi ts

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Wages and salaries 38,923 34,209

Pension expenditure - defi ned contribution plans 5,440 4,881

Other social security costs 3,812 3,448

Total 48,175 42,538

Average number of staff during the fi nancial period

Persons 2008 2007

Employees 611 504

Clerical workers 433 372

Total 1,044 876

Information on management’s employment-related benefi ts is presented in Note 35, Related party transactions.  
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Financial lease contracts

Property, plant and equipment includes the following items rented on a fi nance lease contract:  

EUR 1,000

31 Dec 2008 Buildings Machinery and equipment Total

Acquisition cost 762 2,682 3,444

Accumulated depreciation -266 -1,108 -1,374

Book value 496 1,574 2,070

15. Intangible assets

EUR 1,000

 Development 
expenditure

Patent costs Intangible 
rights 

Other 
intangible 

assets

Prepayments 
and unfi nished 

acquisitions

Total

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2008 1,814 549 332 3,053 1,528 7,276

Increase 1,054 28 412 1,120 1,641 4,256

Transfers between items 0 0 0 44 0 44

Decrease 0 0 0 -19 -1,645 -1,664

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2008 2,868 577 745 4,198 1,524 9,911

Accumulated depreciation and impairment 1 Jan 2008 -304 -224 -97 -2,390 0 -3,015

Depreciation and amortisation -252 -56 -106 -350 0 -764

Accumulated depreciation on decrease and transfers 0 0 0 -9 0 -9

Accumulated depreciation and impairment 31 Dec 2008 -556 -280 -203 -2,749 0 -3,788

Book value 1 Jan 2008 1,510 325 235 663 1,528 4,262

Book value 31 Dec 2008 2,312 297 542 1,449 1,524 6,123

14. Property, plant and equipment

EUR 1,000

Land and water Buildings Machinery and 
equipment

Prepayments 
and unfi nished 

acquisitions

Total

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2008 417 23,372 27,207 1,126 52,121

Increase 105 594 6,884 4,159 11,741

Decrease 0 -46 -1,401 -4,250 -5,697

Exchange rate difference 4 -61 -567 -23 -647

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2008 526 23,859 32,123 1,011 57,520

Accumulated depreciation and impairment 1 Jan 2008 0 -8,800 -17,376 0 -26,176

Depreciation and amortisation 0 -1,091 -3,181 0 -4,272

Accumulated depreciation on decrease and transfers 0 13 269 0 282

Exchange rate difference 0 41 163 0 204

Accumulated depreciation and impairment 31 Dec 2008 0 -9,837 -20,125 0 -29,963

Book value 1 Jan 2008 417 14,572 9,831 1,126 25,946

Book value 31 Dec 2008 526 14,022 11,998 1,011 27,557

EUR 1,000

Land and water Buildings Machinery and 
equipment

Prepayments 
and unfi nished 

acquisitions

Total

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2007 425 23,032 23,934 361 47,752

Increase 0 515 4,936 4,531 9,981

Decrease 0 -5 -1,587 -3,766 -5,357

Exchange rate difference -9 -170 -76 0 -255

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2007 417 23,372 27,207 1,126 52,121

Accumulated depreciation and impairment 1 Jan 2007 0 -7,748 -15,697 0 -23,445

Depreciation and amortisation 0 -1,090 -2,637 0 -3,727

Accumulated depreciation on decrease and transfers 0 3 832 0 835

Exchange rate difference 0 36 126 0 161

Accumulated depreciation and impairment 31 Dec 2007 0 -8,800 -17,376 0 -26,176

Book value 1 Jan 2007 425 15,284 8,237 361 24,307

Book value 31 Dec 2007 417 14,572 9,831 1,126 25,946

EUR 1,000

31 Dec 2007 Buildings Machinery and equipment Total

Acquisition cost 762 2,682 3,444

Accumulated depreciation -228 -1,113 -1,341

Book value 534 1,569 2,103

The increases in the acquisition cost of property, plant and equipment include EUR 2.1 million of assets rented on fi nance lease in 2008 (EUR 2.1 million in 2007). 
   

13. Earnings per share

Undiluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profi t for the accounting period belonging to the parent company’s shareholders by the weighted average 
of shares outstanding during the fi nancial period.       

2008 2007

Profi t for the fi nancial period belonging to parent company shareholders (EUR 1,000) 4,351 26,477

Weighted average number of shares during the fi nancial period (1,000 pcs) 27,968 28,000

Undiluted earnings per share (EUR/share) 0,16 0,95

In the calculation of earnings per share adjusted for dilution, the weighted average number of shares includes the diluting effect of the conversion of all potential 
ordinary shares. The Group’s current share-based incentive scheme does not produce a diluting effect, which means that the earnings per share adjusted for 
dilution equal the undiluted earnings per share.   

Consolidated fi nancial statements (IFRS)Consolidated fi nancial statements (IFRS)
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Financial lease contracts

Property, plant and equipment includes the following items rented on a fi nance lease contract:  

EUR 1,000

31 Dec 2008 Buildings Machinery and equipment Total

Acquisition cost 762 2,682 3,444

Accumulated depreciation -266 -1,108 -1,374

Book value 496 1,574 2,070

15. Intangible assets

EUR 1,000

 Development 
expenditure

Patent costs Intangible 
rights 

Other 
intangible 

assets

Prepayments 
and unfi nished 

acquisitions

Total

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2008 1,814 549 332 3,053 1,528 7,276

Increase 1,054 28 412 1,120 1,641 4,256

Transfers between items 0 0 0 44 0 44

Decrease 0 0 0 -19 -1,645 -1,664

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2008 2,868 577 745 4,198 1,524 9,911

Accumulated depreciation and impairment 1 Jan 2008 -304 -224 -97 -2,390 0 -3,015

Depreciation and amortisation -252 -56 -106 -350 0 -764

Accumulated depreciation on decrease and transfers 0 0 0 -9 0 -9

Accumulated depreciation and impairment 31 Dec 2008 -556 -280 -203 -2,749 0 -3,788

Book value 1 Jan 2008 1,510 325 235 663 1,528 4,262

Book value 31 Dec 2008 2,312 297 542 1,449 1,524 6,123

14. Property, plant and equipment

EUR 1,000

Land and water Buildings Machinery and 
equipment

Prepayments 
and unfi nished 

acquisitions

Total

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2008 417 23,372 27,207 1,126 52,121

Increase 105 594 6,884 4,159 11,741

Decrease 0 -46 -1,401 -4,250 -5,697

Exchange rate difference 4 -61 -567 -23 -647

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2008 526 23,859 32,123 1,011 57,520

Accumulated depreciation and impairment 1 Jan 2008 0 -8,800 -17,376 0 -26,176

Depreciation and amortisation 0 -1,091 -3,181 0 -4,272

Accumulated depreciation on decrease and transfers 0 13 269 0 282

Exchange rate difference 0 41 163 0 204

Accumulated depreciation and impairment 31 Dec 2008 0 -9,837 -20,125 0 -29,963

Book value 1 Jan 2008 417 14,572 9,831 1,126 25,946

Book value 31 Dec 2008 526 14,022 11,998 1,011 27,557

EUR 1,000

Land and water Buildings Machinery and 
equipment

Prepayments 
and unfi nished 

acquisitions

Total

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2007 425 23,032 23,934 361 47,752

Increase 0 515 4,936 4,531 9,981

Decrease 0 -5 -1,587 -3,766 -5,357

Exchange rate difference -9 -170 -76 0 -255

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2007 417 23,372 27,207 1,126 52,121

Accumulated depreciation and impairment 1 Jan 2007 0 -7,748 -15,697 0 -23,445

Depreciation and amortisation 0 -1,090 -2,637 0 -3,727

Accumulated depreciation on decrease and transfers 0 3 832 0 835

Exchange rate difference 0 36 126 0 161

Accumulated depreciation and impairment 31 Dec 2007 0 -8,800 -17,376 0 -26,176

Book value 1 Jan 2007 425 15,284 8,237 361 24,307

Book value 31 Dec 2007 417 14,572 9,831 1,126 25,946

EUR 1,000

31 Dec 2007 Buildings Machinery and equipment Total

Acquisition cost 762 2,682 3,444

Accumulated depreciation -228 -1,113 -1,341

Book value 534 1,569 2,103

The increases in the acquisition cost of property, plant and equipment include EUR 2.1 million of assets rented on fi nance lease in 2008 (EUR 2.1 million in 2007). 
   

13. Earnings per share

Undiluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profi t for the accounting period belonging to the parent company’s shareholders by the weighted average 
of shares outstanding during the fi nancial period.       

2008 2007

Profi t for the fi nancial period belonging to parent company shareholders (EUR 1,000) 4,351 26,477

Weighted average number of shares during the fi nancial period (1,000 pcs) 27,968 28,000

Undiluted earnings per share (EUR/share) 0,16 0,95

In the calculation of earnings per share adjusted for dilution, the weighted average number of shares includes the diluting effect of the conversion of all potential 
ordinary shares. The Group’s current share-based incentive scheme does not produce a diluting effect, which means that the earnings per share adjusted for 
dilution equal the undiluted earnings per share.   
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18. Other fi nancial assets

Investments available for sale

EUR 1,000 Other shares and holdings

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2008 101

Increase 8

Decrease 0

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2008 109

 

EUR 1,000                                                                                                                                                                                    Other shares and holdings

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2007 26

Increase 75

Decrease 0

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2007 101

 

19. Receivables (non-current)

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Loans receivable 569 349

Other receivables 1,203 27

Accrued income 48 54

Total 1,820 430

Receivables do not have any signifi cant credit risk concentrations.

Goodwill and allocation of goodwill 

Goodwill is allocated to the following cash-generating units:

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Epec Oy 3,467 3,521

Lako Oy 216 216

Total 3,683 3,737

Impairment testing    
    
For impairment testing, the recoverable amounts from Epec Oy have been determined on the basis of value in use. The cash fl ow forecast is based on three-year 
forecasts approved by management. The applicable discount rate before tax is 13%. The discount rate before tax is determined on the basis of weighted average 
cost of capital (WACC). Cash fl ows following the forecast period approved by management have been estimated by extrapolating with a steady growth factor of 1%. 
The growth factor applied does not exceed long-term realised growth of the sectors in question.       
  
The essential variables used for the calculation of value in use are the following:     
1. Budgeted operating margin – Determined on the basis of forecast operating margin for the next three years. The value of the variable is based on realised 
development.      
     
2. Forecast residual value – Determined on the basis of the last budgeted year 2011 and a steady growth factor of 1%. The residual value is not expected to change 
essentially as continuous product development and anticipated intensifi cation of competition are considered.     
     
3. Discount rate – Determined on the basis of the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) method representing the total cost of equity and liabilities taking into 
account any specifi c risks associated with the assets and the sector of business.        

Sensitivity analysis for impairment testing    
    
If the profi t forecasts for 2009–2011 were adjusted downwards by 50% when testing the goodwill of Epec Oy, it would not result in impairment.    
           
      
   16. Investment properties      

  The Group has no investment properties.

17. Holdings in associated companies

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

At beginning of fi nancial period 2,156 1,328

Share of the result of the fi nancial period -267 828

At end of fi nancial period 1,889 2,156

Information concerning the Group’s associated company, its assets, liabilities, net sales and profi t/loss:  

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Associated company

Sunit Oy, Kajaani, Finland

Assets 6,774 8,391

Liabilities 855 1,638

Net sales 7,452 17,802

Profi t/loss 268 3,055

Share of ownership 34% 34%

Sunit Oy specialises in telematics and manufactures vehicle computers.

EUR 1,000

 Development 
expenditure

Patent costs Intangible 
rights 

Other 
intangible 

assets

Prepayments 
and unfi nished 

acquisitions

Total

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2007 856 530 80 3,138 1,570 6,174

Increase 958 19 177 85 1,248 2,487

Transfers between items 0 0 159 -159 0 0

Decrease 0 0 -84 -11 -1,290 -1,385

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2007 1,814 549 332 3,053 1,528 7,276

Accumulated depreciation and impairment 1 Jan 2007 -199 -171 -80 -2,119 0 -2,569

Depreciation and amortisation -105 -53 -47 -338 0 -543

Accumulated depreciation on decrease and transfers 0 0 30 67 0 97

Accumulated depreciation and impairment 31 Dec 2007 -304 -224 -97 -2,390 0 -3,015

Book value 1 Jan 2007 657 359 0 1 019 1,570 3,605

Book value 31 Dec 2007 1,510 325 235 663 1,528 4,262

Consolidated fi nancial statements (IFRS)Consolidated fi nancial statements (IFRS)

Other financial assets mainly contain unquoted shares in enterprises serving the company’s operations. They are measured at acquisition cost because their fair values are 
not reliably available.    
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Other financial assets mainly contain unquoted shares in enterprises serving the company’s operations. They are measured at acquisition cost because their fair values are 
not reliably available.    
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24. Notes on shareholders’ equity

The following table is a presentation of the effects of changes in the numbers of shares: 

Number of shares 
(1,000 pcs)

Share capital 
(EUR 1,000)

Other reserves 
(EUR 1,000)

Treasury shares 
(EUR 1,000)

Total 
(EUR 1,000)

31 Dec 2005 14,000 7,000 20 0 7,020

Split 1:2 (29 Mar 2006) 14,000 0 0 0 0

31 Dec 2007 28,000 7,000 20 0 7,020

Purchase of the company’s own shares -48 0 0 -664 -664

31 Dec 2008 27,952 7,000 20 -664 6,356

21. Inventories

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Raw materials and consumables 43,014 40,589

Work in progress 1,639 2,266

Finished products/goods 16,616 9,292

Other stocks 27,038 13,487

Total 88,308 65,635

EUR 1,155 thousand was recognised as an expense item, which was used to reduce the book value of stocks to correspond to the net realisable value 
(EUR 610 thousand in 2007).   

22. Trade receivables and other receivables (current) 

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Trade receivables 22,155 29,276

Receivables from associated companies 0 0

Other receivables 3,561 5,456

Accrued income 1,830 630

27,547 35,361

Derivative contracts held for trading 1,525 1,106

Total 29,072 36,467

The Group’s credit losses for trade receivables amounted to EUR 598 thousand (EUR 283 thousand in 2007) during the fi nancial period. Receivables do not have 
any signifi cant credit risk concentrations. Balance sheet values best describe the amount of money that is the maximum amount of credit risk.    
 
The essential items of accrued income are associated with public subsidies.    
    
The currency distribution for receivables is presented in Note 30 and fair values in Note 31.    

Trade receivables by age and items recognised as credit losses

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Non-matured 9,360 14,190

Matured

Less than 30 days 7,594 10,222

30-60 days 1,754 1,835

61-90 days 1,161 1,358

More than 90 days 2,885 1,954

Credit losses -598 -283

Total 22,155 29,276

23. Liquid assets

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Cash in hand and at banks 8,095 12,633

Total 8,095 12,633

20. Deferred tax receivables and liabilities

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Deferred tax receivables:

Inventories 1,245 873

Fixed assets 22 19

Provisions 0 0

Tax losses 1,854 793

Other temporary items 0 0

Total 3,121 1,685

Deferred tax liabilities:

Goodwill 28 81

Inventories 124 92

Fixed assets 390 545

Other temporary items 14 50

Total 556 768

No deferred tax has been recognised through shareholders’ equity. 

The maximum number of shares is 48 million (48 million in 2007). The nominal value of each share is EUR 0.25, and the Group’s maximum share capital is EUR 12 million (EUR 

12 million in 2007). The number of shares outstanding is 28 million (28 million in 2007). All issued shares have been paid in full.    

 

All shares are of the same series and each share entitles its holder to one vote at shareholders’ meetings and gives an equal right to dividends.   

  

Ponsse Plc has no outstanding convertible notes or bonds with warrants. The company operates a share-based incentive scheme for key personnel. The Board of Directors of 

Ponsse Plc is authorised, until 30 June 2009, to purchase a maximum of 250,000 of the company’s own shares. 

Ponsse Plc’s Board of Directors is not currently authorised to increase the share capital or issue convertible notes or bonds with warrants.    
 
Treasury shares 
The treasury shares fund includes the parent company’s acquisition cost of own shares acquired during the financial period of 2008, amounting to EUR 664 thousand, and it is 

shown as a decrease of equity. 

Translation differences
The translation differences reserve comprises translation differences arising from the translation of financial statements of non-Finnish units.

 

Other reserves 
Other reserves consist of the contingency funds of Ponsse AB and Ponssé S.A.S. 

Dividends 
The Board of Directors proposes that the Annual General Meeting authorise the Board of Directors to decide on the distribution of dividends amounting to a maximum of 

EUR 0.10 per share (max EUR 2,800,000) during 2009. 

     

Consolidated fi nancial statements (IFRS)Consolidated fi nancial statements (IFRS)
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29. Trade creditors and other liabilities

EUR 1,000

Current fi nancial liabilities measured at original amortised cost 2008 2007

Trade creditors (other fi nancial liabilities) 14,012 23,158

Advances received 228 1 813

Advance invoicing 435 240

Other liabilities 1,575 1,225

Accruals and deferred income

   Accrued staff expenses 6,865 6,564

   Interest accruals 495 168

   Accruals and deferred income in respect of inventories 484 580

   Other accruals and deferred income 2,937 4,422

Derivative contracts held for trading 273 132

Total 27,304 38,300

Non-current fi nancial liabilities measured at original amortised cost

Accruals and deferred income 46 0

R&D loan (other fi nancial liabilities), France 0 30

Total 46 30

28. Financial liabilities

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Non-current fi nancial liabilities measured at original amortised cost

Loans from fi nancial institutions 15,496 14,499

Pension loans 8,585 0

Subordinated loan 0 65

Finance lease liabilities 2,059 2,153

Arrangement for sales recognition 815 0

Total 26,955 16,717

Current fi nancial liabilities measured at original amortised cost

Loans from fi nancial institutions 44,593 16,603

Pension loans 1,431 0

Finance lease liabilities 745 623

Arrangement for sales recognition 0 0

Total 46,769 17,225

Due dates of fi nance lease liabilities

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Finance lease liabilities - total amount of minimum rents 

Within less than twelve months 873 726

1 to 5 years 2,078 2,086

After more than fi ve years 156 234

Total 3,107 3,046

Finance lease liabilities - present value of minimum rents 

Within less than twelve months 745 623

1 to 5 years 1,913 1,940

After more than fi ve years 146 213

Total 2,804 2,776

Financial expenses to be accrued in the future 303 270

Total fi nance lease liabilities 3,107 3,046

25. Share-based payment plans

26. Defi ned benefi t pension obligations

The Group did not have any pension obligations.

27. Provisions

EUR 1,000 Guarantee provision

31 Dec 2007 4,341

Increase 2,087

Used provisions -370

31 Dec 2008 6,058

Terms and conditions of the share-based incentive scheme    

     
During the financial period, the Group has introduced a share-based incentive scheme aimed at the Group’s key personnel.     

The share-based incentive scheme is conditional as follows:      
- date of granting 29 April 2008,     
- the number of instruments granted was 78,000 shares, of which 69,000 were outstanding on 31 December 2008,    
- the condition for entitlement is approximately 3 years’ employment and a transfer ban period of 2 years so that the commitment period ends on 31 December 2012. 
  Further conditions are increase of market value, cash flow and net sales of maintenance services.     
- implemented as shares and cash.     
     
On the balance sheet date 31 December 2008, the management estimated that the non-market-based conditions will not be met. For the market-based condition, the evalu-
ation is based on the share price of EUR 14.90 quoted on the date of granting 29 April 2008 which value will not be altered during the term of the scheme other than for 
lost entitlements. The amount to be paid in cash is measured at the price of the measurement date, 31 December 2008, EUR 4.50 so the amount recognised as liability is 
EUR 8 thousand. The amount recognised as expense during the financial period is EUR 33 thousand, and it is shown under employment benefit expenses.   
        

Guarantee provision    
Products are given a 12 month / 2000 hour guarantee. Any faults or errors noted in machines during the guarantee period will be repaired at the Company’s own expense according 
to the conditions of guarantee. Guarantee provisions at the end of 2008 amounted to EUR 6,058 thousand (EUR 4,341 thousand in 2007). The guarantee provision is based on 
failure history recorded in the previous years. The guarantee provisions are expected to be used during the next year.      
  

   
The company’s financial liabilities are exclusively guaranteed by covenants, the major criteria of which is the equity ratio.     

The currency distribution for receivables is presented in Note 30 and fair values in Note 31.      
      
The Group has both floating rate and fixed rate bank loans.       
      
         
    

EUR 41,714 thousand of all liabilities have a fixed interest rate (EUR 10,263 thousand in 2007). Other loans are linked to EURIBOR and amount to EUR 31,195 thousand 
(EUR 22,900 thousand in 2007). 

      

The Group’s floating rate liabilities and their contractual re-pricing periods are: 

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Within less than twelve months 24,414 12,221

1 to 5 years 6,781 11,459

Total 31,195 23,680

Consolidated fi nancial statements (IFRS)Consolidated fi nancial statements (IFRS)
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- the condition for entitlement is approximately 3 years’ employment and a transfer ban period of 2 years so that the commitment period ends on 31 December 2012. 
  Further conditions are increase of market value, cash flow and net sales of maintenance services.     
- implemented as shares and cash.     
     
On the balance sheet date 31 December 2008, the management estimated that the non-market-based conditions will not be met. For the market-based condition, the evalu-
ation is based on the share price of EUR 14.90 quoted on the date of granting 29 April 2008 which value will not be altered during the term of the scheme other than for 
lost entitlements. The amount to be paid in cash is measured at the price of the measurement date, 31 December 2008, EUR 4.50 so the amount recognised as liability is 
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Guarantee provision    
Products are given a 12 month / 2000 hour guarantee. Any faults or errors noted in machines during the guarantee period will be repaired at the Company’s own expense according 
to the conditions of guarantee. Guarantee provisions at the end of 2008 amounted to EUR 6,058 thousand (EUR 4,341 thousand in 2007). The guarantee provision is based on 
failure history recorded in the previous years. The guarantee provisions are expected to be used during the next year.      
  

   
The company’s financial liabilities are exclusively guaranteed by covenants, the major criteria of which is the equity ratio.     

The currency distribution for receivables is presented in Note 30 and fair values in Note 31.      
      
The Group has both floating rate and fixed rate bank loans.       
      
         
    

EUR 41,714 thousand of all liabilities have a fixed interest rate (EUR 10,263 thousand in 2007). Other loans are linked to EURIBOR and amount to EUR 31,195 thousand 
(EUR 22,900 thousand in 2007). 

      

The Group’s floating rate liabilities and their contractual re-pricing periods are: 

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Within less than twelve months 24,414 12,221

1 to 5 years 6,781 11,459

Total 31,195 23,680

Consolidated fi nancial statements (IFRS)Consolidated fi nancial statements (IFRS)
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Interest rate risk     
     
The Group’s short-term money market investments expose its cash fl ow to interest rate risk but the overall effect is not signifi cant. The Group’s income and operational 
cash fl ows are mainly independent of market interest rate fl uctuations. The Group is mainly exposed to interest rate risk associated with the noncurrent loan portfolio. 
To some extent, the Group hedges the interest rate risk associated with future cash fl ows by interest rate swaps.     
 
Sensitivity analysis for fl oating interest loans:    

The following table is a presentation of the strengthening or weakening of the euro against the United States dollar, the pound sterling and the Swedish krona,  with 
all other factors remaining unchanged. The change percentages refl ect average volatility during the previous 12 months. The sensitivity analysis is based on foreign 
currency assets and liabilities on the balance sheet date. The sensitivity analysis also takes into consideration the effects of currency derivates, which set-off the effects 
of exchange rate changes.       
       
The changes would mainly have been caused by exchange rate changes in foreign currency trade receivables and liabilities.     

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Change in EUR exchange rate Strengthening Weakening Strengthening Weakening

+10% -10% +10% -10%

Effect on profi t after tax

USD -877 877 131 -131

SEK -400 400 -73 73

GBP -144 144 -24 24

Total -1,420 1,420 34 -34

EUR 1,000 Balance sheet 
value

Cash fl ow * Within less 
than one year

1 to 5 years After more 
than fi ve years

31 Dec 2008

Bank loans 60,089 64,191 47,597 16,594 0

Pension loans 10,016 12,092 1,932 7,155 3,005

Subordinated loan 0 0 0 0 0

Finance lease liabilities 2,804 3,107 873 2,078 156

Trade creditors and other liabilities 27,031 27,031 27,031

Foreign currency derivatives

Liabilities 273 273 273

*) contractual cash fl ow from contracts cleared in gross values

Credit risk  
     
The Group’s policy defi nes creditworthiness requirements for customers, investment transactions and counterparties to derivatives, as well as investment principles. 
The Group does not have any signifi cant concentrations of credit risk on receivables because its customer base is wide and geographically-diversifi ed and because the 
Group only grants credit to enterprises with a fl awless credit rating. The amount of credit losses recognised through profi t or loss during the fi nancial period was not 
signifi cant. The Group’s maximum credit risk corresponds to the book value of fi nancial assets at period-end. Trade receivables are presented by age in Note 22. 
      
Liquidity risk    
     
The Group aims to continuously estimate and monitor the amount of fi nancing required for business operations in order to maintain suffi cient liquid assets for fi nancing 
the operations and repaying any loans falling due.    
    
The availability and fl exibility of fi nancing is ensured through credit facilities and other fi nancial instruments, as well as through co-operation with several banks. The 
amount of unused credit facilities on 31 December 2008 was EUR 28.6 million (2007: EUR 20 million).    

The following is a presentation of a contractual maturity analysis regarding fi nancial liabilities. The fi gures are non-discounted and include both interest payments and 
repayment of capital.         

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Change percentage +1% -1% +1% -1%

Effect on profi t after tax -231 231 -175 175

EUR 1,000 Balance sheet 
value

Cash fl ow * Within less 
than one year

1 to 5 years After more 
than fi ve years

31 Dec 2007

Bank loans 31,102 34,172 18,364 15,455 353

Pension loans 0 0 0 0 0

Subordinated loan 65 78 2 8 67

Finance lease liabilities 2,776 3,046 726 2,086 234

Trade creditors and other liabilities 38,168 38,168 38,168

Foreign currency derivatives

Liabilities 132 132 132

*) contractual cash fl ow from contracts cleared in gross values

30. Management of fi nancing risks      
       
The Group is exposed to several fi nancing risks in its normal course of business. The objective of the Group’s risk management is to minimise the adverse effects of 
changes in the fi nancial markets on the Group’s earnings. The primary types of fi nancing risks are foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk. The Group uses forward 
exchange agreements, foreign currency loans and interest rate swaps for risk management. The general principles of the Group’s risk management are approved by the 
Board of Directors of the parent company, and Group management together with the management of subsidiaries is responsible for their practical implementation. Group 
management will identify and assess the risks and acquire the instruments required for hedging against risks in close cooperation with operating units.    
   
Foreign exchange risk      
      
The Group operates internationally and is therefore exposed to transaction risks arising from different foreign exchange positions, as well as risks arising from the 
conversion of investments in different currencies to the parent company’s operating currency. The most important currencies for the Group are the United States dollar 
(USD), the Swedish krona (SEK) and the pound sterling (GBP). Foreign exchange risks arise from commercial transactions, monetary balance sheet items and net 
investments in foreign subsidiaries.      
      
The Group processes monetary items at net amounts and hedges them with forward exchange agreements. Hedging transactions are carried out in accordance with 
written risk management principles approved by Group management but hedge accounting in accordance with IAS 39 is not applied to these items (Notes 10 and 11).  
    
The parent company’s operating currency is the euro. Receivables and liabilities in a foreign currency at the exchange rates valid on the balance sheet date are as follows:  
         

2008 2007

Nominal values USD SEK GBP USD SEK GBP

EUR 1,000

Foreign currency receivables 25,958 12,226 3,711 19,081 7,104 3,511

Foreign currency liabilities 2,117 2,993 224 2,429 2,271 435

Foreign currency derivatives 11,994 3,825 1,548 18,422 3,847 2,754

Net position 11,847 5,409 1,940 -1,770 986 322

Consolidated fi nancial statements (IFRS)Consolidated fi nancial statements (IFRS)
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34. Pledges given and contingent liabilities

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Pledges given for own debt

Mortgages given on land and buildings 0 0

Chattel mortgages granted 0 0

Other contingent liabilities

Guarantees given on behalf of others 1,090 1,285

Repurchase commitments 4,049 3,202

Other commitments 1,443 1,059

32. Joint ventures

The Group has no investments in joint ventures.

33. Other lease contracts

Group as lessee

Minimum rents due based on other non-cancellable leases:

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Within one year 1,148 334

Within one to fi ve years 3,328 724

After more than fi ve years 3,710 0

Group as lessor

The Group does not have any substantial non-cancellable leases.  

31. Fair values of fi nancial assets and liabilities

The following is a presentation of the fair value determination principles used by the Group for all fi nancial instruments. Furthermore, the table includes a detailed 
presentation of the fair values and book values of each item that correspond to the values in the consolidated balance sheet.   

EUR 1,000
Note Book value 

2008
Fair value 2008 Book value 

2007
Fair value 2007

Financial assets

Other fi nancial assets 18. 109 109 101 101

Trade receivables and other receivables 22. 29,072 29,072 36,467 36,467

Liquid assets 23. 8,095 8,095 12,633 12,633

Forward exchange agreements 22. 1,525 1,525 1,068 1,068

Interest rate swaps 22. 0 0 38 38

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Interest-bearing liabilities 72,909 33,943

Interest-bearing receivables 0 0

Liquid assets -8,095 -12,633

Net liabilities 64,814 21,310

Total shareholders’ equity 67,113 76,532

Gearing 96.6% 27.8%

Financial liabilities

Loans from fi nancial institutions 28. 60,089 54,552 31,102 27,174

Pension loans 28. 10,016 8,374 0 0

Subordinated loan 28. 0 0 65 65

Finance lease liabilities 28. 2,804 2,617 2,776 2,590

Arrangement for sales recognition 28. 815 815 0 0

Trade creditors and other liabilities 29. 27,350 27,350 38,330 38,330

Forward exchange agreements 29. 225 225 132 132

Interest rate swaps 29. 48 48 0 0

The Group has leased some of the service facilities it has used. The average contract length is five years, usually with an option to continue the contract after its original 
expiration date.     

The profit and loss account for 2008 includes EUR 1,809 thousand of rent expenses paid on the basis of other lease contracts (EUR 2,027 thousand in 2007).  
        

Consolidated fi nancial statements (IFRS) Consolidated fi nancial statements (IFRS)

Capital management
 

The purpose of the Group’s capital management is to support business through an optimum capital structure by ensuring normal operating conditions and to increase  
shareholder value with the aim of providing the best possible return. An optimum capital structure also ensures smaller capital costs.   
 
The capital structure can be affected through e.g. dividend distribution. The Group can change and adjust the dividends paid to shareholders or the amount of capital 
returned to them or the number of new issued shares or decide on selling assets held for sale in order to reduce liabilities.    

The Group’s interest-bearing net liabilities at the end of 2008 were EUR 64.8 million (31 Dec 2007: EUR 21.3 million) and gearing was 96.6 per cent (31 Dec 2007: 
27.8 per cent). For the purpose of calculating the gearing, interest-bearing net liabilities were divided by the amount of equity. Net liabilities include interest-bearing 
liabilities deducted by interest-bearing receivables and liquid assets.        

The nominal values of forward agreements were EUR 18.9 million in 2008 and EUR 28.7 million in 2007.     
The following price quotations, assumptions and valuation models have been used for the determination of fair values for financial assets and liabilities presented in the table: 
    
The book values of current financial assets and liabilities can be considered to correspond to their fair values.     

Unquoted equity investments are measured at acquisition cost as they cannot be measured at fair value using the valuation methods. The fair value of the investments could not 
be determined reliably and estimates vary significantly, or the probabilities of different estimates within the range of variation cannot be reasonably determined and used for the 
assessment of fair value. The original book value of receivables corresponds to their fair value.      

The fair values of forward exchange agreements are determined using the market prices for agreements of similar duration on the balance sheet date. The fair values of interest rate 
swaps have been determined using the method of present value of future cash flows, supported by market interest rates and other market information on the balance sheet date. 
    
The fair values of interest-bearing liabilities have been calculated by discounting the cash flows associated with each liability at the market interest rate on the balance sheet date. 
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FINANCIAL INDICATORS

IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Extent of operations

Net sales (EUR 1,000) 293,015 310,053 238,642 226,095 177,934

Change, % -5.5 29.9 5.5 27.1 7.2

R&D expenditure

   capitalised, (EUR 1,000) 1,230 851 808 461 329

   expensed, (EUR 1,000) 6,341 4,856 3,334 3,218 3,382

R&D expenditure, total (EUR 1,000) 7,571 5,708 4,142 3,679 3,711

as % of turnover 2.6 1.8 1.7 1.6 2.1

Gross investments in fi xed assets (EUR 1,000) 8,509 6,565 5,318 11,220 9,029

as % of turnover 2.9 2.1 2.2 5.0 5.1

Average number of employees 1,044 876 795 729 607

Turnover per employee (EUR 1,000) 281 354 300 310 293

Order stock, EUR million 41.5 110.1 59.2 54.9 44.4

Profi tability

Operating profi t (EUR 1,000) 13,628 37,080 29,590 29,051 19,700

as % of turnover 4.7 12.0 12.4 12.8 11.1

Profi t before tax (EUR 1,000) 6,258 36,384 28,505 28,111 19,172

as % of turnover 2.1 11.7 11.9 12.4 10.8

Profi t for the period (EUR 1,000) 4,351 26,477 21,042 19,629 13,532

as % of turnover 1.5 8.5 8.8 8.7 7.6

Return on equity, % (ROE) 6.1 38.5 37.4 45.4 34.7

Return on capital employed, % (ROCE) 7.5 37.4 35.5 40.5 31.1

Financing and fi nancial position

Current ratio 1.7 2.0 2.3 2.1 2.0

Equity ratio, % 38.4 50.3 49.1 47.6 36.0

Gearing, % 108.6 44.4 50.5 47.5 93.3

Interest-bearing liabilities (EUR 1,000) 72,909 33,943 30,895 24,398 32,291

Non-interest-bearing liabilities (EUR 1,000) 34,733 43,439 32,964 32,476 30,205

Management’s employment-related benefi ts 2008 2007

EUR 1,000

Salaries and other short-term employment-related benefi ts 2,489 1,891

Benefi ts paid upon termination of employment 165 0

Total 2,653 1,891

Salaries and bonuses

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Managing directors 376 227

Members of the Board of Directors:

Aarni-Sirviö Maarit 32 24

Hagman Nils 54 74

Kylävainio Ilkka 32 30

Remes Seppo 32 30

Ryynänen Mirja, former member of the Board of Directors 0 6

Vidgrén Juha 25 24

Vidgrén Einari 109 99

Total 284 285

36. Events after the end of the fi nancial period

35. Related party transactions

The Group’s parent and subsidiary relationships are the following:

Name and domicile
  Group and parent company share
 of shares and votes, %

Parent company Ponsse Plc, Vieremä, Finland

Ponsse AB, Västerås, Sweden 100,00

Ponsse AS, Kongsvinger, Norway 100,00

Ponssé S.A.S, Gondreville, France 100,00

Ponsse UK Ltd, Lockerbie, United Kingdom 100,00

Ponsse North America, Inc., Rhinelander, United States 100,00

Ponsse Latin America Indústria de Máquinas Florestais Ltda, Mogi das Cruzes, Brazil 100,00

OOO Ponsse, St. Petersburg, Russia 100,00

Epec Oy, Seinäjoki, Finland 100,00

Ponsse Asia Pacifi c Ltd, Hong Kong 100,00

Ponsse China Ltd, China (owned by Ponsse Asia-Pacifi c Ltd) 100,00

Ponsse Uruguay S.A. (owned by Ponsse Latin America) 100,00

A list of associated companies is presented in Note 17. The Group has no joint ventures.   

The Group’s related parties include the parent company, subsidiaries and associates. Related parties also include the members of the Board of Directors and manage-
ment teams, including the CEO(s).     

The President and CEO is included in the performance-based bonus scheme. The bonus is based on a performance target approved by the Board of Directors. The President 
and CEO’s period of notice 6 months if service is terminated by the company, or 6 months if service is terminated by the President and CEO. The terms and conditions of the 
President and CEO’s employment are defined in writing in a service contract approved by the Board of Directors. 
No loans have been granted to management.           

The company announced on 3 February 2009 that the employer-employee procedures initiated on 8 December 2008 have been completed. The negotiations resulted in the 
termination of 158 contracts of employment in Finland. In addition to the terminations, the temporary lay-offs will continue in 2009. The cost effects of operational adjustments 
will be recognised during the financial period of 2009.       

Subsidiary company Epec Oy announced on 5 February 2009 that it will initiate employer-employee negotiations. The goal is to adjust the company’s costs to the lower demand. 
           

Consolidated fi nancial statements (IFRS)Consolidated fi nancial statements (IFRS)
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Profi t for the period (EUR 1,000) 4,351 26,477 21,042 19,629 13,532

as % of turnover 1.5 8.5 8.8 8.7 7.6

Return on equity, % (ROE) 6.1 38.5 37.4 45.4 34.7

Return on capital employed, % (ROCE) 7.5 37.4 35.5 40.5 31.1

Financing and fi nancial position

Current ratio 1.7 2.0 2.3 2.1 2.0

Equity ratio, % 38.4 50.3 49.1 47.6 36.0

Gearing, % 108.6 44.4 50.5 47.5 93.3

Interest-bearing liabilities (EUR 1,000) 72,909 33,943 30,895 24,398 32,291

Non-interest-bearing liabilities (EUR 1,000) 34,733 43,439 32,964 32,476 30,205

Management’s employment-related benefi ts 2008 2007

EUR 1,000

Salaries and other short-term employment-related benefi ts 2,489 1,891

Benefi ts paid upon termination of employment 165 0

Total 2,653 1,891

Salaries and bonuses

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Managing directors 376 227

Members of the Board of Directors:

Aarni-Sirviö Maarit 32 24

Hagman Nils 54 74

Kylävainio Ilkka 32 30

Remes Seppo 32 30

Ryynänen Mirja, former member of the Board of Directors 0 6

Vidgrén Juha 25 24

Vidgrén Einari 109 99

Total 284 285

36. Events after the end of the fi nancial period

35. Related party transactions

The Group’s parent and subsidiary relationships are the following:

Name and domicile
  Group and parent company share
 of shares and votes, %

Parent company Ponsse Plc, Vieremä, Finland

Ponsse AB, Västerås, Sweden 100,00

Ponsse AS, Kongsvinger, Norway 100,00

Ponssé S.A.S, Gondreville, France 100,00

Ponsse UK Ltd, Lockerbie, United Kingdom 100,00

Ponsse North America, Inc., Rhinelander, United States 100,00

Ponsse Latin America Indústria de Máquinas Florestais Ltda, Mogi das Cruzes, Brazil 100,00

OOO Ponsse, St. Petersburg, Russia 100,00

Epec Oy, Seinäjoki, Finland 100,00

Ponsse Asia Pacifi c Ltd, Hong Kong 100,00

Ponsse China Ltd, China (owned by Ponsse Asia-Pacifi c Ltd) 100,00

Ponsse Uruguay S.A. (owned by Ponsse Latin America) 100,00

A list of associated companies is presented in Note 17. The Group has no joint ventures.   

The Group’s related parties include the parent company, subsidiaries and associates. Related parties also include the members of the Board of Directors and manage-
ment teams, including the CEO(s).     

The President and CEO is included in the performance-based bonus scheme. The bonus is based on a performance target approved by the Board of Directors. The President 
and CEO’s period of notice 6 months if service is terminated by the company, or 6 months if service is terminated by the President and CEO. The terms and conditions of the 
President and CEO’s employment are defined in writing in a service contract approved by the Board of Directors. 
No loans have been granted to management.           

The company announced on 3 February 2009 that the employer-employee procedures initiated on 8 December 2008 have been completed. The negotiations resulted in the 
termination of 158 contracts of employment in Finland. In addition to the terminations, the temporary lay-offs will continue in 2009. The cost effects of operational adjustments 
will be recognised during the financial period of 2009.       

Subsidiary company Epec Oy announced on 5 February 2009 that it will initiate employer-employee negotiations. The goal is to adjust the company’s costs to the lower demand. 
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FORMULAE FOR FINANCIAL INDICATORS

 RETURN ON EQUITY, % (ROE) =

 RETURN ON CAPITAL EMPLOYED, % (ROCE)  = 

 EQUITY RATIO, % = 

 GEARING, % =

 AVERAGE NUMBER OF PERSONNEL       

DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR    =

 EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS) =

 EQUITY PER SHARE =

                      DIVIDEND PER SHARE,  

 ADJUSTED FOR SHARE ISSUES =

 DIVIDEND PER EARNINGS, % =

 EFFECTIVE DIVIDEND YIELD, % =

 PRICE/EARNINGS RATIO (P/E) =

 MARKET CAPITALISATION =

 SHARES TRADED, % =

IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Earnings per share (EPS), EUR 0.16 0.95 0.75 0.70 0.47

Equity per share, EUR 2.40 2.73 2.18 1.84 1.24

Nominal dividend per share, EUR 0.00 (2 0.50 0.40 0.40 0.10

Dividend per share adjusted for share issues, EUR 0.00 (2 0.50 0.40 0.40 0.10

Dividend per earnings, % 0.0 (2 42.3 53.2 57.0 21.1

Effective dividend yield, % 0.0 (2 2.8 3.1 3.6 1.4

Price/earnings ratio (P/E) 29.0 15.0 17.3 15.9 15.1

Share performance

   Lowest trading price 4.25 11.27 10.89 7.25 4.12

   Highest trading price 16.29 19.40 15.00 11.65 8.00

   Closing price 4.50 14.20 13.00 11.15 7.15

   Average price 10.17 15.31 12.43 9.05 5.23

Market capitalisation, EUR million 126.0 397.6 364.0 312.1 200.2

Dividends paid, EUR million 0.0 (2 14.0 11.2 11.2 2.8

Shares traded 2,715,572 3,812,860 3,576,975 4,370,432 7,490,584

Shares traded, % 9.7 13.6 12.8 15.6 26.8

Weighted average number of shares during

   the period, adjusted for share issues 28,000,000 28,000,000 28,000,000 28,000,000 28,000,000

Number of shares on the closing date,

   adjusted for share issues 28,000,000 28,000,000 28,000,000 28,000,000 28,000,000

1) Per-share data has been adjusted to refl ect the number of shares after the increase in 2006 (split 1:2).

2) The Board of Directors of Ponsse Plc proposes that the Annual General Meeting authorise the Board of Directors to decide on the distribution of dividends 
amounting to a maximum of EUR 0.10 per share (max EUR 2,800,000) during 2009.

Average of the number of personnel at the end of each month. 

The calculation has been adjusted for part-time employees.

Profit before tax – taxes (incl. change in deferred taxes) -/+ minority interest

Weighted average number of shares during the period, adjusted for share issues

Shareholders’ equity

Number of shares on balance sheet date, adjusted for share issues

Dividend per share

Adjustment factors for share issues after the financial period

Last trading price for the period, adjusted for share issues

Earnings per share

Number of shares at end of the financial year multiplied by the closing price on the last 

trading day of the financial year adjusted for share issues.

Profit for the period

Shareholders’ equity + minority interest (average during the year)
x 100

Profit before tax + financial expenses 

Balance sheet total – interest-free liabilities (average during the year)
x 100

Shareholders’ equity + minority interest

Balance sheet total – advances received
x 100

Interest-bearing liabilities 

Shareholders’ equity 
x 100

Dividend per share 

Earnings per share
   x 100

Dividend per share, adjusted for share issues

Last trading price for the period, adjusted for share issues
x 100

Shares traded during the period 

Average number of shares during the period
x 100

PER-SHARE DATA 1)
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PER-SHARE DATA 1)
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EUR 1,000 Note(1 2008 2007

Net sales 2 249,117 256,029

Increase (+)/decrease (-) in inventories of fi nished goods and work in progress 2,320 1,299

Other operating income 3 920 878

Raw materials and services 4 -179,917 -173,282

Staff costs 5, 6, 7 -33,190 -29,215

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 8 -3,336 -2,875

Other operating expenses -27,544 -23,039

Operating profi t 8,369 29,796

Financial income and expenses 10 -3,456 -1,727

Result before extraordinary items 4,914 28,069

Extraordinary items 5,000 5,000

Result after extraordinary items 9,914 33,069

Appropriations 11 170 306

Direct taxes 12 -2,865 -9,147

Profi t for the period 7,219 24,227

1) The note refers to the Notes to the Accounts on pages 71 - 79.

EUR 1,000

ASSETS Note(1 2008 2007

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 13 5,068 3,251

Tangible assets 13 20,202 19,992

Financial assets 14 11,412 12,432

Total non-current assets 36,682 35,675

Current assets

Inventories 15 47,654 39,866

Non-current receivables 16 783 809

Current receivables 16 81,544 64,822

Cash in hand and at banks 2,420 2,926

Total current assets 132,401 108,423

TOTAL ASSETS 169,082 144,097

EUR 1,000

LIABILITIES Note(1 2008 2007

Capital and reserves 17, 18

Share capital 7,000 7,000

Retained earnings 49,148 39,561

Profi t for the period 7,219 24,227

Total shareholders' equity 63,366 70,788

Appropriations 19 1,404 1,574

Provisions for liabilities and charges 20 6,058 4,341

Creditors

Non-current creditors 21 24,003 14,517

Current creditors 22 74,250 52,877

Total creditors 98,253 67,394

TOTAL LIABILITIES 169,082 144,097

1) The note refers to the Notes to the Accounts on pages 71 - 79.

PARENT COMPANY’S PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT PARENT COMPANY’S BALANCE SHEET

Parent company’s fi nancial statements (FAS)Parent company’s fi nancial statements (FAS)
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1. Accounting policies

Ponsse Plc’s financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the Finnish Ac-
counting Standards (FAS). The information in 
the financial statements is given in thousands 
of euro and is based on original acquisition 
costs unless otherwise stated in the accounting 
policies. The financial statements have been 
presented in accordance with the profit and 
loss account by type of expense.

Non-current assets
Non-current assets are recognised in the bal-
ance sheet at immediate cost less planned de-
preciation and amortisation. Planned depre-
ciation and amortisation has been calculated 
on a straight-line basis over the useful life of 
the assets. Depreciation and amortisation has 
been calculated starting from the month during 
which the asset was taken into use.

The depreciation and amortisation periods are:

Intangible rights................... 5 years
Other capitalised 
long-term expenses............... 3 to 5 years
Buildings and structures....... 20 years
Machinery and equipment.... 3 to 10 years

Inventories
Stocks are valued at acquisition cost or a lower 
probable net realisable value. The Standard 
Cost method is used as a basis for calculating 
the value of materials and supplies in stock. 
The acquisition cost of finished products and 
work in progress products comprises raw ma-
terials, direct expenses due to work performed, 
other direct expenses, and the appropriate pro-
portion of the variable and fixed overheads of 

manufacturing at the normal utilised capac-
ity. The inventory of second-hand machines is 
valued at acquisition cost or a lower probable 
net realisable value. Net realisable value refers 
to an estimated sales price available through 
normal business operations less the estimated 
costs of finishing the product and the costs of 
sale.

Guarantee provision
Probable guarantee expenses in respect of 
products delivered are booked under provi-
sions for liabilities and charges. 

Recognition of sales
Sales are recognised upon the delivery of per-
formance. Items such as indirect taxes and dis-
counts granted have been deducted from the 
sales revenue before calculating turnover. Ex-
change rate differences in sales are recognised 
in financial items. 

Leasing expenses
Leasing payments have been recognised as 
expenses.

R&D expenditure
Development costs that fulfil the capitalisa-
tion requirements of Chapter 5, Section 8 of 
the Accounting Act have been booked under 
intangible assets in the balance sheet and 
are subject to amortisation. Research costs 
are recognised directly as annual expenses. 
The method for booking R&D expenses was 
changed in 2003.
 
Pensions
Statutory pension cover for Group employees 
has been arranged through pension insurance 
companies and there are no outstanding pen-
sion liabilities. Pension insurance contribu-

tions have been allocated to match the wages 
and salaries booked on an accrual basis in the 
annual accounts.

Derivatives
The parent company’s derivatives include for-
ward exchange agreements and interest rate 
swaps measured at fair value on the balance 
sheet date. Changes in fair value are booked in 
financial items in the profit and loss account. 

Income taxes
Income taxes have been recognised according 
to Finnish tax legislation.

Foreign currency items
Business transactions in a foreign currency are 
recognised at the exchange rate on the transac-
tion date, while receivables and liabilities in 
the balance sheet are converted at the exchange 
rate on the balance sheet date. Exchange rate 
differences arising from the measurement of 
balance sheet items are booked under financial 
items in the profit and loss account.

Comparability with the previous year
The data for the financial year 1 January to 
31 December 2008 are comparable with the 
previous year.

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Business operations:

Operating profi t 8,369 29,796

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 3,336 2,875

Unrealised exchange gains and losses 25 1,010

Change in provisions 1,717 824

Cash fl ow before change in working capital 13,447 34,505

Change in working capital:

Increase(-)/decrease(+) in current non-interest-bearing receivables -13,049 -19,646

Increase(-)/decrease(+) in stocks -7,788 -9,098

Increase(+)/decrease(-) in current non-interest-bearing liabilities -6,760 7,522

Cash fl ow from operations before fi nancial items and income taxes -14,151 13,283

Interest received 1,523 1,305

Interest paid -2,435 -1,472

Dividends received 658 274

Other fi nancial items -1,875 -616

Income taxes paid -7,794 -7,678

Cash fl ow before extraordinary items -24,074 5,095

Net cash fl ow from extraordinary items in business operations 5,000 5,000

Net cash fl ow from business operations (A) -19,074 10,095

Investments:

Investments in tangible and intangible assets -5,344 -3,883

Proceeds from tangible and intangible assets 0 0

Investments in other assets 0 0

Cash outfl ow from investing activities (B) -5,344 -3,883

Financing:

Acquisition of treasury shares -664 0

Increase (+)/decrease (-) in current loans 29,039 9,564

Increase(-)/decrease(+) in current interest-bearing receivables 0 0

Increase (+)/decrease (-) in non-current loans 9,486 -5,212

Increase (-)/decrease (+) in non-current receivables 27 -599

Dividends paid and other distribution of profi t -13,976 -11,200

Net cash outfl ow from fi nancing (C) 23,911 -7,447

Increase (+)/decrease (-) in liquid assets (A+B+C) -506 -1,235

Liquid assets 1 Jan 2,926 4,161

Liquid assets 31 Dec 2,420 2,926

PARENT COMPANY’S CASH FLOW STATEMENT NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY’S ACCOUNTS
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2. Net sales by market area 

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Nordic countries 137,501 118,952

Rest of Europe 82,645 112,110

North and South America 25,878 23,219

Other countries 3,093 1,749

Total 249,117 256,029

3. Other operating income 

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Capital gains on property, plant and equipment 21 27

Public subsidies 264 447

Other 635 404

Total 920 878

4. Raw materials and services

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Raw materials and consumables 

Purchases during the accounting period 181,931 177,464

Increase (-)/decrease (+) in stocks -5,468 -7,061

External services 3,454 2,879

Raw materials and services, total 179,917 173,282

5. Average number of staff 

Persons 2008 2007

Employees 400 356

Clerical workers 258 219

Total 658 575

6. Staff costs 

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Salaries and bonuses 27,108 23,741

Pension costs 4,241 3,773

Other social security costs 1,841 1,701

Total 33,190 29,215

7. Management salaries and bonuses 

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Managing directors 376 227

Members of the Board of Directors 284 285

Total 660 512

8. Depreciation and value adjustments  

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Depreciation according to plan 3,336 2,875

Total 3,336 2,875

9. Auditor’s remunerations 

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Authorised Public Accountants Ernst & Young Oy

Auditor's remunerations 64 60

Certifi cates and statements 2 0

Tax advice 2 47

Other remunerations 10 8

Total 78 115

10. Financial income and expenses  

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Dividend income

From Group companies 300 100

From associated companies 358 174

From others 0 0

Total 658 274

Other interest and fi nancial income 

From Group companies 1,386 1,132

From others 15,039 5,984

Total 1,523 1,305

Other interest and fi nancial income, total 16,425 7,116

Total 17,083 7,390

Value adjustments of fi nancial securities 1,000 1,187

Interest and other fi nancial expenses

 To Group companies 161 215

To others 19,378 7,715

Total 2,762 1,503

Interest and other fi nancial expenses, total 19,539 7,930

Total 20,539 9,117

Financial income and expenses, total -3,456 -1,727

The item Interest and fi nancial income includes exchange rate losses (net) 1,730 640

11. Appropriations 

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Difference between depreciations according to plan and depreciations in taxation 170 306

12. Income taxes

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Income taxes from actual operation 2,865 9,147

Change in deferred tax receivable - -

Total 2,865 9,147
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13. Intangible and tangible assets

EUR 1,000
Intangible assets 2008  

Development 
costs

Patent costs Intangible 
rights 

Other 
capitalised long-
term expenses 

Prepayments 
and unfi nished 

acquisitions

Total

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2008 998 525 80 2,890 1,299 4,959

Increase 839 28 347 1,120 1,499 3,833

Decrease 0 0 0 -18 -1 429 0

Transfers between items 0 0 0 44 0 44

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2008 1,837 553 427 4,035 1,369 8,222

Accumulated depreciation 1 Jan 2008 -83 -203 -1,762 -2,254 0 -2,102

Accumulated depreciation on decrease and transfers 0 0 0 -10 0 -10

Depreciation for the accounting period -146 -55 -57 -344 0 -602

Accumulated depreciation 31 Dec 2008 -229 -259 -59 -2,608 0 -3,154

Book value 31 Dec 2008 1,608 295 368 1,428 1,369 5,068

Book value 31 Dec 2007 916 322 79 636 1,299 3,251

EUR 1,000
Tangible assets 2008 

Land and 
water

Buildings and 
structures 

Machinery 
and 

equipment 

Other 
tangible 
assets

Prepayments 
and unfi nished 

acquisitions

Total

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2008 350 20,251 16,784 6,923 1,010 35,237

Increase 0 474 2,821 22 3,882 7,199

Decrease 0 0 -14 0 -4,208 -4,266

Transfers between items 0 -44 0 0 0 0

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2008  350 20,681 19,590 29 684 41,336

Accumulated depreciation 1 Jan 2008 0 -7,945 -11,307 0 0 -16,983

Accumulated depreciation on decrease and transfers 0 11 0 0 0 11

Depreciation for the accounting period 0 -969 -1,765 0 0 -2,734

Accumulated depreciation 31 Dec 2008 0 -8,903 -13,072 0 0 -21,975

Revaluations 0 841 0 0 0 841

Book value 31 Dec 2008 350 12,619 6,518 29 684 20,202

Book value 31 Dec 2007 13,147 5,477 7 1,010 19,992

Book value of operating machinery and equipment

31 Dec 2008 4,976

31 Dec 2007 3,902

14. Financial assets  

EUR 1,000
Financial assets 2008 

Shares 
in Group 

companies

Shares in 
associated 
companies

Shares              
Other 

Receivables 
from Group 
companies

Receivables       
Other 

Total 

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2008 16,098 335 92 69 27 16,685

Increase 67 0 10 -69 -27 -20

Decrease 0 0 -125 0 0 0

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2008 16,165 335 101 0 0 16,601

Accumulated write-downs 1 Jan 2008 -4,190 0 0 0 0 -2,785

Decrease 0 0 0 0 0 0

Write-downs -1,000 0 0 0 0 -1,000

Revaluations 0 0 0 0 0 0

Book value 31 Dec 2008 10,976 335 101 0 0 11,412

Write-down includes the write-down of acquisition cost of Ponsse LA.

Group companies  

Name and domicile                                                                                                                                       Share of ownership %

Ponsse AB, Västerås, Sweden 100,0

Ponsse AS, Kongsvinger, Norway 100,0

Ponssé S.A.S, Gondreville, France 100,0

Ponsse UK Ltd, Lockerbie, United Kingdom 100,0

Ponsse North America, Inc., Rhinelander, United States 100,0

Ponsse Latin America Indústria de Máquinas Florestais Ltda, Mogi das Cruzes, Brazil 100,0

OOO Ponsse, St. Petersburg, Russia 100,0

Epec Oy, Seinäjoki, Finland 100,0

Ponsse Asia Pacifi c Ltd, Hong Kong 100,0

Ponsse China Ltd, China (owned by Ponsse Asia-Pacifi c Ltd) 100,0

Ponsse Uruguay S.A. (owned by Ponsse Latin America) 100,0

All Group companies were consolidated in the parent company’s fi nancial statements.

Associates

Name and domicile                                                                                                                                              Share of ownership %

Sunit Oy, Kajaani, Finland 34,0

The associate was consolidated in the parent company’s fi nancial statements.

A revaluation of EUR 841 thousand was made on 31 August 1994 of the parent company’s business premises at Vieremä. Depreciation has not been applied to the revalu-

ation. The revaluation includes a deferred tax liability of EUR 244 thousand. The revaluation was made on the basis of legislation then in effect because the likely sales price 

of the premises is permanently and substantially higher than the acquisition cost.         
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15. Inventories 

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Raw materials and consumables 28,976 30,011

Work in progress 746 1 627

Finished products/goods 6,061 2,759

Other stocks 11,872 5,468

Total 47,654 39,866

16. Receivables 

Non-current receivables

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Receivables from Group companies 

Loans receivable 783 809

Loans receivable 0 0

Other receivables 0 0

Non-current receivables, total 783 809

Current receivables

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Trade receivables 9,097 13,976

Receivables from Group companies 

Trade receivables 65,154 46,299

Other receivables 620 3,078

Accrued income

Grants receivable 163 328

Income tax receivables 3,697 0

Other accrued income 2,814 1,141

Accrued income, total 6,673 1,469

Current receivables, total 81,544 64,822

Receivables, total 82,326 65,631

17. Shareholders’ equity 

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Equity employed 

Share capital 1 Jan 7,000 7,000

Scrip issue 0 0

Share capital 31 Dec 7,000 7,000

Share premium account 1 Jan 0 0

Scrip issue 0 0

Share premium account 31 Dec 0 0

Equity employed, total 7,000 7,000

Shareholders’ surplus

Retained earnings 1 Jan 63,788 50,761

Treasury shares -664 0

Dividend distribution -13,976 -11,200

Retained earnings 31 Dec 49,147 39,561

Profi t for the period 7,219 24,227

Shareholders' surplus, total 56,366 63,788

Total shareholders’ equity 63,366 70,788

18. Distributable funds  

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Profi t for previous accounting periods 49,147 39,561

Profi t for the period 7,219 24,227

Total 56,366 63,788

Ponsse Plc’s registered share capital on 31 December 2008 was EUR 7,000,000 divided into 28,000,000 shares each having a nominal value of EUR 0.25. All shares are of 

the same series and each share entitles its holder to one vote at shareholder meetings and gives an equal right to a dividend.   

   

Ponsse Plc has no outstanding convertible notes or bonds with warrants. The parent company holds 47,900 treasury shares. The company operates a share-based incentive 

scheme for key personnel. Ponsse Plc’s Board of Directors has an authorisation to purchase a maximum of 250,000 of the Company’s own shares with the Company’s unre-

stricted equity. The authorisation is valid until 30 June 2009. Ponsse Plc’s Board of Directors is not currently authorised to increase the share capital or issue convertible 

notes or bonds with warrants.     
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19. Accumulated appropriations

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Depreciation difference 1,404 1,574

20. Provisions for liabilities and charges

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Guarantee provision 6,058 4,341

Other compulsory provisions 0 0

Total 6,058 4,341

21. Non-current creditors

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Loans from fi nancial institutions 15,418 14,517

Pension loans 8,585 0

Non-current creditors, total 24,003 14,517

Debts falling due in more than fi ve years 

2008 2007

Loans from fi nancial institutions 0 65

Pension loans 2,862 0

Total 2,862 65

22. Current creditors

EUR 1,000 2008 2007

Loans from fi nancial institutions 44,143 16,535

Pension loans 1,431 0

Advances received 38 729

Accounts payable 12,137 20,548

Liabilities to Group companies

Intra-Group accounts payable 6,299 2,313

Other intra-Group liabilities 2,000 3,529

Accruals and deferred income 0 0

Liabilities to Group companies, total  8,299 5,842

Advance invoicing 0 240

Other liabilities 1,017 755

Accruals and deferred income

Accrued staff expenses 4,236 4,209

Interest accruals 495 168

Income tax liability 0 1,232

Accruals and deferred income in respect of inventories 28 921

Other accruals and deferred income 2,426 1,698

Accruals and deferred income, total 7,185 8,228

Current creditors, total 74,250 52,877

23. Pledges given, contingent and other liabilities  

EUR 1,000

23.1 For own debt

Debts for which mortgages have been pledged as collateral 2008 2007

Loans from fi nancial institutions 0 0

Mortgages given on land and buildings 0 0

Chattel mortgages granted 0 0

Total 0 0

23.2 Leasing commitments 

Leasing payments payable under leasing agreements 2008 2007

Leasing payments payable during the next accounting period 1,207 690

Leasing payments payable thereafter 3,573 1,323

Total 4,780 2,013

23.3 Contingent liabilities on behalf of Group companies 2008 2007

Guarantees given on behalf of companies within the group 996 715

 The parent company has issued a written security for the external liabilities of its three subsidiaries.  

23.4 Other contingent liabilities 2008 2007

Guarantees given on behalf of others 13 4

Repurchase commitments 3,147 1,802

Other commitments 1,443 1,059

Total 4,603 2,865

23.5 Derivative liabilities

Forward exchange agreements 2008 2007

Fair value 1,300 936

Value of underlying asset 18,892 28,717

Interest rate derivatives 2008 2007

Fair value -48 38

Value of underlying asset 2,550 4,500

Derivatives contracts are used solely to hedge against foreign exchange and interest rate risks. 
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Ponsse Plc’s share capital is EUR 7,000,000 di-
vided into 28,000,000 shares. The nominal value 
of each share is EUR 0.25. Under the Articles of 
Association, the minimum and maximum share 
capital is EUR 3,000,000 and EUR 12,000,000 
respectively, within which limits the share capital 
may be increased or decreased without amending 
the Articles of Association. All shares are of the 
same series and each share entitles its holder to 
one vote at shareholders’ meetings and gives an 
equal right to dividends. 

Ponsse Plc has no outstanding convertible notes 
or bonds with warrants. The company operates 
a share-based incentive scheme for key person-
nel.

Treasury shares

The parent company holds 47,900 treasury 
shares. Ponsse Plc’s Board of Directors is au-
thorised, until 30 June 2009, to purchase a max-
imum of 250,000 of the company’s own shares.

Increases in share capital 1994 - 2008

Subscription period Method of increase Nominal value EUR Number of new shares  Increase in share capital 
EUR

New share capital 
EUR

31 Aug 1994 Scrip issue 0.84 1,300,000 1,093,221,52 2,489,181,31

9. - 22 Mar 1995 Scrip issue 0.84 148,000 124,459,07 2,613,640,38

9. - 22 Mar 1995 Rights issue targeted 
at the general public

0.84 392,000 329,648,34 2,943,288,71

16 Mar 2000 Split 1: 2 0.42 - 0,00 2,943,288,71

16 Mar 2000 Scrip issue 0.50 - 556,711,29 3,500,000,00

29 Nov 2004 Scrip issue 0.50 7,000,000 3,500,000,00 7,000,000,00

29 Mar 2006 Split 1: 2 0.25 - 0,00 7,000,000,00

AUTHORISATION TO INCREASE 
SHARE CAPITAL

At the end of the financial year, the company’s 
Board of Directors did not have any valid author-
isation to increase the share capital or to issue 
convertible bonds or option rights.

Share trading volume 1 January - 31 December 2008  

Month      Share 
trading value, 

EUR

Number 
of shares 

traded

Low, 
EUR

High, 
EUR

Weighted 
average, 

EUR

Closing 
price, 
EUR

Market 
capitalisation, 

EUR

Number of 
shares

Relative 
share 

trading 
volume, %

1 3,309,486 243,488 11.71 15.10 13.60 13.40 375,200,000 28,000,000 0.87

2 3,616,457 252,776 13.01 15.20 14.31 14.50 406,000,000 28,000,000 0.90

3 808,657 55,537 14.19 15.00 14.56 15.00 420,000,000 28,000,000 0.20

4 3,537,581 224,184 14.10 16.29 15.79 14.49 405,720,000 28,000,000 0.80

5 1,490,538 109,303 13.10 14.90 13.57 13.14 367,920,000 28,000,000 0.39

6 1,330,809 107,950 11.36 13.15 12.34 11.39 318,920,000 28,000,000 0.39

7 411,755 34,962 11.20 12.35 11.78 11.50 332,000,000 28,000,000 0.12

8 5,216,455 480,329 10.52 11.85 10.76 10.60 296,800,000 28,000,000 1.72

9 1,268,315 130,425 8.23 11.20 9.72 8.50 238,000,000 28,000,000 0.47

10 3,413,033 528,936 4.86 8.60 6.42 5.30 148,400,000 28,000,000 1.89

11 1,993,631 397,469 4.50 6.10 5.01 4.98 139,440,000 28,000,000 1.42

12 668,177 150,213 4.25 5.00 4.45 4.50 126,000,000 28,000,000 0.54

Total 27,064,894 2,715,572 4.25 16.29 11.03 28,000,000 9.70
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Ponsse Plc’s share capital is EUR 7,000,000 di-
vided into 28,000,000 shares. The nominal value 
of each share is EUR 0.25. Under the Articles of 
Association, the minimum and maximum share 
capital is EUR 3,000,000 and EUR 12,000,000 
respectively, within which limits the share capital 
may be increased or decreased without amending 
the Articles of Association. All shares are of the 
same series and each share entitles its holder to 
one vote at shareholders’ meetings and gives an 
equal right to dividends. 

Ponsse Plc has no outstanding convertible notes 
or bonds with warrants. The company operates 
a share-based incentive scheme for key person-
nel.

Treasury shares

The parent company holds 47,900 treasury 
shares. Ponsse Plc’s Board of Directors is au-
thorised, until 30 June 2009, to purchase a max-
imum of 250,000 of the company’s own shares.

Increases in share capital 1994 - 2008

Subscription period Method of increase Nominal value EUR Number of new shares  Increase in share capital 
EUR

New share capital 
EUR

31 Aug 1994 Scrip issue 0.84 1,300,000 1,093,221,52 2,489,181,31

9. - 22 Mar 1995 Scrip issue 0.84 148,000 124,459,07 2,613,640,38

9. - 22 Mar 1995 Rights issue targeted 
at the general public

0.84 392,000 329,648,34 2,943,288,71

16 Mar 2000 Split 1: 2 0.42 - 0,00 2,943,288,71

16 Mar 2000 Scrip issue 0.50 - 556,711,29 3,500,000,00

29 Nov 2004 Scrip issue 0.50 7,000,000 3,500,000,00 7,000,000,00

29 Mar 2006 Split 1: 2 0.25 - 0,00 7,000,000,00

AUTHORISATION TO INCREASE 
SHARE CAPITAL

At the end of the financial year, the company’s 
Board of Directors did not have any valid author-
isation to increase the share capital or to issue 
convertible bonds or option rights.

Share trading volume 1 January - 31 December 2008  

Month      Share 
trading value, 

EUR
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traded

Low, 
EUR

High, 
EUR

Weighted 
average, 

EUR

Closing 
price, 
EUR

Market 
capitalisation, 

EUR

Number of 
shares

Relative 
share 

trading 
volume, %
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Shareholder profile on 31 December 2008    
Shares, pcs Percentage of 

shares and votes 
%

Shares of 
nominee-registered, 

pcs

Nominee-registered 
%

Votes, pcs Percentage 
of votes %

Enterprises 859,100 3.068 150 0.001 859,250 3.069

Financial institutions and insurance 
companies

1,552,189 5.544 762,901 2.725 2,315,090 8.268

Public sector entities 2,204,220 7.872 0 0 2,204,220 7.872

Households 21,991,097 78.540 0 0 21,991,097 78.540

Non-profi t organisations 619,805 2.214 0 0 619,805 2.214

Foreign holding 10,148 0.036 390 0.001 10,538 0.038

Total 27,236,559 97.273 763,441 2.727 28,000,000 100.000
      

Analysis of shareholders on 31 December 2008

  Shares/shareholder Number of shareholders 
pcs

Percentage of shareholders 
%

Shares total pcs Percentage of shares 
and votes %

1-100 1,220 25.560 74,105 0.265

101-500 1,896 39.723 530,640 1.895

501-1,000 745 15.609 588,269 2.101

1,001-5,000 717 15.022 1,596,515 5.702

5,001-10,000 98 2.053 716,963 2.561

10,001-50,000 68 1.425 1,405,421 5.019

50,001-100,000 9 0.189 696,748 2.488

100,001-500,000 15 0.314 3,706,079 13.236

over 500,000 5 0.105 18,685,260 66.733

Total 4,773 100.000 28,000,000 100.000

Shareholders on 31 December 2008    
     

Number of
shares

Percentage of
shares

Percentage of
votes

No. Name

1 Vidgrén Einari 13,348,074 47.67 47.67

2 Vidgrén Juha 2,712,000 9.69 9.69

3 Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company 989,000 3.53 3.53

4 Tapiola Mutual Pension Insurance Company 939,500 3.36 3.36

5 Nordea Bank Finland plc 696,686 2.49 2.49

6 Vidgrén Mikko 395,416 1.41 1.41

7 The Einari Vidgrén Foundation 388,000 1.39 1.39

8 Randelin Mari 362,007 1.29 1.29

9 Aktia Capital mutual fund 345,746 1.23 1.23

10 OP-Suomi Pienyhtiöt mutual fund 295,605 1.06 1.06

11 Vidgrén Jukka 271,760 0.97 0.97

12 Fondita Nordic Small Cap investment fund 260,000 0.93 0.93

13 Thominvest Oy 237,979 0.85 0.85

14 Nordea Foresta mutual fund 225,000 0.80 0.80

15 Vidgrén Jarmo 186,920 0.67 0.67

16 Vidgrén Janne 185,320 0.66 0.66

17 Vidgrén Minna 171,572 0.61 0.61

18 Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company 152,000 0.54 0.54

19 Life Insurance Company Veritas 122,000 0.44 0.44

20 Tiitinen Arto 106,754 0.38 0.38

21 Mäkinen Tommi 100,000 0.36 0.36

22 Nordea Bank Finland plc 100,000 0.36 0.36

23 Danske Suomi growth share mutual fund 98,196 0.35 0.35

24 Heikkinen Jonna 80,000 0.29 0.29

25 Lindbom Curt 73,389 0.26 0.26

26 Nordea Nordic Small Cap investment fund 72,370 0.26 0.26

27 Laakkonen Mikko 60,000 0.21 0.21

28 Tapio Suomi mutual fund 58,000 0.21 0.21

29 Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken 54,793 0.20 0.20

30 Teknoheat Oy 47,970 0.17 0.17

Other shareholders 4,863,943 17.37 17.37

Total 28,000,000 100.00 100.00
    

At year-end 2008, Ponsse Plc had 4,773 shareholders (4,049 on 31 December 2007).       
      
Management holdings  
    
Members of the Board of Directors, President and CEO, companies under their control and their underage children held a total of 16,411,959 Ponsse Plc 
shares on 31 December 2008, corresponding to 58.6 per cent of shares and votes in the company.      
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No material changes have taken place in the company’s financial standing after the end of the financial year. When making its proposal regarding divi-
dends, the Board of Directors has taken into account the impact of distribution of dividends on the Group’s solvency as prescribed in Chapter 13:2, sections 
of the Companies Act.

The parent company’s distributable funds total EUR 56,366,264.25. 

The Board of Directors of Ponsse Plc proposes that the Annual General Meeting authorise the Board of Directors to decide on the distribution of dividends 
amounting to a maximum of EUR 0.10 per share (max  EUR 2,800,000) during 2009.

Vieremä 9 February 2009

 Einari Vidgrén   Juha Vidgrén   

 Maarit Aarni-Sirviö   Nils Hagman

 Ilkka Kylävainio   Seppo Remes  

 Juho Nummela
 President and CEO

To the AGM of Ponsse Plc
We have audited the accounting, the financial statements and the corporate governance of Ponsse Plc for the accounting period of 1 January to 31 December 
2008. The financial statements include the consolidated balance sheet, profit and loss account, cash flow statement, statement of changes in equity with notes 
to the financial statements, as well as the parent company’s balance sheet, profit and loss account, cash flow statement and notes to the financial statements. 

Responsibilities of the Board and the CEO
The Board of Directors and the CEO are responsible for preparing the financial statements and for ensuring that the consolidated financial statements provide cor-
rect and sufficient information in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, and that the report of the Board 
of Directors and the financial statements provide correct and sufficient information in accordance with the rules and regulations governing financial statements 
and reports of the Board of Directors in force in Finland. The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that accounting and asset management is appropri-
ately organised, and the CEO is responsible for ensuring that accounting complies with law and asset management has been organised in a reliable manner.
 
The Auditor’s duties
The auditor must conduct the audit in accordance with good accounting practices observed in Finland and issue, on the basis of the audit, a statement regard-
ing the financial account, consolidated financial accounts and the report of the Board of Directors. Good accounting practices require adherence to principles 
of professional ethics as well as planning and conducting the audit for obtaining reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the report of the Board 
of Directors are free of material misstatement and that the members of the Board and the CEO of the parent company have acted in compliance with the Finn-
ish Companies Act.

Auditing measures should allow ensuring that the figures and other information in the financial statements and report of the Board of Directors are correct. The 
selection of measures depends on the auditor’s discretion and his/her assessment of the risks that the financial statements contain a material misstatement as 
a result of malpractice or error. When planning the required auditing measures, the company’s internal control associated with preparing and presenting the 
financial statements is also assessed.  In addition, the following are also assessed: the general fashion of presenting the financial statements and the report of 
the Board of Directors, the principles of preparing the financial statements and the estimates applied by the company’s management when preparing the finan-
cial statements.

The audit was conducted in accordance with good accounting practices observed in Finland. Our view is that we have carried out a sufficient number of ap-
propriate inspections for our statement.

Statement regarding the consolidated financial statements
As our statement, we submit that the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position and its results of operation and 
cash flows in the manner referred to in the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU.

Statement regarding the financial statements and report of the Board of Directors
As our statement, we submit that the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors give a true and fair view of the Group’s and the parent company’s 
results of operation and financial position in the manner referred to in the rules and regulations governing the preparation of financial statements and reports of 
Board of Directors in force in Finland. There is no conflict between the information shown in the report of the Board of Directors and the financial statements.

Vieremä 16 February 2009

Ernst & Young Oy
Authorised Public Accountants

Eero Huusko
Authorised Public Accountant

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROPOSAL FOR THE DISPOSAL OF PROFIT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Financial statements 2008Financial statements 2008



84 Ponsse Annual Report 2008  Ponsse Annual Report 2008 85

No material changes have taken place in the company’s financial standing after the end of the financial year. When making its proposal regarding divi-
dends, the Board of Directors has taken into account the impact of distribution of dividends on the Group’s solvency as prescribed in Chapter 13:2, sections 
of the Companies Act.

The parent company’s distributable funds total EUR 56,366,264.25. 

The Board of Directors of Ponsse Plc proposes that the Annual General Meeting authorise the Board of Directors to decide on the distribution of dividends 
amounting to a maximum of EUR 0.10 per share (max  EUR 2,800,000) during 2009.

Vieremä 9 February 2009

 Einari Vidgrén   Juha Vidgrén   

 Maarit Aarni-Sirviö   Nils Hagman

 Ilkka Kylävainio   Seppo Remes  

 Juho Nummela
 President and CEO

To the AGM of Ponsse Plc
We have audited the accounting, the financial statements and the corporate governance of Ponsse Plc for the accounting period of 1 January to 31 December 
2008. The financial statements include the consolidated balance sheet, profit and loss account, cash flow statement, statement of changes in equity with notes 
to the financial statements, as well as the parent company’s balance sheet, profit and loss account, cash flow statement and notes to the financial statements. 

Responsibilities of the Board and the CEO
The Board of Directors and the CEO are responsible for preparing the financial statements and for ensuring that the consolidated financial statements provide cor-
rect and sufficient information in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, and that the report of the Board 
of Directors and the financial statements provide correct and sufficient information in accordance with the rules and regulations governing financial statements 
and reports of the Board of Directors in force in Finland. The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that accounting and asset management is appropri-
ately organised, and the CEO is responsible for ensuring that accounting complies with law and asset management has been organised in a reliable manner.
 
The Auditor’s duties
The auditor must conduct the audit in accordance with good accounting practices observed in Finland and issue, on the basis of the audit, a statement regard-
ing the financial account, consolidated financial accounts and the report of the Board of Directors. Good accounting practices require adherence to principles 
of professional ethics as well as planning and conducting the audit for obtaining reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the report of the Board 
of Directors are free of material misstatement and that the members of the Board and the CEO of the parent company have acted in compliance with the Finn-
ish Companies Act.

Auditing measures should allow ensuring that the figures and other information in the financial statements and report of the Board of Directors are correct. The 
selection of measures depends on the auditor’s discretion and his/her assessment of the risks that the financial statements contain a material misstatement as 
a result of malpractice or error. When planning the required auditing measures, the company’s internal control associated with preparing and presenting the 
financial statements is also assessed.  In addition, the following are also assessed: the general fashion of presenting the financial statements and the report of 
the Board of Directors, the principles of preparing the financial statements and the estimates applied by the company’s management when preparing the finan-
cial statements.

The audit was conducted in accordance with good accounting practices observed in Finland. Our view is that we have carried out a sufficient number of ap-
propriate inspections for our statement.

Statement regarding the consolidated financial statements
As our statement, we submit that the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position and its results of operation and 
cash flows in the manner referred to in the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU.

Statement regarding the financial statements and report of the Board of Directors
As our statement, we submit that the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors give a true and fair view of the Group’s and the parent company’s 
results of operation and financial position in the manner referred to in the rules and regulations governing the preparation of financial statements and reports of 
Board of Directors in force in Finland. There is no conflict between the information shown in the report of the Board of Directors and the financial statements.

Vieremä 16 February 2009

Ernst & Young Oy
Authorised Public Accountants

Eero Huusko
Authorised Public Accountant

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROPOSAL FOR THE DISPOSAL OF PROFIT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Financial statements 2008Financial statements 2008



86 Ponsse Annual Report 2008  Ponsse Annual Report 2008 87

1. Group structure and main branch of business

2. Applicable legislation and other provisions

3. General meeting

4. Board of Directors

5. Committees of the Board of Directors

6. President and CEO and the Management Team

7. Insiders and insider management

8. Audits and internal supervision

9. Shareholder agreements

10. Dividend policy

11. Redemption obligation clause

12. Risk management

13. Communications

1. Group structure and main branch 
of business

Ponsse Plc ( “the Company”) is a public limited 
company listed on the Helsinki Stock Exchange 
(NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Oy). The Company’s 
registered office is in Vieremä, Finland.

The Ponsse Group includes the parent compa-
ny Ponsse Plc and its wholly-owned subsidiaries 
Ponsse AB, Sweden; Ponsse AS, Norway; Ponsse 
S.A.S. France; Ponsse UK Ltd., Great Britain, 
Ponsse North America, Inc., the United States 
of America; Ponsse Latin America Ltda, Brazil; 
OOO Ponsse, Russia; Ponsse Asia Pacific Ltd, 
Hong Kong; Ponsse China Ltd, China; Ponsse 
Uruguay S.A., Uruguay and Epec Oy, Seinäjoki, 
Finland. In addition, the Group includes Sunit Oy, 
located in Kajaani, Finland, which is Ponsse Plc’s 
associated company with a holding of 34 per cent. 

The Company and the Group design, manufac-
ture, market and service forest machines, other 
metal products, machine control systems, vehi-
cle PCs, as well as a variety of special systems 
and software. 

2. Applicable legislation and other 
provisions

The Company’s decision-making and adminis-
tration are governed by the Finnish Companies 

Act, other provisions governing listed companies 
and the Company’s Articles of Association. The 
Company’s Board of Directors ratified this code 
of governance on 15 December 2008 and it en-
tered into force on 1 January 2009. The purpose 
of the scheme is ensuring that the Company is 
managed in a professional manner and that ethi-
cally and professionally sound business princi-
ples and practices are utilised. The code of gover-
nance is based on the recommendation “Suomen 
listayhtiöiden hallinnointikoodi” (Code of Gover-
nance for Finnish Listed Companies) published 
by the Finnish Securities Markets Association in 
October 2008, and it replaces the previous code 
of governance applied by the Company.

3. General meeting

The highest decision-making body of the Com-
pany is the general meeting, whose duties and 
procedures are defined in the Finnish Compa-
nies Act and the Company’s Articles of Asso-
ciation. The general meeting is responsible for, 
e.g., making decisions on amending the Arti-
cles of Association, on increasing and decreas-
ing share capital, on granting stock options and 
electing the Board of Directors and auditors. 

The Annual General Meeting shall be held each 
year before the end of June on a date to be speci-
fied by the Board of Directors. At the Annual 
General Meeting, the Company’s financial state-
ments and the consolidated financial statements 
shall be presented; the adoption of the profit and 
loss account, the balance sheet, the consolidat-
ed profit and loss account and the consolidated 
balance sheet, and dividends or actions war-
ranted by the profit or loss shown in the adopted 
profit and loss account shall be decided on; and 
the discharge of liability of the Board of Direc-
tors and the President and CEO shall be decid-
ed on. In addition, the Annual General Meeting 
decides on the number of and the remuneration 
for Board members, the auditor’s fee and the 
compensation for travel expenses. The Annual 
General Meeting also elects the members of the 
Board of Directors and the auditor. 

Shareholders are entitled to submit matters for 
consideration by the general meeting by noti-
fying the Board of Directors thereof in writ-
ing well enough in advance so that the matter 
can be included in the notice of the meeting. 

Proposals on matters involving the election of 
Board members and auditors, and other pro-
posals submitted by the Board to the general 
meeting may be countered at the meeting as 
each point on the agenda is being dealt with. 
Voting takes place in accordance with the vot-
ing procedure adopted by the meeting and all 
shareholders present at the meeting are entitled 
to vote.

A notice of a general meeting and the following in-
formation shall be posted on the Company’s web-
site at the latest 21 days prior to the meeting:

- the total number of shares and votes on the  
 day the notice is issued;
- documents to be presented to the meeting;
- decision proposals of the Board of 
 Directors; and
- any issues included in the agenda of the 
 meeting for which a decision is not proposed.

In order to attend a general meeting, sharehold-
ers must inform the Company of their intention to 
do so by the date given in the notice. The given 
date may be no earlier than five (5) days prior 
to the meeting. 

All shareholders who are entered as such in the 
Company’s shareholder register kept by the Euro-
clear Finland Ltd. (former Finnish Central Securi-
ties Depository) ten (10) days prior to the meeting 
are entitled to attend the general meeting. 

Holders of nominee-registered shares may be 
temporarily entered in the shareholder register 
for the purpose of attending a general meeting. 
Shareholders may exercise their rights at the 
meeting either in person or through a represen-
tative, in addition to which they are entitled to 
avail themselves of counsel at the meeting.

Extraordinary meetings of shareholders shall 
be convened whenever the Board deems it nec-
essary. Likewise, an extraordinary meeting of 
shareholders shall be convened for the purpose 
of dealing with a matter specified by them if the 
auditor or shareholders holding at least one-
tenth of all shares issued so request in writing.

The minutes of the general meeting, including 
results of votes taken and all appendices that 
are included in the meeting’s conclusion shall be 
made available on the Company’s website within 
two weeks of the meeting.

The Company aims at all the Board members and 
the President and CEO attending each general 
meeting. A person who is a Board member nomi-
nee for the first time shall attend the general meet-
ing in which his or her nomination is considered, 
unless there is a weighty reason not to do so.

The Company auditor shall attend all general 
meetings. 

4. Board of Directors

A Board of Directors consisting of no fewer than 
five and no more than eight members is respon-
sible for the proper organisation of the Compa-
ny’s administration and operations. The Annual 
General Meeting elects Board members for a 
term of office expiring at the end of the Annual 
General Meeting following their election. The 
Board elects a Chairman and a Deputy Chairman 
from among themselves. In 2008 the Company’s 
Board of Directors consisted of six members. 

Persons elected to the Board of Directors shall have 
the necessary competence for their duties. Members 
shall be elected to represent a diverse range of ex-
pertise as well as the viewpoint of the Company’s 
owners. Under the Articles of Association, no upper 
age limit applies to Board members.

The majority of Board members shall be inde-
pendent of the Company, in addition to which 
no fewer than two of the Board members be-
longing to the above-mentioned majority shall 
be independent of any of the Company’s major 
shareholders. Board members shall submit suffi-
cient information to assess their competence and 
independence, and report any changes in such 
information to the Board of Directors. Notice of 
independence is given in the Annual Report and 
on the Company’s website.

The Board of Directors considers Board mem-
bers Maarit Aarni-Sirviö, Nils Hagman, Ilkka 
Kylävainio and Seppo Remes to be independent 
of the Company and its major shareholders.
 
The Board members are presented in the An-
nual Report and on the Company’s website at 
www.ponsse.com.

The Annual General Meeting held on 29 April 2008 
decided that the annual remuneration payable to the 

Chairman of the Board of Directors should be EUR 
43,000 and to other members of the Board of Direc-
tors EUR 32,000. No remuneration is paid to mem-
bers in the employment of the Company, with the 
exception of the Chairman of the Board. In 2008 the 
Board held eleven meetings, three of which were 
telephone meetings. The average attendance rate 
of Board members was 95,0 per cent.

If shareholders controlling more than 10 per cent 
of the Company’s voting rights should notify the 
Company’s Board of Directors of their proposal 
on the number and identity of Board members 
and the identity of the auditor, which matters 
shall be decided on at the Annual General Meet-
ing, this information shall be noted in the no-
tice of the meeting. Any proposals on candidates 
made after the notice of the meeting has been 
published shall be made public separately. 

In addition to the duties specified in the Companies 
Act and the Articles of Association, the Board is re-
sponsible for the Company’s operations, result and 
development, confirms the long-term strategy and 
the Group’s financial risk management policy, ap-
proves the budget and decides on corporate acqui-
sitions and property deals, strategically important 
business expansions, equity-based investments, the 
development of investments and significant invest-
ments. The Board appoints the Company’s Presi-
dent and CEO and confirms the appointments of 
other Management Team members, decides on the 
grounds for remuneration payable to highest man-
agement and evaluates the activities of manage-
ment on an annual basis. 

The Board ratifies its own agenda.
 
The President and CEO or his/her nominee, who 
shall be a Company executive, shall present mat-
ters at meetings of the Board of Directors.

The Board’s activities and method of operating 
are assessed once a year. The assessment may 
take place as an internal self-assessment or by 
an external assessor.

5. Committees of the Board 
of Directors

Duties and responsibilities have not been spe-
cifically divided among members and the Chair-
man of the Board of Directors, nor has the Board 

appointed any specific working groups or com-
mittees.

 6. President and CEO and 
the Management Team

The President and CEO is appointed by the 
Board of Directors. The President and CEO 
manages the Company’s day-to-day business 
affairs in accordance with the guidelines and 
instructions issued by the Board of Directors. 
His duties include, e.g., operational manage-
ment, informing the Board, presenting matters 
over which the Board has the power of decision, 
implementing the decisions of the Board and 
ensuring the legality of the business operations. 
The President and CEO is assisted by a Man-
agement Team consisting of the President and 
CEO as Chairman and the executives appoint-
ed to the Team by the Board of Directors. The 
Management Team meets approximately once a 
month and also convenes whenever necessary 
to address, e.g., business plans for the following 
year and strategy in the longer term. 

Each member of the Management Team is re-
sponsible for a distinct sphere of operations 
based on focal Company functions. Manage-
ment Team members report to the President 
and CEO. 

From 1 January 2008 to 31 May 2008, the Com-
pany’s President and CEO was Arto Tiitinen. The 
salary and other benefits paid to him totalled EUR 
137,000 and bonuses totalled EUR 117,742, i.e. 
he was paid a total of EUR 254,742. The Com-
pany’s President and CEO as of 1 June 2008 is 
Juho Nummela. The salary and other benefits paid 
to him from 1 June 2008 to 31 December 2008 to-
talled EUR 120,955. The President and CEO’s re-
tirement age is 65 and pension is set in accordance 
with the legislation in force.

Under the agreement concluded between the Com-
pany and its President and CEO, both parties may 
terminate the agreement with six (6) months’ no-
tice. Should the Company terminate the agreement, 
it shall pay the President and CEO a sum equal to 
12 months’ salary in addition to salary and other 
benefits accruing during the period of notice. 

The following persons were members of the 
Group Management Team: Purchasing and Lo-
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1. Group structure and main branch 
of business

Ponsse Plc ( “the Company”) is a public limited 
company listed on the Helsinki Stock Exchange 
(NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Oy). The Company’s 
registered office is in Vieremä, Finland.

The Ponsse Group includes the parent compa-
ny Ponsse Plc and its wholly-owned subsidiaries 
Ponsse AB, Sweden; Ponsse AS, Norway; Ponsse 
S.A.S. France; Ponsse UK Ltd., Great Britain, 
Ponsse North America, Inc., the United States 
of America; Ponsse Latin America Ltda, Brazil; 
OOO Ponsse, Russia; Ponsse Asia Pacific Ltd, 
Hong Kong; Ponsse China Ltd, China; Ponsse 
Uruguay S.A., Uruguay and Epec Oy, Seinäjoki, 
Finland. In addition, the Group includes Sunit Oy, 
located in Kajaani, Finland, which is Ponsse Plc’s 
associated company with a holding of 34 per cent. 

The Company and the Group design, manufac-
ture, market and service forest machines, other 
metal products, machine control systems, vehi-
cle PCs, as well as a variety of special systems 
and software. 

2. Applicable legislation and other 
provisions

The Company’s decision-making and adminis-
tration are governed by the Finnish Companies 

Act, other provisions governing listed companies 
and the Company’s Articles of Association. The 
Company’s Board of Directors ratified this code 
of governance on 15 December 2008 and it en-
tered into force on 1 January 2009. The purpose 
of the scheme is ensuring that the Company is 
managed in a professional manner and that ethi-
cally and professionally sound business princi-
ples and practices are utilised. The code of gover-
nance is based on the recommendation “Suomen 
listayhtiöiden hallinnointikoodi” (Code of Gover-
nance for Finnish Listed Companies) published 
by the Finnish Securities Markets Association in 
October 2008, and it replaces the previous code 
of governance applied by the Company.

3. General meeting

The highest decision-making body of the Com-
pany is the general meeting, whose duties and 
procedures are defined in the Finnish Compa-
nies Act and the Company’s Articles of Asso-
ciation. The general meeting is responsible for, 
e.g., making decisions on amending the Arti-
cles of Association, on increasing and decreas-
ing share capital, on granting stock options and 
electing the Board of Directors and auditors. 

The Annual General Meeting shall be held each 
year before the end of June on a date to be speci-
fied by the Board of Directors. At the Annual 
General Meeting, the Company’s financial state-
ments and the consolidated financial statements 
shall be presented; the adoption of the profit and 
loss account, the balance sheet, the consolidat-
ed profit and loss account and the consolidated 
balance sheet, and dividends or actions war-
ranted by the profit or loss shown in the adopted 
profit and loss account shall be decided on; and 
the discharge of liability of the Board of Direc-
tors and the President and CEO shall be decid-
ed on. In addition, the Annual General Meeting 
decides on the number of and the remuneration 
for Board members, the auditor’s fee and the 
compensation for travel expenses. The Annual 
General Meeting also elects the members of the 
Board of Directors and the auditor. 

Shareholders are entitled to submit matters for 
consideration by the general meeting by noti-
fying the Board of Directors thereof in writ-
ing well enough in advance so that the matter 
can be included in the notice of the meeting. 

Proposals on matters involving the election of 
Board members and auditors, and other pro-
posals submitted by the Board to the general 
meeting may be countered at the meeting as 
each point on the agenda is being dealt with. 
Voting takes place in accordance with the vot-
ing procedure adopted by the meeting and all 
shareholders present at the meeting are entitled 
to vote.

A notice of a general meeting and the following in-
formation shall be posted on the Company’s web-
site at the latest 21 days prior to the meeting:

- the total number of shares and votes on the  
 day the notice is issued;
- documents to be presented to the meeting;
- decision proposals of the Board of 
 Directors; and
- any issues included in the agenda of the 
 meeting for which a decision is not proposed.

In order to attend a general meeting, sharehold-
ers must inform the Company of their intention to 
do so by the date given in the notice. The given 
date may be no earlier than five (5) days prior 
to the meeting. 

All shareholders who are entered as such in the 
Company’s shareholder register kept by the Euro-
clear Finland Ltd. (former Finnish Central Securi-
ties Depository) ten (10) days prior to the meeting 
are entitled to attend the general meeting. 

Holders of nominee-registered shares may be 
temporarily entered in the shareholder register 
for the purpose of attending a general meeting. 
Shareholders may exercise their rights at the 
meeting either in person or through a represen-
tative, in addition to which they are entitled to 
avail themselves of counsel at the meeting.

Extraordinary meetings of shareholders shall 
be convened whenever the Board deems it nec-
essary. Likewise, an extraordinary meeting of 
shareholders shall be convened for the purpose 
of dealing with a matter specified by them if the 
auditor or shareholders holding at least one-
tenth of all shares issued so request in writing.

The minutes of the general meeting, including 
results of votes taken and all appendices that 
are included in the meeting’s conclusion shall be 
made available on the Company’s website within 
two weeks of the meeting.

The Company aims at all the Board members and 
the President and CEO attending each general 
meeting. A person who is a Board member nomi-
nee for the first time shall attend the general meet-
ing in which his or her nomination is considered, 
unless there is a weighty reason not to do so.

The Company auditor shall attend all general 
meetings. 

4. Board of Directors

A Board of Directors consisting of no fewer than 
five and no more than eight members is respon-
sible for the proper organisation of the Compa-
ny’s administration and operations. The Annual 
General Meeting elects Board members for a 
term of office expiring at the end of the Annual 
General Meeting following their election. The 
Board elects a Chairman and a Deputy Chairman 
from among themselves. In 2008 the Company’s 
Board of Directors consisted of six members. 

Persons elected to the Board of Directors shall have 
the necessary competence for their duties. Members 
shall be elected to represent a diverse range of ex-
pertise as well as the viewpoint of the Company’s 
owners. Under the Articles of Association, no upper 
age limit applies to Board members.

The majority of Board members shall be inde-
pendent of the Company, in addition to which 
no fewer than two of the Board members be-
longing to the above-mentioned majority shall 
be independent of any of the Company’s major 
shareholders. Board members shall submit suffi-
cient information to assess their competence and 
independence, and report any changes in such 
information to the Board of Directors. Notice of 
independence is given in the Annual Report and 
on the Company’s website.

The Board of Directors considers Board mem-
bers Maarit Aarni-Sirviö, Nils Hagman, Ilkka 
Kylävainio and Seppo Remes to be independent 
of the Company and its major shareholders.
 
The Board members are presented in the An-
nual Report and on the Company’s website at 
www.ponsse.com.

The Annual General Meeting held on 29 April 2008 
decided that the annual remuneration payable to the 

Chairman of the Board of Directors should be EUR 
43,000 and to other members of the Board of Direc-
tors EUR 32,000. No remuneration is paid to mem-
bers in the employment of the Company, with the 
exception of the Chairman of the Board. In 2008 the 
Board held eleven meetings, three of which were 
telephone meetings. The average attendance rate 
of Board members was 95,0 per cent.

If shareholders controlling more than 10 per cent 
of the Company’s voting rights should notify the 
Company’s Board of Directors of their proposal 
on the number and identity of Board members 
and the identity of the auditor, which matters 
shall be decided on at the Annual General Meet-
ing, this information shall be noted in the no-
tice of the meeting. Any proposals on candidates 
made after the notice of the meeting has been 
published shall be made public separately. 

In addition to the duties specified in the Companies 
Act and the Articles of Association, the Board is re-
sponsible for the Company’s operations, result and 
development, confirms the long-term strategy and 
the Group’s financial risk management policy, ap-
proves the budget and decides on corporate acqui-
sitions and property deals, strategically important 
business expansions, equity-based investments, the 
development of investments and significant invest-
ments. The Board appoints the Company’s Presi-
dent and CEO and confirms the appointments of 
other Management Team members, decides on the 
grounds for remuneration payable to highest man-
agement and evaluates the activities of manage-
ment on an annual basis. 

The Board ratifies its own agenda.
 
The President and CEO or his/her nominee, who 
shall be a Company executive, shall present mat-
ters at meetings of the Board of Directors.

The Board’s activities and method of operating 
are assessed once a year. The assessment may 
take place as an internal self-assessment or by 
an external assessor.

5. Committees of the Board 
of Directors

Duties and responsibilities have not been spe-
cifically divided among members and the Chair-
man of the Board of Directors, nor has the Board 

appointed any specific working groups or com-
mittees.

 6. President and CEO and 
the Management Team

The President and CEO is appointed by the 
Board of Directors. The President and CEO 
manages the Company’s day-to-day business 
affairs in accordance with the guidelines and 
instructions issued by the Board of Directors. 
His duties include, e.g., operational manage-
ment, informing the Board, presenting matters 
over which the Board has the power of decision, 
implementing the decisions of the Board and 
ensuring the legality of the business operations. 
The President and CEO is assisted by a Man-
agement Team consisting of the President and 
CEO as Chairman and the executives appoint-
ed to the Team by the Board of Directors. The 
Management Team meets approximately once a 
month and also convenes whenever necessary 
to address, e.g., business plans for the following 
year and strategy in the longer term. 

Each member of the Management Team is re-
sponsible for a distinct sphere of operations 
based on focal Company functions. Manage-
ment Team members report to the President 
and CEO. 

From 1 January 2008 to 31 May 2008, the Com-
pany’s President and CEO was Arto Tiitinen. The 
salary and other benefits paid to him totalled EUR 
137,000 and bonuses totalled EUR 117,742, i.e. 
he was paid a total of EUR 254,742. The Com-
pany’s President and CEO as of 1 June 2008 is 
Juho Nummela. The salary and other benefits paid 
to him from 1 June 2008 to 31 December 2008 to-
talled EUR 120,955. The President and CEO’s re-
tirement age is 65 and pension is set in accordance 
with the legislation in force.

Under the agreement concluded between the Com-
pany and its President and CEO, both parties may 
terminate the agreement with six (6) months’ no-
tice. Should the Company terminate the agreement, 
it shall pay the President and CEO a sum equal to 
12 months’ salary in addition to salary and other 
benefits accruing during the period of notice. 

The following persons were members of the 
Group Management Team: Purchasing and Lo-
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gistics Director Pasi Arajärvi, Factory Director 
Juha Haverinen (from 1 June 2008), Regional Di-
rector for South and Central Europe and President 
and CEO of Ponssé S.A.S. Tapio Ingervo (until 1 
June 2008), Director for Strategy and Customer 
Cooperation Hannu Kivelä (from 1 June 2008 to 
13 January 2009), Communications Director Jari 
Mononen (until 17 February 2009), Service Di-
rector Juhani Mäkynen, Factory Director (until 1 
June 2008), President & CEO (from 1 June 2008) 
Juho Nummela, HR Director Paula Oksman, CFO 
Mikko Paananen, Technology and R&D Director 
Seppo Taatila (until 18 December 2008), Technol-
ogy and R&D Director Juha Inberg (from 1 Janu-
ary 2009), President & CEO Arto Tiitinen (until 
1 June 2008), and Sales and Marketing Director 
Jarmo Vidgrén. The President and CEO acts as the 
Chairman of the Management Team. The company 
management has regular directors’ and officers’ li-
ability insurance.

The salaries and other benefits paid to the other 
Company  Board members excluding the Presi-
dent and CEO in 2008 totalled EUR 855,170  
and bonuses were EUR 275,963, i.e. a total of 
EUR 1,131,133.

The Group’s Management Team members are 
presented in the Annual Report and on the 
Company’s website at www.ponsse.com.

The Board of Directors of Ponsse Plc has ap-
proved a new share-based incentive plan for 
Ponsse Group key personnel. The earning pe-
riod of the plan commenced on 1 January 2008 
and will end on 31 December 2010. The Board 
of Directors will decide on the commencement of 
a new earning period. The potential reward from 
the plan for the earning period 2008—2010 will 
be based on the dividend adjusted price of the 
Company’s share, on the Group’s cash flow and 
on the turnover of after-sale services. 

The potential reward from the earning period 
2008—2010 will be paid partly in the Com-
pany’s shares and partly in cash in 2011. The 
proportion to be paid in cash will cover taxes 
and tax-related costs arising from the reward. It 
is prohibited to transfer the shares within a two 
year restriction period. If a key person’s employ-
ment or service ends during the restriction pe-
riod, he/she must gratuitously return the shares 
paid as reward to the Company. 

The plan is directed at approximately 20 people. 
The rewards to be paid on the basis of the plan 
in 2008–2010 will correspond to the value of a 
maximum total of 120,000 Ponsse Plc shares (al-
so including the proportion to be paid in cash).

As necessary, the Management Team monitors 
and revises the Company’s internal principles 
and procedures,  which involve, e.g., reporting, 
financial administration, investments, risk man-
agement, insurance policies, information systems, 
general procurement, industrial property rights, 
management of contractual risks, human resourc-
es administration, quality management issues, 
environmental issues, occupational safety and 
health, insider guidelines and communications.

7. Insiders and insider management

Ponsse Group has adopted insider guidelines 
that comply with the insider regulations ratified 
by the OMX Nordic Exchange Helsinki.
 
Permanent insiders may not trade in the Com-
pany’s shares during a period of fourteen (14) 
days prior to the publication of the Company’s 
Annual Report or interim report. The prohibition 
ends when an interim report or a stock exchange 
release is published.

Pursuant to the Securities Markets Act, Board 
members, the President and CEO, and his/her 
deputy, as well as the auditors, are considered 
permanent insiders due to their position in the 
Company. In addition to these, pursuant to a de-
cision taken by the Company, the members of 
the Management Team and specifically named 
persons, who, by virtue of their duties, regularly 
deal with non-public information having an im-
pact on the value of the Company’s share are also 
considered permanent insiders. 

Even though a person is not an insider, he/she 
may be temporarily entered in a project-specific 
insider register that the Company may employ in 
extensive or otherwise significant projects. As a 
result, the insider rule also applies to persons oth-
er than the permanent insiders of the Company. 

An insider may not issue any purchase, sales 
or other assignments regarding the Company’s 
shares or directly or indirectly offer advice per-
taining to insider information to third parties in 

such transactions. The information may not be 
disclosed to third parties, except as part of the 
regular course of the insider’s work.

In addition to a public insider register, the Com-
pany upholds a Company-specific insider register 
including persons who, as a result of their position 
or tasks, regularly have access to insider informa-
tion or who the Company has defined as Compa-
ny-specific insiders. The information included in 
the Company-specific register is not public.

The shareholding of insiders is available for in-
spection at the insider register maintained by the 
Euroclear Finland Ltd. Information on the share-
holding of permanent insiders may be viewed 
on the Company’s website and the office of the 
Euroclear Finland Ltd. at Urho Kekkosen katu 
5 C, Helsinki, Finland. Insiders are obliged to 
inform the person in charge of managing insider 
matters within the Company of any changes in 
the information entered in the insider register 
without delay. 

8. Audits and internal supervision

The primary purpose of statutory audits is to 
verify that the financial statements give a true 
and fair view of the Group’s result and financial 
position for the financial period. Ponsse Plc’s 
financial period is the calendar year.

The auditor is responsible for auditing the Com-
pany’s accounts and financial statement to verify 
that they are free of material misstatement. The 
auditor shall also submit a report on the audit 
performed to the general meeting. In addition, 
under Finnish law, the auditor also audits the 
Company’s corporate governance for compliance 
with relevant legislation. Normally, the auditor 
reports to the Board of Directors once a year.

The Company has one auditor, which shall be a 
public accounting firm authorised by the Central 
Chamber of Commerce. The auditor is elected by 
the Annual General Meeting for a term of office 
that expires at the end of the Annual General 
Meeting following election. 

The auditing procedures of the foreign subsidiar-
ies within the Ponsse Group have been organised 
in the manner required by each country’s legis-
lation and other regulations. In 2008, Ernst & 

Young Oy acted as the Company’s auditor, with 
Eero Huusko, Authorised Public Accountant, as 
the principal auditor.

In 2008, the Group’s auditing costs amounted 
to EUR 178,000. 

Internal supervision
The methods of internal supervision include in-
ternal guidelines, reporting and various tech-
nical systems related to activities. An internal 
auditor is responsible for the company’s internal 
supervision in practice, and he/she reports to the 
Board of Directors.

9. Shareholder agreements

The Company is not aware of its shareholders 
having entered into shareholder agreements.

10. Dividend policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy 
whereby dividends are paid in accordance with 
the Company’s long-term performance and capi-
tal requirements.
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11. Redemption obligation clause

Under Article 14 of the Company’s Articles of 
Association, a shareholder who, either alone or 
jointly with other shareholders, acquires a hold-
ing that is equal to or exceeds either 33 1/3 per 
cent or 50 per cent of all the Company’s shares or 
the votes conferred by the shares, is, on request, 
obliged to redeem the shares of other sharehold-
ers and other securities entitling thereto under 
the Companies Act, subject to the more detailed 
terms and conditions provided in Article 11 of 
the Articles of Association.

12. Risk management

The Group’s risk management policy seeks to 
maintain and further develop a practical and 
comprehensive system for the management 
and reporting of risks. This entails systemat-
ic risk assessment for each function and unit, 
heightening risk management awareness and 
quality, disseminating information on best 
practices and supporting risk management 
projects involving more than one Company 
function.

13. Communications

The President and CEO is responsible for the 
Company’s external communications. Managed 
by the President and CEO, the Company’s Com-
munications Department and Financial Admin-
istration participate in taking care of investor 
and media relations, stock exchange communi-
cations and providing investor information to be 
published on the Company’s website.

In connection with its financial statements, 
the Company publishes a separate report on 
its administrative system and corporate gov-
ernance. 

A report on the Company’s code of gover-
nance is available on the Company’s web-
site at www.ponsse.com under Investor In-
formation.
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ability insurance.

The salaries and other benefits paid to the other 
Company  Board members excluding the Presi-
dent and CEO in 2008 totalled EUR 855,170  
and bonuses were EUR 275,963, i.e. a total of 
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Ponsse Group key personnel. The earning pe-
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pany’s shares during a period of fourteen (14) 
days prior to the publication of the Company’s 
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ends when an interim report or a stock exchange 
release is published.

Pursuant to the Securities Markets Act, Board 
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deputy, as well as the auditors, are considered 
permanent insiders due to their position in the 
Company. In addition to these, pursuant to a de-
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persons, who, by virtue of their duties, regularly 
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including persons who, as a result of their position 
or tasks, regularly have access to insider informa-
tion or who the Company has defined as Compa-
ny-specific insiders. The information included in 
the Company-specific register is not public.

The shareholding of insiders is available for in-
spection at the insider register maintained by the 
Euroclear Finland Ltd. Information on the share-
holding of permanent insiders may be viewed 
on the Company’s website and the office of the 
Euroclear Finland Ltd. at Urho Kekkosen katu 
5 C, Helsinki, Finland. Insiders are obliged to 
inform the person in charge of managing insider 
matters within the Company of any changes in 
the information entered in the insider register 
without delay. 

8. Audits and internal supervision

The primary purpose of statutory audits is to 
verify that the financial statements give a true 
and fair view of the Group’s result and financial 
position for the financial period. Ponsse Plc’s 
financial period is the calendar year.

The auditor is responsible for auditing the Com-
pany’s accounts and financial statement to verify 
that they are free of material misstatement. The 
auditor shall also submit a report on the audit 
performed to the general meeting. In addition, 
under Finnish law, the auditor also audits the 
Company’s corporate governance for compliance 
with relevant legislation. Normally, the auditor 
reports to the Board of Directors once a year.

The Company has one auditor, which shall be a 
public accounting firm authorised by the Central 
Chamber of Commerce. The auditor is elected by 
the Annual General Meeting for a term of office 
that expires at the end of the Annual General 
Meeting following election. 

The auditing procedures of the foreign subsidiar-
ies within the Ponsse Group have been organised 
in the manner required by each country’s legis-
lation and other regulations. In 2008, Ernst & 

Young Oy acted as the Company’s auditor, with 
Eero Huusko, Authorised Public Accountant, as 
the principal auditor.

In 2008, the Group’s auditing costs amounted 
to EUR 178,000. 

Internal supervision
The methods of internal supervision include in-
ternal guidelines, reporting and various tech-
nical systems related to activities. An internal 
auditor is responsible for the company’s internal 
supervision in practice, and he/she reports to the 
Board of Directors.

9. Shareholder agreements

The Company is not aware of its shareholders 
having entered into shareholder agreements.

10. Dividend policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy 
whereby dividends are paid in accordance with 
the Company’s long-term performance and capi-
tal requirements.

Financial statements 2008Financial statements 2008

11. Redemption obligation clause

Under Article 14 of the Company’s Articles of 
Association, a shareholder who, either alone or 
jointly with other shareholders, acquires a hold-
ing that is equal to or exceeds either 33 1/3 per 
cent or 50 per cent of all the Company’s shares or 
the votes conferred by the shares, is, on request, 
obliged to redeem the shares of other sharehold-
ers and other securities entitling thereto under 
the Companies Act, subject to the more detailed 
terms and conditions provided in Article 11 of 
the Articles of Association.

12. Risk management

The Group’s risk management policy seeks to 
maintain and further develop a practical and 
comprehensive system for the management 
and reporting of risks. This entails systemat-
ic risk assessment for each function and unit, 
heightening risk management awareness and 
quality, disseminating information on best 
practices and supporting risk management 
projects involving more than one Company 
function.

13. Communications

The President and CEO is responsible for the 
Company’s external communications. Managed 
by the President and CEO, the Company’s Com-
munications Department and Financial Admin-
istration participate in taking care of investor 
and media relations, stock exchange communi-
cations and providing investor information to be 
published on the Company’s website.

In connection with its financial statements, 
the Company publishes a separate report on 
its administrative system and corporate gov-
ernance. 

A report on the Company’s code of gover-
nance is available on the Company’s web-
site at www.ponsse.com under Investor In-
formation.
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OUR GLOBAL NETWORK

CENTRAL EUROPE AND SOUTH EUROPE

ASIA-PACIFIC AND AFRICA

AN Maskinteknik AB  
Företagsvägen 10
95333 Haparanda
SWEDEN
Tel. +46 922 10390
Fax +46 922 10591

Konekesko Eesti AS 
Põrguvälja tee 3A
Pildiküla
75301 Harjumaa
ESTONIA
Tel. +372 6059 100
Fax +372 6059 101
www.konekesko.com/ee

Konekesko Latvija
Tiraines iela 15 
LV-1058
Riga
LATVIA
Tel. +371 6706 4300
Fax +371 6706 4301
www.konekesko.com/lv

UAB Konekesko Lietuva  
Savanoriu ave. 191
Vilnius
LT-02300
LITHUANIA
Tel. +370 5 247 7400
Fax +370 5 247 7420 
www.konekesko.com/lt

Ponsse AB  
Västsura
Lisjövägen 40
735 91 Surahammar
SWEDEN
Tel. +46 220 399 00
Fax +46 220 399 01

Ponsse Plc
Ponssentie 22
74200 Vieremä
FINLAND
Tel. +358 20 768 800
Fax +358 20 768 8690
www.ponsse.com

Epec Oy     
Tiedekatu 6
60100 Seinäjoki
FINLAND
Tel. +358 20 760 8111
Fax +358 20 760 8110

Ponsse AS 
Klettavegen 7
2211 Kongsvinger
NORWAY
Tel. +47 628 888 70
Fax +47 628 888 78

Ponsse Plc
Ponssentie 22
74200 Vieremä
FINLAND
Tel. +358 20 768 800
Fax +358 20 768 8690

Auto Sueco (Coimbra) Lda
ASC Industria EN 10
Edifício Volvo Apartado 2094
2696-801 S. João Da Talha
PORTUGAL
Tel. +351 21 9946500
Fax +351 21 9946553

Gebrüder Konrad GmbH
Gewerbepark 3
A-8564 Krottendorf
AUSTRIA
Tel. +43 03143 20 517
Fax +43 03143 20 517-12
www.konrad-forst.com

Krenek Forest Service s.r.o.
Nový Nemojov 122
CZ-54461 Nemojov
CZECH REPUBLIC
Tel. +420 499 429 677
Fax +420 499 429 676
www.krenekfs.cz

PML Poland
Profesjonalne Maszyny Lesne
Sprzedaz i Serwis Sp. z o.o.
ul. Bitwy Warszawskiej 1920r. 
nr 3
00-973 Warszawa
POLAND
Tel. +48 22 572 98 50
Fax +48 22 823 96 75
www.proml.pl

Ponssé S.A.S.
ZAC Croix Saint Nicolas
14 Rue de Lorraine - BP 39
F-54840 Gondreville
FRANCE
Tel. +33 (0) 3 83 65 12 00
Fax +33 (0) 3 83 65 12 01

Ponsse UK Ltd
Unit 3
Broomhouses 1 Industrial Estate
Lockerbie, DG11 2RZ
UNITED KINGDOM
Tel. +44 (0) 1576 203 000
Fax +44 (0) 1576 202 202

Robinson Distribution Ltd
Portnahinch 
Portarlington
CO. Laois
IRELAND
Tel. +353 5786 24832
Fax +353 5786 79621

Toimil Garcia, S.L. 
36512 Prado Lalin
Pontevedra
SPAIN
Tel. +34 986 794044
Fax. +34 986 794047
www.toimilgruas.com

Wahlers Forsttechnik GmbH
Landwehrstr.4
97215 Uffenheim
GERMANY
Tel. +49 09848 97 999 0
Fax +49 09848 97999 19
www.wahlers-forsttechnik.de

A.L.P.A. Equipment Ltd.  
258 Drapeau St
P.O. BOX 2532
Balmoral, N.B.
E8E 2W7
CANADA
Tel. +1 506 826 2717
Fax +1 506 826 2753
www.alpaequipment.com

Chadwick-BaRoss, Inc.
160 Warren Avenue
Westbrook, ME 04092
USA
Tel. +1 (800) 262-5714
Fax +1 (207) 856-2995
www.chadwick-baross.com

Hydromec Inc.  
2921, boul. Wallberg
Dolbeau-Mistassini
Quebec, G8L 1L6
CANADA
Tel. +1 418 276-5831
Fax +1 418 276-8166
www.hydromec.ca

Ponsse North America, Inc. 
4400 International Lane
Rhinelander, WI 54501
USA
Tel. +1 715 369 4833
Fax +1 715 369 4838

ReadyQuip Sales and Service 
Ltd. 
P.O. Box 2140, Highway 101 W
Timmins, Ontario
CANADA
Tel. +1 705 268 7600
Fax +1 705 268 7707
www.readyquip.com

Woodland Equipment Inc. 
2015 W. Trans Canada Hwy.
Kamloops, BC V1S 1A7
CANADA
Tel. +1 250 372 2855
Fax +1 250 374 2844
www.woodlandequip.com

NORTH AMERICA

Ponsse Latin America Ltda
R. Joaquim Nabuco, 115 – Vila 
Nancy
CEP 08735-120
Mogi das Cruzes
Sao Paulo
BRAZIL
Tel. +55 11 4795-4699
Fax +55 11 4795-4605

Ponsse Uruguay S.A.
Calle Montecaseros, 785
C.P. 60.000
Paysandú
URUGUAY
Tel. +598 72 43 800

LATIN AMERICA

RUSSIA AND BELARUS

Babcock Equipment
19 Taljaard Road, Bartlett,
Boksburg 1459
Private Bag X1, East Rand,
1462
SOUTH AFRICA
Tel. +27 (0) 11 230 7300
Fax +27 (0) 11 230 7777
www.babcock.co.za

Ponsse China Ltd
3F Suifeng Building, 
85 Liandong Road
536100, Hepu, Beihai
Guangxi
CHINA
Tel. +86-779 720 0432
Fax +86-779 720 0432

Shingu Shoko, Ltd
2-1-1 Inaho, 
Otaru
JAPAN
Tel. +81 (0134) 24-1315
Fax +81 (0134) 22-6862
www.shingu-shoko.co.jp

www.ponsse.com/network

OOO Dormashimport
129, Voronezhskaya str.
680042, Khabarovsk
RUSSIA
Tel. +7 (4212) 62 90 42
Fax +7 (4212) 764 184
www.dmi-dv.ru

OOO Lespromservis
167610 Russia, Republic of Komi
Syktyvkar, Str. Pervomaiskaja 
149
RUSSIA
Tel. +7 8212 28 84 80
Fax +7 8212 28 84 16

OOO Remtechnica
662549 Lesosibirsk
Michurina 6
RUSSIA
Tel. +7 (391) 2-97-55-93
Tel./fax +7 (39145) 4-19-75      

OOO West Kom
185002, Karelia Republik, 
Petrozavodsk,Arkhipova st. 3
RUSSIA
Tel. +7 (8142) 72-49-27
www.west-kom.onego.ru

CHUP Gidroscan
220073 Belarus Republic
Minsk, Olshevskogo st. 10
office 327
BELARUS
Tel/fax: +375 17 2043045

OOO Ponsse
Pl. Konstitutsii 2, office 406
196247 St. Petersburg
RUSSIA
Tel. +7 812 718 6547
Fax +7 812 331 9412

Zeppelin Russland OOO
Sofiyskaya 6, 4th floor
192236 St. Petersburg
RUSSIA
Tel. +7 (812) 335 11 10
Fax +7 (812) 268 84 82
www.zeppelin.ru
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